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Acknowledgement  
of traditional owners
The North West Hospital and Health Service respectfully acknowledges the 
traditional owners and custodians both past and present of the land, sea and 
waterways which we service and declare the North West Hospital and Health 
Service’s commitment to reducing inequalities between Indigenous and 
non-Indigenous health outcomes in line with the National Indigenous Reform 
Agreement (Closing the Gap).

The following staff were recognised for their achievements during our  
NAIDOC day celebrations held on 8 July 2014:

• Elijah Douglas – Aboriginal Leadership and Encouragement Award 

• Ron Page – Elder Award 

• Doris Craigie – Health Worker Achievement Award 

• Helen Burns – Health Worker Achievement Award 

• Kayleen Bax – Nursing Achievement Award 

• Charlotte Mullins – Nursing Achievement Award 

• Peter Lehmann – Spirit of Reconciliation Award 

• Cita Maddicks – Spirit of Reconciliation Award 

• Hearing Health (Michael Parker & Helen Burns)  
– Service of the Year Award
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Fast facts 2014–2015

The North West Hospital and Health Service is responsible for the delivery of public hospital and other 
health services to the communities of North West Queensland. We serve a population of around 33,000 
people, distributed across 300,000 square kilometres, providing services across one regional hospital, two 
multipurpose health services, three rural/remote hospitals, four primary health clinics and five community 
health centres. 

During 2014–2015:

Budget • $148.611 million – an increase of $2.282 million from financial 
year 2013–2014

Staffing • Total full time equivalent staff of 664 employed as at 30 June 2015  
an increase of 27 staff from 2013–2014 – of these, 58% are 
clinical and 42% are support staff

Emergency presentations • 100% of immediate, life threatening, emergency presentations to 
the Mount Isa Hospital were seen within clinically recommended 
times

Elective surgery • 100% of elective surgical presentations to the Mount Isa Hospital 
were seen within clinical recommended times

Episodes of care • 8975 of which 5234 required an overnight stay or longer

Average length of stay • Where required, the average length of stay overnight or longer 
across our facilities was 3.6 days, against approximately five 
statewide

Telehealth • 35% increase over 2013–2014 and achieving the state-wide 
ambition of 10% increase in activity three months ahead of target.

• Estimated $1.8 million savings in travel and accommodation costs

Births • 416 babies born at our facilities

Infection prevention and control • Zero staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia cases recorded per 
10,000 patient days – the national benchmark target is no more 
than 2.0.

Interpretation services • 22 sessions of interpreter services were provided to 14 clients, 
with AUSLAN, Mandarin and Finnish being the most requested 
languages

Compliments and complaints • 63 written compliments received by our Health Service Chief 
Executive – a 55% increase from last year – 103 written complaints 
received, equating to 1.15% of total episodes of care 

FAST FACTS
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LETTER OF COMPLIANCE

Letter of compliance

21 August 2015

The Honourable Cameron Dick MP
Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services
GPO Box 48
BRISBANE   QLD   4001 

Dear Minister

I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2014–2015 and financial statements for the North West 
Hospital and Health Service.

I certify that this Annual Report complies with:

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2009, and

• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government 
agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found from page 60 of this report.

Yours sincerely, 

Paul Woodhouse 
Chair

1 Barkly Highway Mount Isa
PO Box 27 Mount Isa Queensland 4825

Telephone +61 7 4764 0210
Facsimile +61 7 4764 0217

Email Tammy.Parry@health.qld.gov.au

North West Hospital and Health Board
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Chair’s report

CHAIR’S REPORT

A key measure of success is our increasing levels of local engagement. During the reporting period alternate 
Board meetings have included visits to facilities around the North West region enabling the Board to 
participate in discussions with local communities, staff, government representatives and councils. I especially 
recognise the efforts of a number of people in communities who generously contribute their time to health 
community advisory networks across the region. 

Significant and cooperative investment must address the burden of chronic disease. With the wider roll out of 
Telehealth, this is contributing to decreased activity within Mount Isa Hospital while increased local activity 
and monitoring in our rural and remote facilities should result in the treatment of more people closer to home. 

Our delivery of the 2014 Mount Isa Health Expo demonstrates that strong partnerships can make a good 
idea a reality and that by working together across all levels of a community, good collaboration can enable 
healthcare and other needs to be met by sustainable solutions.

As we move into our fourth year of operation, we have many ambitious future objectives ahead of us. These 
include assuming full ownership of our capital assets and infrastructure following a transfer of land and 
buildings from the Department of Health. 

Other challenges include ensuring that individuals take personal ownership of their healthcare needs and 
working closely with our partners to ensure that joined up services and methods of service delivery give the 
best possible return.

Effective from 1 July 2015, the establishment of a new Western Queensland Primary Care Collaborative, in 
conjunction with our neighbouring South West and Central West Hospital and Health Services, will be the best 
opportunity the wider region has ever had in delivering integrated primary and acute care services across 
shared regional, rural and remote communities.

As ever, it remains a privilege to work with my Board colleagues, our Chief Executive and Executive 
Management Group. It was with real pleasure that I was able to observe Kalkadoon Elder and Board member 
Mr Ron Page welcoming the Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services, the Honourable Cameron 
Dick MP, to Country at the Mount Isa Hospital in June 2015.

I extend a personal thank you to all members of the North West Hospital and Health Service and our auxiliary 
supporters. I also wish to personally acknowledge the work of Dr Stephanie Del La Rue, a board member since 
June 2012, who resigned her position in October 2014 in order to fulfil interstate commitments.

I have no doubt we will continue to build a fairer, better and stronger Hospital and Health Service, resulting in 
better outcomes for our communities.

Paul Woodhouse 
Chair

For the third year in succession, I am pleased to report continued 
advances in the management and delivery of public hospital and 
other health services to our communities. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OVERVIEW

In comparison to the rest of Queensland, the North West region continues to face a range of unique challenges 
associated with providing health care services to dispersed populations in remote locations.

However, our organisation has evolved – and will continue to grow – directly due to the knowledge, skills and 
spirit of our staff. Looking back over the year we have much to be proud of and to celebrate, as demonstrated 
by the range of highlights and key achievements documented throughout this report. 

We remain committed towards working with our partners to ensure our communities live longer, healthier and 
more independent lives by improving health outcomes and achieving the Government’s objectives for the 
community of delivering quality frontline services and strengthening our public health system.

During the reporting period we have achieved marked improvements in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Potentially Preventable Hospitalisations. We also continue to perform strongly against national emergency 
and surgical targets, ensuring patients receive best clinical practice and are treated and in accordance with 
clinically appropriate timescales.

Proactive engagement with our consumers and communities continues to evolve and a key highlight was the 
success of the inaugural Mount Isa Health Expo. Originally intended as a biannual event, a larger follow up 
event is being hosted in July 2015 in order to satisfy public demand.

We are also rightfully proud of our outstanding recruitment efforts. During the reporting period we welcomed 
a record number of medical interns and first year practice nurses, in addition to new dentists and other allied 
health professionals. We also proudly employ the largest proportion of nurse practitioners in Queensland 
among our nursing workforce and have appointed permanent Medical Superintendents to Mornington Island 
and Doomadgee.

Looking ahead to the 2015-16 financial year, this report also outlines a range of challenging yet achievable 
future goals and deliverables for our facilities and divisions and I look forward to being able to celebrate 
our successes in another twelve months. These include the continuing redevelopment of the Mount Isa 
Hospital, and the scheduled organisation wide survey to continue our full accreditation against ten nationally 
recognised Australian Council on Health Care Standards for the next four year cycle. 

This annual report is a testament to the ongoing initiative and resilience of our Board, staff and communities. 
I wish to personally, and sincerely, thank each and every member of staff my executive team, our community 
partners and our dedicated volunteers who devote their time and efforts each and every day to ensure we 
strive for excellence in the delivery of rural and remote health care. 

If we all work together, we can and must make a difference.

Sue Belsham 
Health Service Chief Executive 
North West Hospital and Health Service

The third year of operation of the North West Hospital and Health 
Service has seen us build on the foundations of our previous strong 
performance, including achieving the earned autonomy of assuming 
responsibility for our staff – and becoming the only rural and 
regional hospital and health service in Queensland to do so.
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The year in review, 2014–2015

The North West Hospital and Health Service strives to be Queensland’s leading Hospital 
and Health Service, delivering excellence in rural and remote healthcare. In addition to the 
range of key achievements delivered by our staff across each of our facilities, as detailed 
throughout the following report, a range of other significant events also occurred during 
2014–2015.

July 2014
The North West Hospital and Health Service 
commenced prescribed employer status, 
assuming legal responsibility for all of our 
employees. 

Following a competitive tender process, managed 
by the Commonwealth Government, Home and 
Community Care services transitioned to a local 
community provider. 

The inaugural Mount Isa Health Expo attracted 
over 500 visitors across two days, accessing 31 
exhibitors and 40 exhibits.

Board trip to Mornington Island, Karumba and 
Normanton regions included visits to local 
facilities and meetings with local government 
representatives and other local dignitaries, 
culminating in Board meeting at Normanton.

Following a competitive tender to ensure the 
best value for money, a new five year radiology 
services contract commenced. 

Annual NAIDOC celebrations and staff awards 
ceremony, including the raising of the Australian. 
Queensland and Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander flags on new flagpoles at the Mount Isa 
Hospital.

Our stand at the inaugural Mount Isa Health Expo, July 2014

August 2014
Clinic building at Dajarra repurposed for use as 
staff accommodation.

To improve awareness of local avenues for 
support, 1000 fridge magnet postcards released 
across the region by the North West Drought 
Recovery Collaborative. In addition to the North 
West Hospital and Health Service, membership 
includes representatives from Agforce, 
Anglicare, Centacare, Central and North West 
Queensland Medicare Local, Child Safety and 
Disability Services, Department of Communities, 
Department of Education, Department of Human 
Services, Member for Mount Isa Robbie Katter 
MP, North West Queensland Indigenous Catholic 
Social Services, the Royal Flying Doctor Service 
and Uniting Care Community. 

In conjunction with Children’s Health 
Queensland Hospital and Health Service’s 
statewide Connected Care Program, appointment 
of dedicated local care coordinator to help North 
West Queensland children and families living 
with complex health conditions access various 
specialists and support services.

Supporting the North West Drought Recovery Collaborative, 
August 2014
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September 2014

Judging the poster entries, September 2014 

Child Protection Week poster competition, 
supported by the Mount Isa Hospital Auxiliary. 
Over 250 posters were submitted from local 
primary school students and there are further 
plans to expand future competitions beyond the 
Mount Isa region.

Tour of facilities by the Honourable Lawrence 
Springborg MP, Minister for Health and Mr Ian 
Maynard, Director-General, Queensland Health 
during which the Keith Douglas Snr Memorial 
Aged Care Annexe in Cloncurry was formally 
opened.

We also hosted the Queensland Ministerial 
roundtable on Rural and Remote Mental Health 
focusing on developing the coordination of 
mental health services to drought affected areas 
of Queensland. Participants included several 
visiting Health Service Chief Executives and 
Board Chairs from around the State who were 
able to visit our region and facilities to witness 
firsthand our local expertise.

October 2014
Board regional visit 
to Mornington Island, 
meeting with elders and 
council members and 
learning about the impact 
of telehealth and services 
to the Island.

In recognition of her 
extraordinary dedication 
and length of service, 
Mount Isa Hospital 
Auxiliary President,  
Mrs Anne Morris, was the 
deserved recipient of the 
prestigious Queensland 
Living Legend award for 
her dedicated service to 
Meals on Wheels.

November 2014
Cloncurry, Camooweal and Mount Isa hosted 
the Ministerial Health Infrastructure Advisory 
Council’s first visit to the North West. Council 
membership comprised key infrastructure 
advisors – including the North West Hospital 
and Health Board Chair, Mr Paul Woodhouse, 
serving as the statewide Board representative. 
The visit included tours of regional and remote 
facilities and discussions with our executive 
team to discuss their priorities and future health 
infrastructure requirements.

Medical Education, Telehealth and the Outreach 
Coordinator roles combined with the medical 
administration team to form a new Medical 
Workforce Unit.

In testament to opportunities available in the 
North West, a record number of medical intern 
placements are confirmed for 2015.

Our medical interns, November 2014 

December 2014
Sue Belsham, Heath Service Chief Executive 
personally recognised the efforts of our staff on 
International Volunteers Day.

North West Health Services Executive Leadership 
Group – comprising Chief Executives of key local 
health service organisations – formed to further 
support coordinated health service delivery 
across our region. 

In a joint initiative between the North West 
Hospital and Health Service, the Department 
of Health and Mornington Island Council, a 
contractor was engaged to remove the former 
Mornington Island Hospital building, with all 
materials removed from the Island by late  
January 2015. 

Mount Isa Hospital Auxiliary 
and QLD living legend, Mrs 
Anne Morris, October 2014 
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January 2015
Establishment of the North West Hospital and 
Health Service Continuous Improvement and 
Innovation Unit, to ensure effective and efficient 
patient centric care can be delivered, and 
regulatory standards met.

Commencement of Dr Chris Gilford as the 
permanent senior medical officer at Mornington 
Island and Dr Craig Hamilton at Doomadgee 
Hospital.

Cloncurry Multipurpose Health Service Keith 
Douglas (Snr) Memorial Aged Care Annexe 
awarded Community Spirit Mayor’s Award 2015 
Australia Day Award.

Record number of first year in practice nurses to 
commence in the North West with an intake of  
13 new nurses, including three local residents.

Our first year in practice nurses, January 2015 intake 

February 2015
Board visits to Cloncurry and the McKinlay Shire 
Multipurpose Health Service and Urandangie 
Health Clinic to meet local staff, Council and 
Community Advisory Network members.

In recognition of its position as the leading nurse 
led primary health care provider, North West 
Hospital and Health Service is chosen by the 
Nursing and Midwifery Office, Queensland Health, 
as a study site to evaluate our nurse led services. 

Roll out of a new orientation and induction 
program, now hosted monthly across our 
organisation.

Health Service Chief Executive, Mrs Sue Belsham, 
Executive Director Nursing and Midwifery 
Michelle Garner, Director, Mental Health, Alcohol, 
Tobacco and Other Drug Services, Sandra 
Kennedy and Executive Director of Medical 
Services, Associate Professor Alan Sandford 
appointed to the Queensland Clinical Senate for 
three year terms of office. 

The Senate represents clinicians from across 
the health system and provides strategic advice 
and leadership on system-wide issues affecting 
quality, affordable and efficient patient care.

March 2015
Lead by a dedicated multidisciplinary 
implementation team, our sexual health and 
chronic disease teams are the first to implement 
a new Communicare integrated electronic health 
and practice management system. Our service 
is the first in the State and the largest multi-site 
health service to roll out this program to date, 
which will be progressively rolled out during 
2015–2016.

Setting a new record for our oldest patient, 
Mount Isa Hospital and I-Med Radiology joined 
with the Australian Age of Dinosaurs Museum 
based in Winton, Central West Queensland, to 
perform CT scans on fossilised bones belonging 
to “Matilda” an Australian dinosaur from the 
cretaceous period. These scans will assist a 
research project led by the University of New 
England to determine the skeletal structure of 
the plant eating Diamintinasaurus, and how they 
moved more than 95 million years ago.

Participation, along with other key stakeholders, 
in a round table health forum discussion hosted 
by the Dajarra community. The day was very 
productive and delivered a range of constructive 
suggestions to improve local health services and 
outcomes.

Together with the neighbouring Central West 
and South West Hospital and Health Services, 
we are awarded the contract to establish a new 
Primary Health Network for Western Queensland, 
commencing 1 July 2015.

Performing a CT scan on “Matilda”, March 2015 

Dajarra Roundtable discussion, March 2015 
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April 2015
Board regional visit and meeting hosted at 
Burketown. 

Endorsement of a new Clinical and Operational 
Governance Framework 2015–2017 to drive 
behaviours – both individual and as a whole 
organisation – that lead to better patient care, 
the well-being of staff, the environment and all 
who access our services.

Over 100 staff had received updated training 
in manual patient handling over the past five 
months.

Staff receiving manual handling refreshers, April 2015 

May 2015
In recognition of International Nurse Day, 
Sue Maye and Mavis Hall were nominated by 
their peers as North West Hospital and Health 
Service’s Nurses of the Year.

Mr Philip Davies, Deputy Director-General, 
System Policy and Performance the Department 
of Health and three Executives from Ko Awatea 
– a health system innovation and improvement 
group based in New Zealand – toured our 
facilities in early May. They were impressed by 
the scope of care, the service level and the staff 
commitment to improving health in our diverse 
communities.

Australian College of Nurse Practitioners held its 
Queensland Chapter education forum for the first 
time at Mount Isa between 28–29 May.

International Nurse Day nominees, Mount Isa, May 2015 

June 2015

The Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services,  
meeting some of our volunteers, June 2015 

We welcomed the Minister for Health and 
Minister for Ambulance Services, the Honorable 
Cameron Dick MP, on his first official visit to 
our Hospital and Health Service, enabling us 
to provide an insight into our history, work 
underway and our plans for our future. The 
Minister also formally announced the start of 
stage 3 of the Mount Isa Hospital redevelopment, 
informally met some of our senior, regional and 
long serving staff including using an ipad to link 
up with Mornington Island staff.

Our Medical Workforce Unit received some 
expert support and retraining on a customised 
credentialing database which shares information 
across Queensland’s four regional and remote 
services (North West, South West, Central West 
and Torres and Cape). Our Rural and Remote 
services were confirmed as one of the busiest in 
Queensland with over 530 applications for scope 
of clinical practice processed during the last 
calendar year.

Successful Chronic Disease Education Day and 
the Sex in the Spinifex Workshops held to share 
specialised clinical skills and knowledge across 
teams, North West clinicians and other key 
stakeholders.

Participants in our Chronic Disease Education Day, June 2015
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Burketown
Population: 201  ATSI: 42.3%

Distance from Mount Isa: 600km

Doomadgee
Population: 1289  ATSI: 91.9%

Distance from Mount Isa: 600km

Camooweal
Population: 187  ATSI: 56.5%

Distance from Mount Isa: 180km

Mount Isa
Population: 20,570  ATSI: 14.9%
Distance from Townsville: 904km
Distance from Brisbane: 1823km

Dajarra
Population: 429  ATSI: 36.5%

Distance from Mount Isa: 180km

Mornington Island
Population: 1005  ATSI: 88%
Distance from Mount Isa: 700km

Karumba
Population: 587  ATSI: 9.7%
Distance from Mount Isa: 600km
Distance from Normanton: 70km

Normanton
Population: 1468  ATSI: 47.5%
Distance from Mount Isa: 500km

Julia Creek
Population: 634  ATSI: 3.3%
Distance from Mount Isa: 260km
Distance from Cloncurry: 138km

Cloncurry
Population: 3229  ATSI: 21.8%
Distance from Mount Isa: 120km

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

  

Our services
The North West Hospital and Health Service is an 
independent statutory body established under the 
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. 

Accountable to a local Hospital and Health 
Board, the service is responsible for the direct 
management and delivery of public hospital and 
other health services to a population of around 
33,000 people comprising the seven local 
government areas of Burke Shire, Carpentaria Shire, 
Cloncurry Shire, Doomadgee Shire, McKinlay Shire, 
Mornington Shire and Mount Isa City. 

Covering almost 300,000 square kilometres – an 
area bigger than the State of Victoria, Tasmania 
and the Australian Capital Territory – the entire 
area of the North West Hospital and Health 
Service is defined by the Queensland Government 
Statisticians Office as remote or very remote, with 
a quarter of its population located in very remote 
areas of Australia.

A comprehensive range of community and primary 
health services are provided including aged care 
assessment; Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
health programs; child and maternal health 
services; mental health services; alcohol, tobacco 
and other drug services; community health nursing; 
sexual health services; allied health; oral health 
and health promotion programs.

Services are provided from the Mount Isa Hospital 
and two multipurpose health services, three rural/
remote hospitals, four primary health clinics and 
five community health centres across Burketown, 
Camooweal, Cloncurry, Dajarra, Doomadgee, Julia 
Creek, McKinlay, Karumba, Mornington Island, 
Normanton and Urandangi.

An extensive program of specialist outreach health 
services are also provided to all health facilities. 
This increases patient access to specialist care 
not available in the remote health facilities, 
maximises patient health outcomes by providing 
early diagnosis and treatment of health conditions, 
and reduces the need, inconvenience and cost for 
patients to travel from remote locations to access 
specialist care in Mount Isa, Townsville or other 
secondary and tertiary healthcare settings across 
the State. 

Mount Isa Hospital also serves as the major hub for 
telehealth services across the entire service area, 
ensuring all sites have access to emergency medical 
and nursing advice twenty-four hours a day, seven 
days per week. Financial assistance is also provided 
through the Patient Travel Subsidy Scheme to 
eligible patients who need to travel to other health 
services for procedures and tests not available 
locally.

The North West Hospital and Health Service also 
provides emergency ambulance retrieval and 
treatment support services for communities across 
the Northern Territory border. The neighbouring 
Townsville Hospital and Health Service provides 
dialysis renal services from an eight chair satellite 
Renal Unit based at the Mount Isa Hospital.

We continue to have a proud association with the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS), which provides 
outreach clinics and other emergency care across 
the North West, parts of Central West Queensland 
and also Northern Territory regions. Having 
launched its inaugural flight from Cloncurry in 1928, 
the RFDS celebrated fifty years of operations from 
Mount Isa on 1 July 2014.

Our communities and services, population data derived from 2011 Census

Note: use of the term ‘ATSI’ denotes percentage of residents identifying themselves of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander descent.
Source: Burnand, J North West Hospital and Health Service Medical Staffing Review, 2014.
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Our community
The North West Hospital and Health Service had an estimated resident population of 32,621 in 2014. The 
population per Local Government Area is indicated in Table 1 below.

Custom region / Local Government Area / State
Number as at 30 June: % average annual growth 

2004 2009 2014 2004–2014 2009–2014

North West region 29,184 31,032 32,621 1.1 1.0

Burke (S) 492 543 559 1.3 0.6

Carpentaria (S) 2191 2136 2245 0.2 1.0

Cloncurry (S) 3424 3304 3399 -0.1 0.6

Doomadgee (S) 1142 1273 1395 2.0 1.8

McKinlay (S) 973 1011 1083 1.1 1.4

Mornington (S) 1054 1158 1223 1.5 1.1

Mount Isa (C) 19,908 21,607 22,717 1.3 1.0

Queensland 3,829,970 4,328,771 4,722,447 2.1 1.8

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, 3218.0, Regional Population Growth, Australia, 2013–14

Table 1: Estimated resident population by North West region, Local Government Area and Queensland

Increases in population have historically trended at around 1 percent per annum, and it is estimated the 
population will increase by around 7000 people over the next twenty years.

The Queensland Government Statisticians Office estimates the average age for all residents is currently 31.0 
years, which is lower than the Queensland median age of 36.6 years.

The percentage of indigenous persons living in the North West is 23.1 percent, compared to 3.1 percent within 
all of Queensland. In particular, the two Local Government Areas of Doomadgee and Mornington Island have 
populations in which 88 percent or more of the population identify themselves as Indigenous: 

Custom region / 
Local Government 
Area / State

As at 30 June 2011 Average annual growth rate

Total (b)
Aboriginal

Torres Strait 
Islander

Both (a) Total % Total %

North West region 6703 136 198 7037 23.1 19,722 64.6 30,511

Burke (S) 140 0 3 143 27.8 286 55.6 514

Carpentaria (S) 714 7 36 757 36.8 1046 50.9 2,055

Cloncurry (S) 661 22 19 702 21.8 2158 66.9 3,227

Doomadgee (S) 1179 3 3 1185 92.0 95 7.4 1288

McKinlay (S) 39 0 0 39 3.7 894 85.3 1048

Mornington (S) 986 4 15 1005 88.0 131 11.5 1142

Mount Isa (C) 2984 100 122 3206 15.1 15,112 71.2 21,237

Queensland 122,896 20,094 12,834 155,824 3.6 3,952,707 91.2 4,332,740

(a) Applicable to persons who are of both Aboriginal and Torres and Strait Islander origin   (b) Includes Indigenous status not stated
Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Census of Population an Housing, 2011, Indigenous Profile – IO2 (usual residence)

Table 2: Indigenous status by North West region, Local Government Area and Queensland, 2011

In addition to our rich aboriginal heritage, Australian Bureau of Statistics census population data for 2011 also 
indicates that 14.45 per cent of the local community – or 2541 people – were born overseas. 

The most common countries included New Zealand, the Philippines, United Kingdom, South Africa, Fiji, 
Germany, India, Ireland and Italy. Consequently around a fifth of the population – or around 4500 people – 
commonly speak a language other than English at home, namely Chinese, French, German, Italian or Indo-
Arayan, in addition to Indigenous Australian.
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Queensland Government Statisticians Office data also indicates significant numbers of our residents are 
categorised in the most disadvantaged socio-economic group. Almost half of the population is in the two 
lowest quintiles for disadvantage. Notably, as identified in Table 3, there are three Local Government Areas in 
which more than 85 percent of the population are in the most disadvantaged quintile. This includes the entire 
population of Mornington Island and 97.8 percent of the population of Doomadgee. 

Custom region /  
Local Government Area / State

Quintile 1  
(most disadvantaged)

Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 4 

%

North West region 24.9 22.7 28.3 18.7 5.4

Burke (S) 38.8 61.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Carpentaria (S) 87.4 0.0 12.6 0.0 0.0

Cloncurry (S) 36.6 26.6 36.7 0.0 0.0

Doomadgee (S) 97.8 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

McKinlay (S) 0.0 33.2 0.0 66.8 0.0

Mornington (S) 100.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Mount Isa (C) 9.6 25.3 33.8 23.5 7.8

Queensland 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0

Source: ABS 2033.0.55.001, Census of Population and Housing: Socio-Economics Indexes for Areas (SEIFA), Australia – Data only, 2011, 
(Queensland Treasury derived)

Table 3: Population by Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage quintiles by  North West region, Local Government 
Area and Queensland, 2011

Our community’s health
In comparison to the rest of Queensland, the North 
West Hospital and Health region continues to have:

• A higher proportion of children
• A higher proportion of males
• A higher proportion of Indigenous people
• Challenges associated with providing health 

care services to dispersed populations in 
remote locations

Demand for health services also continues to be 
influenced by the mining sector and the impact of 
‘fly-in, fly-out’ workers, a mature pastoral industry 
and a developing tourism industry.

As with all other Hospital and Health Services across 
Queensland, and in keeping with national trends, 
we also continue to encounter challenges relating 
to an ageing population, increasing co-morbidity, 
limited and ageing infrastructure and higher costs 
associated with health care delivery.

Due in part to societal and cultural issues, distance 
and access to routine services, significant numbers 
of avoidable hospitalisations could potentially be 
avoided by more timely and effective provision of 
non-hospital or primary care, including community 
led prevention measures.

The Health of Queenslanders 2014 – Fifth report 
of the Chief Health Officer Queensland states that, 
compared to all other and Queensland Hospital and 
Health Services for the period 2011–2012, the North 
West Hospital and Health Service had the highest 
rates of: 

• Deaths per 100,000 people 
• Coronary Heart disease
• Cancer

The North West Hospital and Health Service ranked 
second for: 

• The median age of deaths for indigenous 
patients, at 53 years

• Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 
hospitalisations  

It ranked third for:

 • The overall median age of death, at 66 years
• Injury rates
• Preventable hospitalisations 
• Diabetes hospitalisations 
• Cardiovascular Disease. 

Although considerable steps have been – and 
continue to be – taken to ensure innovative, 
efficient, effective and culturally appropriate health 
care, issues of significant impact for people living in 
the region remain issues associated with smoking, 
poor nutrition, harmful consumption of alcohol 
and other drugs, overweight and obesity, physical 
inactivity, early discharge against medical advice 
and emotional, psychological, and social well-being 
factors associated with mental health.
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Caring for our communities 
Within the context of these significant challenges, 
the North West Hospital and Health Service 
remains committed towards working with our 
local community partners to ensure communities 
live longer, healthier and more independent lives 
by improving health outcomes and achieving 
the Government’s objectives for the community 
of delivering quality frontline services and 
strengthening our public health system.

During the reporting period we have achieved 
marked improvements in Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Potentially Preventable 
Hospitalisations. We also continue to perform 
strongly against both the National Emergency 
Admission Target (NEAT) and National Elective 
Surgery Target (NEST), ensuring patients receive 
best clinical practice and are treated and in 
accordance with clinically appropriate timescales.

Proactive engagement with our consumers and 
communities continues to evolve and we have made 
significant inroads to treating patients closer to their 
homes and reducing the need for presentations to 
the Mount Isa Hospital. Not only does this improve 
the patient experience, it may also realise cost 
savings due to reduced travel and other expenses.

However, cost and clinical structures at Mount Isa 
Hospital are unique, resulting in a national funding 
model being applied to the most remote hospital in 
Australia with an expectation of service delivery well 
beyond any other geographical location of a similar 
nature.

A new challenge facing the North West Hospital and 
Health Service in 2014–2015 was the application 
of a negative funding adjustment due to the Mount 
Isa Hospital not meeting the purchased activity 
under the Activity Based Funding model.  Although 
the North West Hospital and Health Service has 
exceeded the government’s total expected levels 
of health care provision for which it is has been 
funded, the Mount Isa Hospital has reported less 
than expected levels of activity. This is due to 
decreased levels of admissions or lengths of stay, 
successfully achieved as a direct result of increased 
activity in our other facilities. 

As responsible health managers, we will continue to 
actively manage our patient’s care closer to home 
and encourage the further development of primary 
care and community led home based programs. 
However, the current national model as it applies 
to the North West Hospital and Health Service is 
unsustainable whilst we remain at risk of further 
unintended financial penalties being applied to the 
detriment of patient care.  

The current funding model rewards health services 
in growth areas however this is a continuing 
challenge for the North West which has a declining 
population whilst still addressing burden of disease 
in the region. We will continue to raise awareness 
of these issues at both State and Commonwealth 
level whilst continuing to ensure we provide 
clinically appropriate health care services across all 
spectrums of primary, aged and acute care.  

Engaging with our communities
Developing and implementing processes to include 
increased consumer participation and feedback 
into service planning is a key priority of the North 
West Hospital and Health Service. This is occurring 
through the recruitment of a Consumer Advisor to sit 
on high level planning groups and the development 
of a Patient Experience Survey to capture feedback 
from as many patients as possible about their 
patient journey.

We also continue to champion a more self-directed 
approach to health for each of our communities.  
A number of North West communities have chosen 
to establish regional advisory panels to formally 
engage with local health providers, including 
the North West Hospital and Health Service. Our 
executive sponsors regularly attend the meetings 
in Julia Creek, Cloncurry, Normanton and Karumba 
along with local Council, community and service 
providers. 

Smaller communities have expressed their 
preference to continue to participate in regular 
open invite health forums. Whilst the engagement 
formats may differ, we continue to afford effective 
two way communication and the opportunity 
to meet and raise questions to the Board and 
Executive members present, as well as receive 
updates of local service initiatives and changes.

Mckinlay Shire Community Clinic Open Day, September 2014
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The inaugural Mount Isa Health 
Expo was held on 25–26 July 
2014 at the Buchanan Park 
Entertainment Centre, Mount Isa. 
An initiative of the North West 
Hospital and Health Board, the 
event was established following 
a meeting of key local health 
stakeholders in February 2014 
seeking to develop effective 
channels for consumer and 
community engagement within 
the Mount Isa area.

A collaborative effort led in partnership with  
local government and community stakeholders, 
the event gave Mount Isa residents a clear idea 
of services and support available within the 
region to help them stay well and healthy, as 
well as provide care when needed, across the 
life cycle.  

In conjunction with a range of key stakeholders 
– including Central and North West Queensland 
Medicare Local, Gidgee Healing and the Mount 
Isa Centre for Rural and Remote Health, James 
Cook University – in addition to other highly 
valued community sponsorship, both cash and 
in-kind, initial aims included:

• Providing a one-stop shop for identifying 
an array of health, wellbeing and active 
lifestyle service and business providers in 
Mount Isa

• Encouraging the public to engage with 
health service providers, in an interactive 
informative and inviting professional 
environment

• Enhancing health education in the region
• Contributing towards the development of 

sustained inter-service collaboration and 
communication

• Increasing awareness of the benefits of, 
and encourage and foster, healthy living 

Fresh fruit for Expo participants

Mrs Margaret Body and Telisha Radcliffe,  
advising how Ngukuthati Children and Family Centre  

helps build strong families 

Professor Sabina Knight and the Mount Isa Centre for  
Rural and Remote Health (MICRRH) team join Mount Isa 
Health Expo Ambassador John Coutis of Rolling Success

Accessing free blood pressure checks and  
healthy living advice

2014 Mount Isa Health Expo
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Buchanan Park Entertainment Centre, Mount Isa

John Coutis of Rolling Success,  
our key note speaker and Expo Ambassador

Our Chief Executive, Sue Belsham, with Scott Prince

Kara Glover, Careflight, and Matt Steer from the Queensland 
Ambulance Service showcase the heights of the North 

Queensland Rescue Helicopter Service and North West Local 
Ambulance Committee

Over 500 visitors attended the event over 
the two days, accessing 31 exhibitors and 40 
exhibits including interactive displays and 
activities including Irish dancing, fitness tests, 
face painting and a comprehensive speaking 
program, covering health issues and local 
support from the cradle to the grave.

A message of support was provided by the 
Prime Minister of Australia, The Honorable Tony 
Abbott MP and Guest VIP speakers included: 

• Mount Isa Mayor, the  Honourable Tony 
McGrady and Robert Katter MP  

• Scott Prince – hometown indigenous ex 
NRL player and Ambassador for the Deadly 
Choices program 

• Mark Olive, aka the ‘Black Olive’, a 
nationally renowned indigenous chef  

• John Coutis, of Rolling Success, our key note 
speaker and Expo Ambassador

The event also received extensive media 
coverage during the lead up and throughout  
via radio, television, newspaper and dedicated 
social media. It is now anticipated that the Expo 
will become a landmark free event for Mount Isa 
on the community events calendar with positive 
community feedback shaping the second event 
scheduled in July 2015, at which point the Expo 
will become a biannual occasion. 
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Mount Isa is the major service centre for 
North West Queensland. The City was 
established in 1932 following discovery 
of one of the world’s richest deposits of 
copper, silver, lead and zinc ore. Today, 
Mount Isa is a progressive industrial, 
commercial and tourist centre with a 
thriving mining industry. The Traditional 
Owners of the area are the Kaladoon 
people, also known as the Kalatungu, 
Kalkatunga or Kalkadungu people. 

Mount Isa Hospital is the main referral centre within 
the North West Hospital and Health Service. As at 
30 June 2015, there were 69 inpatient beds. 

Inpatient and outpatient service areas include 
medical, palliative care, surgical, obstetrics, 
paediatrics, and critical care services, with 
haematology and rheumatology outpatient services 
provided by telehealth. Ambulatory care services 
include emergency department and allied health 
services. Chemotherapy and endoscopy services are 
also provided at the hospital. 

Patients from other facilities across the North West 
region who require specialist treatment and care 
are referred to either the Mount Isa Hospital or to 
other major hospitals within Queensland including 
Townsville, Cairns and Brisbane. Townsville Hospital 
and Health Service also provides dialysis renal 
services from an eight chair satellite Renal Unit 
based at the Mount Isa Hospital.

Mount Isa City  
Mount Isa Hospital

Specialist outreach patient services are managed 
from the hospital, which also provides the major 
hub for telehealth services across the entire North 
West service area, with four Primary Health Care 
Clinics and six hospital sites having access to 24/7 
medical and nursing support for the advice and 
management of lower risk emergency department 
presentations and other outpatient care.

Originally initiated in September 2009, the phased 
redevelopment of the Mount Isa Hospital remains 
ongoing and will further enhance health service 
access, provide an environment that supports 
contemporary models of care, and improve patient 
facilities and staff amenities.

Common episodes of care include: maternity 
services, chemotherapy, dental extraction and 
restoration, chest pain, cellulitis – and also 
antenatal and other obstetric care, respiratory 
infections, eye clinic and other health care and 
prevention services. 

The view from above, Mount Isa City

887km west of Townsville

1330km north west  
of Rockhampton 

1900km north west of Brisbane
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Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
• Increased funding secured to increase 

availability of McGrath Breast Care Nurse. 
• Introduction of new X-Ray Service monitoring 

and new Short Stay Protocol to improve 
Emergency Department throughput and patient 
waiting times.  

• Eight staff currently enrolled in post graduate 
studies in Emergency Nursing. A further six 
staff successfully completed emergency triage 
workshops and seven have successfully 
completed a Graduate Certificate in Emergency 
Nursing. 

• Intensive Care Rotation program established 
with the Princess Alexander Intensive Care 
Unit, Brisbane. A four week placement at the 
Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital, Brisbane also 
created. 

• Continued increase in Occasions of Service for 
nurse-led clinics, including implementation 
of minor surgical procedures. Successful 
application for recurrent funding for wound care 
Clinical Nurse Consultant secured for the period 
up to July 2016.

• Implementation of best practice for non-
invasive ventilation support for infant and 
paediatric patients.

• Purchase and installation of a range of 
equipment and continuation of professional 
development in line with clinical standards 
and best practice to ensure clinical safety, 
patient confidentiality and mandated levels 
of professional competency in perioperative 
services.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Ongoing progress towards the completion of 

Mount Isa hospital refurbishment, following 
announcement in June 2015 of commencement 
of the Paediatric ward refurbishment.

• Using a coordinated evidence-based approach, 
and working with complimentary partnerships 
within the community, we will continue to 
provide all North West communities with a 
broad range of specialist medical, nursing and 
allied health management services,  including 
telehealth, that encourage patient and family 
participation in health care decisions, clinical 
follow-up, health maintenance across the 
continuum and appropriate discharge planning.

• Innovative patient focused initiatives to 
further improve patient outcomes and 
satisfaction by strengthening multi-disciplinary 
communication, referral and discharge 
pathways to deliver increased continuity of care.

• A more empowered and sustainable health 
workforce, improving productivity and efficiency 
through building capacity in education and 
training, including addressing the opportunity 
of graduate employment.

• Enhanced diversity in our Emergency 
Department, offering community access to a 
wider cultural choice in first point of contact 
with mainstream services.

• Standardised, evidence based care for stroke 
and dementia services, and for those requiring 
palliative care.

• Further support and training for our staff in 
order to ‘grow our own’ and ensure clinical 
competencies. 

• Increased utilisation of telehealth – not only 
for medical care but also to facilitate access to 
training and for patients to stay in touch with 
families where they are transferred to other 
tertiary sites around the state.

• Further roll out of the Paediatric Acute Complex 
Care Management Outreach programme across 
the North West.

• Full utilisation of Communicare to enhance 
the holistic health care plan for patients by 
improving immediate access to a client’s full 
clinical record at point of care and improve 
accuracy of data collection and activity 
reporting.
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Mornington Island is the largest of the 
North Wellesley Islands located in the Gulf 
of Carpentaria and is currently home to a 
community of approximately 1500 people. 
The Island achieved self-governance 
in 1978 and is now controlled by the 
Mornington Shire Council. The Traditional 
Owners of Mornington Island are the Lardil 
people.   

Mornington Island Hospital is a rural and remote 
hospital with 12 inpatient beds. The facility 
provides 24 hour acute inpatient and accident and 
emergency care, as well as outpatient community 
health services between Monday to Friday.

Mornington Island Community Health Clinic is 
staffed by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
health workers and nurses. In partnership with 
hospital staff and other government agencies, 
they provide health assessment, chronic disease 
management as well as health education and 
promotion programs which include:

• a Deadly Ears service
• child and adult respiratory (lung health) care, 

provided by the  Indigenous Respiratory 
Outreach Care (IROC) Program 

• women’s health and child health, provided by 
the Royal Flying Doctor Service

• allied health services, provided by the Central 
and North West Queensland Medicare Local, 
and cardiac and respiratory services, provided 
by The Prince Charles Hospital, Brisbane

A number of other outreach services are also 
provided including alcohol and other drugs 
counselling, maternal health, mental health, 
dental, diabetic education, Nurse Practitioner renal 
services, mobile women’s health services and 
sexual health.

Mornington Shire 
Mornington Island 
Hospital and Primary 
Health Clinic

444km north of Mount Isa 

125km north west of Burketown 

2270km north west of Brisbane  

Common episodes of care include: alcohol 
withdrawal and intoxication, general injuries, 
cellulitis, digestive system and poisoning /
toxic effects of drugs – in addition to chest pain, 
oesophagitis and gastroenteritis, other head 
injuries, respiratory system and otitis media and 
upper respiratory tract infections.  

Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
• Following a collaborative project to identify 

ways to improve the coordination and 
integration of care between health providers, 
a new Community Care programme – grant 
funded through the Department of Health’s 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Investment 
Strategy – has introduced weekly joint case 
management meetings between local staff and 
other health care services.

• Australian College of Rural and Remote 
Medicine accreditation obtained by the North 
West Hospital and Health Service to enable 
recruitment of two rotational registrars to 
provide backfill to the permanent full time 
Medical Superintendent on Mornington Island, 
ensuring significant reduction in reliance on 
Locum Medical Officers for relief and providing 
consistency of care for patients.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Further work to define local health needs and 

prevent overlap of services.
• Continued collaboration with the local 

community to promote awareness of culturally 
significant practices within the Mornington 
Island community, and ensure the community 
can express its needs, issues and successes.

• Further work to ensure a sustainable local 
workforce with appropriate skill and cultural 
mix, enabling health professionals to work to 
their full scopes of practice. 
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Covering an area of 186,300 hectares, 
Doomadgee is located on the Nicholson 
River in the far north-western corner of 
Queensland, near the Gulf of Carpentaria. 
The Waanyi and Gangalidda people are 
recognised as the traditional owners for 
the region, which is a Deed of Grant in Trust 
community governed by the Dooomadgee 
Aboriginal Shire Council. Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people make up 91.9 
percent of the population of approximately 
1300 people.

Doomadgee Hospital is a Level 1 rural and 
remote hospital with three emergency and four 
inpatient beds. The hospital provides accident and 
emergency care, pharmacy and general outpatient 
services, including a GP clinic, chronic disease and 
mental health and alcohol, tobacco and other drugs 
services.

Health care is delivered in a culturally appropriate 
environment by Aboriginal health workers and 
nursing, medical, administration and other 
operational staff. The hospital works in close 
collaboration with internal and external community 
health providers who offer services including 
assistance with discharge planning, home visits, 
health screening, patient liaison and advocacy, 
health education and promotion activities.

Although a commercial airstrip provides year round 
access to the community, isolation is a key issue 
– significant lengths of the main road providing 
access to Doomadgee are cut off for weeks during 
the wet season between October and April. 

A range of visiting and outreach services are provided 
to the community including medical, cardiac, 
surgical, obstetrics and gynaecology, child health 
and paediatrics, renal, aged care assessment, Deadly 
Ears, dental, diabetes, child and adult respiratory, 
sexual health and allied health. 

Doomadgee  Shire 
Doomadgee Hospital

Common episodes of care include: chest pain, 
cellulitis, alcohol intoxication and withdrawal, 
general injuries and other digestive system 
disorders – in addition to oesophagitis and 
gastroenteritis, other head injury, abdominal pain, 
otitis media and upper respiratory tract infections 
whooping cough and acute bronchitis. 

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• Introduction of a Nurse Practitioner, working 

in partnership with other health care 
professionals, to assess, diagnose, treat and 
manage patient illnesses, September 2014.

• Appointment of a full-time Medical 
Superintendent, reducing reliance on locum 
cover and ensuring improved consistency of 
care for patients. 

• Improved patient administration data 
management, as well as the collection and 
sharing of information.

• Ongoing stock control measures to improve 
inventory management and minimise waste 
following the introduction of a new barcode 
scanning system in March 2015.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Development of a new model of care for 

community health to further develop 
partnerships and engage youth to promote and 
encourage healthy lifestyles. 

• Ongoing education and support to encourage 
families and the community to develop and 
strengthen support that assists children with 
a disability to live and participate in their 
community and enables families to continue to 
provide care. 

100km south west of Burketown 

470km north west of Mount Isa

2200km north west of Brisbane
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Normanton is a small community situated 
on the banks of the Norman River in the 
Gulf of Carpentaria. Fishing and prawning 
industries are the mainstay of the area, 
although tourism also brings transient 
increases in population during the year. 
The Traditional Owners of the Normanton 
area are the Gkuthaarn, Kukatj, and Kurtijar 
peoples.

Normanton is accessible via a network of sealed 
and unsealed roads. Some roads may be closed 
during the wet season between December to March. 
A sealed airstrip provides year round access to the 
community.

Normanton Hospital has 14 acute inpatient beds 
and 2 respite/palliative care beds. The accident and 
emergency department operates 24 hours per day, 
seven days a week. Other health services, including 
general outpatient, nurse and medical officer 
clinics, plain film radiology, pathology, nurse-led 
pharmacy and dressing clinics are also available.

Normanton Community Health works in partnership 
with Normanton Hospital staff to provide health 
education and promotion programs, and health 
assessments. Services operate Monday to Friday 
and provide a range of services including discharge 
planning, home visits, health screening, patient 
liaison and advocacy, education and support. 

Speciality visiting services include Royal Flying 
Doctor Service, allied health services provided by 
the Central and North West Queensland Medicare 
Local, women’s health and a private hearing 
service.

Carpentaria Shire
Normanton Hospital

500km north east of Mount Isa

700km west of Cairns

2100km north west of Brisbane

Common episodes of care include: chest pain, 
general injuries, digestive system disorders, 
cellulitis, alcohol intoxication and withdrawal – 
in addition to oesophagitis and gastroenteritis, 
abdominal pain, respiratory system, otitis media 
and upper respiratory tract infections and non-
surgical spinal disorders.   

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• Recruitment of a remote renal nurse practitioner 

and purchase of two self-care dialysis chairs 
has seen increased referrals and improved 
continuality of care through recalls and 
discharge planning development. 

• Improvements to wound care via access 
to telehealth wound care Clinical Nurse 
Consultant.

• Various improvements to IT equipment and 
capital works, including painting and reflooring 
of facilities, lidded bins to address infection 
control requirements and the replacement of 
patient bedside tables and privacy screens. 

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Increased working relationships with other 

agencies by further integrating of telehealth into 
daily practice, assisting in addressing gaps in 
service provision and case management. 

• Improved staff uptake of education and 
enhanced Nurse Practitioner model of care 
including clinical appointments, discharge 
planning, home visits, and community 
engagement and workforce development. 

• Further improvements to patient recalls, 
discharge planning and pathology results 
and contribute support for community based 
projects including a local transport bus service 
and other requirements, such as a local safe 
house.  
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A seaside town located at the mouth of 
the Norman River, on the coast of the 
Gulf of Carpentaria, Karumba’s main 
industries are based around tourism and 
fishing. Approximately 600 people reside 
in the Karumba region. With an estimated 
100,000 visitors each year, tourism 
increases the population by an additional 
2000 to 3000 people during April and 
September. The Yangkal and Kaiadilt 
peoples are recognised as the traditional 
owners of the lands in the Karumba area.

Karumba Health Clinic is a Level 1, Tier 2 facility 
under the Rural and Remote Clinical Services 
Capability Framework. The service provides a low 
risk ambulatory care service only, predominantly 
delivered by a Registered Nurse. A visiting general 
practitioner provides a medical service half a day 
twice per week.

Patients requiring higher levels of care are managed 
for short periods prior to transfer to a higher level 
service. An additional clinical nurse is stationed at 
the clinic during the tourist season. Services include 
triage for lower acuity medical conditions and minor 
procedures. 

Visiting allied health services, physiotherapy, 
dietician, occupational therapy, diabetes education, 
continence advice and podiatry are provided by the 
Central and North West Queensland Medicare Local. 
Other visiting outreach services include cardiology, 
obstetrics and gynaecology, respiratory, surgery and 
women’s health services. Fortnightly mental health 
counselling is also provided by the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service.

Common episodes of care include: general 
outpatients, pathology collection, immunisation, 
health checks, medication prescription, pre and 
post natal checks, home visits including palliative 
care in the home, acute and chronic wound care.

Carpentaria Shire
Karumba Primary 
Health Clinic

70km north of Normanton  

570km north west of Mount Isa 

2222km north west of Brisbane  

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• Introduction of a Nurse Practitioner led model of 

care has significantly reduced the waiting time 
for General Practitioner appointments from four 
weeks to one week.

• Improved engagement of pregnant clients, 
including follow up on miscarriages and 
also post natal care at six weeks, resulting 
in improved handover of care plans between 
health care providers. 

• Thirty percent increase in the total uptake of 
PAP testing within the local community.

• Introduction of fortnightly mental health 
counselling and also palliative care and other 
home visits.

• Budget integrity achieved, alongside 
further improvements to the efficiency and 
effectiveness of service provision.

• Recognising the continued ongoing generosity 
of the local community, which has raised over 
$230,000 over the past 16 years, the Karumba 
Cancer Cuppa Grant established by the 
Cancer Council to fund research in risk factors 
associated with bowel cancer.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Roll out of the Communicare electronic patient 

record and further measures to enhance data 
capture and reporting.

Our staff, Karumba Primary Health Clinic



NORTH WEST HOSPITAL AND HEALTH SERVICE  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015

24

Cloncurry is located on the Cloncurry 
River in central west Queensland and 
comprises approximately 3250 residents 
supplemented by a fly in, fly out workforce 
of a further 3000 inhabitants. The town 
supports major silver, gold, copper and 
zinc mining operations and also has 
thriving cattle and sheep industries. The 
Mitakoodi people are recognised as the 
traditional owners of the lands surrounding 
the Cloncurry region. In total, just over 
twenty percent of the local population 
identify themselves as Indigenous 
Aboriginal.

Cloncurry Multipurpose Health Service provides 
rural and remote hospital services including a 15 
inpatient bed facility, 10 bed residential aged care 
facility, emergency department and outpatient 
department. A multidisciplinary model of care is 
implemented across the continuum with inpatient 
services supported by a Medical Superintendent.

Community health services include aged care 
assessment team, sexual health, chronic disease 
management, diabetes education, mental health, 
alcohol and drug service, school health, child and 
youth health, women’s health, palliative care, 
physiotherapy, dietician, and optometry services. 
The Central and North West Medicare Local also 
provides allied health services and diabetes 
education services.

Common episodes of care include: general injuries, 
cellulitis, digestive system disorders, chest pain, 
otitis media and upper respiratory infections – and 
also abdominal pain, chronic obstructive airwave 
disease, respiratory infections and antenatal and 
other obstetric care.  

Cloncurry Shire
Cloncurry Multipurpose 
Health Service (MPHS)

120km east of Mount Isa

766km east of Townsville

1708km north west of Brisbane

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• Catherine Jurd awarded 2014 Council of Remote 

Area Nurses of Australia Nurse of the Year.
• Keith Douglas (Snr) Memorial Aged Care Annexe 

awarded Community Spirit Mayor’s Award 2015 
Australia Day Award.

• Introduction of weekly case management 
meetings, combined with successful 
implementation of a new discharge planning 
service and clinical handover protocols.

• Ongoing roll out of maternal and child health 
home visiting services, following recent baby 
boom in the Cloncurry region. 

• Realignment of workforce to further support 
aged care provision. Outreach inpatient and 
outpatient physiotherapy services have also 
commenced on a one day a week basis.

• Increased efficiencies for staff introduced 
by relocation of central clinical stores. A 
new Archives building has also enabled the 
integration of facility file management systems.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Revised models of staffing and care to 

further strengthen partnerships between 
health agencies and improve access to acute 
physiotherapy and other allied health services, 
telehealth, radiography and dentist services. 

• Appointment a clinical facilitator to support 
ongoing learning and professional development  
and a Telehealth/Pharmacy nurse to further 
facilitate clinical telehealth services.

Celebrating International Nurses Day, Cloncurry MPHS
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Dajarra is located south of Mount Isa, 
towards Boulia, and was once a major 
railhead for the cattle industry, providing 
a connection to the ports and markets of 
the east coast of Australia. More recently, 
opportunities for local employment have 
come with the development of a nearby 
phosphate mine and fertilizer production 
plant. The area has a rich Aboriginal 
heritage and is home to tribes from 
around the Diamantina River, the Gulf of 
Carpentaria and the Northern Territory. 
Approximately 450 people live in the area. 
The Traditional Owners of the Dajarra area 
are the Yulluna people. 

Dajarra is a primary health care clinic staffed by one 
nurse practitioner supported by a clinic nurse and 
one trainee Aboriginal health worker. Clinic services 
operate Monday to Friday, with emergency on call 
and hospital based ambulance services available 
24 hours a day, 7 days per week. 

Services include primary health care and chronic 
disease management, antenatal and postnatal care, 
home visiting, point of care pathology testing, short 
stay observation of less than four hours, community 
health promotion and prevention programs and 
coordination of visiting services.

Visiting services include women’s health, alcohol 
and drug, surgical clinic, Deadly Ears and cardiology 
outreach services. The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
provides general practitioner, child health, women’s 
health and emergency retrieval and clinical support 
services. The Central and North West Queensland 
Medicare Local also provides a range of allied 
health services and diabetes education.

Cloncurry Shire
Dajarra Primary  
Health Clinic

150km south of Mount Isa 

1950km north west of Brisbane

Common episodes of care include: subcutaneous 
skin, respiratory infection, digestive system 
disorder, general injuries – including head injury 
and poisoning/toxic effects of drugs.

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• High rates of medicare claiming, ensuring 

more people are receiving required care and 
that families are receiving appropriate benefit 
support.

• A program of school health promotion activity, 
including a visit to the Clinic by local children.

• Roll out of an extended chronic disease and 
healthy skin programs to the local community.

• Introduction of Webster pack medication 
systems, making it easier for patients and 
carers to manage medication. 

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Roll out of the Communicare electronic medical 

records system, providing a streamlined 
and comprehensive electronic record for our 
patients regardless of where they receive care.

• Increased chronic disease management and 
point of care testing, resulting in an increase in 
adult health checks. 

Dajarra township
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Julia Creek is a cattle and sheep grazing 
area located on the Flinders Highway, 
one of the most important interstate 
road routes in Australia. The major 
administrative and business centre of the 
shire, the town also supports silver, lead 
and zinc mining. Julia Creek also sits above 
the Great Artesian Basin which provides a 
flowing bore of heated water to the centre 
of town. McKinlay Shire has a population of 
approximately 1050 people. The Traditional 
Owners of the area are the Mitakoodi 
people.

The McKinlay Multipurpose Health Service has ten 
acute inpatient beds, providing emergency service 
resuscitation and stabilisation prior to referral to 
the secondary or tertiary hospital, general practice 
clinics and, pathology sample collection and basic 
radiography services. There are also two residential 
aged care beds with capability of expanding to seven 
beds if required, as well as one palliative care bed.

A range of visiting services are provided for local 
communities, including: mental health, dietetics, 
podiatry, speech therapy, on-site physiotherapy and 
basic pharmacy, optometry, oral health, antenatal 
and postnatal care, child health and surgical 
services.

Common episodes of care include: cardiac and 
respiratory disorders, musculoskeletal disorders, 
infectious diseases, nervous system disorders and 
also injuries, poisoning and toxic effects of drugs.

McKinlay Shire 
McKinlay Shire 
Multipurpose Health 
Service (MPHS)

260km east of Mount Isa 

650km west of Townsville

1633km north west of Brisbane 

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• Kitchen upgraded with modern facilities to 

better support the nutritional requirements of 
residents and patients.

• Interim service provision commenced January 
2014 providing McKinlay Township an outreach 
nurse clinic 5 days per week.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Continue to work closely with the local 

community and our active community advisory 
network and health advisory panel in steering 
the future direction of local health services.

• Formalise the local model of care by further 
engaging with current health service providers 
and our local communities to develop 
additional Home and Community Care 
partnerships and an annual visit plan to support 
services with nursing resources where required. 

• Further staff training and support – 
administration, governance and financial 
– to support outreach and local positional 
requirements.

• Recruitment of Clinical Nurse Consultant at 
McKinlay Township and continued service 
provision to clients requiring home visitation for 
dressings and health checks. 

• Partnership agreement with McKinlay Shire 
Council to employ a Community Nurse position 
in Julia Creek, providing clients requiring home 
visits and health checks five days per week.

Our staff, Mckinlay Shire MPHS
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Burketown is located on the Albert 
River about 25 kilometres from the Gulf 
of Carpentaria in the heart of the Gulf 
country.   Located in a remote setting, 
road access to Mount Isa and Cloncurry 
is restricted during wet season closures, 
although an all-weather airport provides 
regular scheduled services to Mount Isa 
and Cairns. Approximately 515 people live 
in Burketown and the surrounding areas.  
The Traditional Owners of the area are the 
Waanyi people. 

Burketown Primary Health Centre is a Level 1 –Tier 2 
facility under the Rural and Remote Clinical Services 
Capability Framework. The service provides a low 
risk ambulatory care service only, predominately 
delivered by a Registered Nurse in an isolated 
setting. 

The service also provides outpatient, chronic 
disease management and stabilisation of acute care 
patients prior to evacuation to a higher-level facility. 
A visiting medical officer provides a weekly medical 
clinic. Other services include outpatient pharmacy, 
point of care pathology testing and co-ordination of 
visiting medical and allied health services.

There are no local inpatient or dental facilities 
available and patients requiring more complex care 
are transferred to either Mount Isa or Townsville, 
depending on clinical need. During the reporting 
period, there were 1413 emergency presentations 
and 39 evacuations. 

Common episodes of care include: chronic disease 
monitoring, emergency care and stabilisation prior 
to evacuation by the Royal Flying Doctor Service – in 
addition to cellulitis, abdominal pain and digestive 
system disorder.

Burke Shire 
Burketown Primary 
Health Clinic

418km north of Mount Isa 

2174 north west of Brisbane 

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• Increasing engagement and community health 

check-ups, ensuring persons are aware of their 
own health profile.

• North West Hospital and Health Board held its 
April 2014 meeting in Burketown, enabling the 
Board to tour facilities and meet with staff, the 
public and community groups to discuss local 
health issues. 

• Well regarded Telehealth service provided by 
the Royal Flying Doctor Service. 

• 100% childhood vaccinations achieved.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Improved patient experience and staff efficiency 

by continuing utilisation in Telehealth and roll 
out of Communicare application.

• An increase in staffing, including introduction 
of a new Aboriginal Health Worker to implement 
school, aged care and primary health 
programmes.

• Submission of application for supplying 
Remote Aboriginal Health Program essential 
medicines under section 100 of the National 
Health Act 1953.

Visit by the North West Hospital and Health Board, April 2015
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Camooweal is a country town of 
approximately 200 people situated 13 
kilometres from the Northern Territory 
border. Established in 1884 as a service 
centre for surrounding cattle properties, 
Camooweal marks the furthest tip of 
Mount Isa City Council catchment and last 
petrol stop for people travelling into the 
Northern Territory for about 300 kilometres. 
The Indjalandji-Dhidhanu people are 
recognised as the traditional custodians of 
the lands around Camooweal. 

Camooweal Primary Health Clinic is a nurse led 
facility providing short term inpatient observation 
beds, domiciliary nursing services, child health 
services and emergency services with stabilisation 
capacity prior to transfer to a referral hospital.

The clinic also coordinates visiting services from 
public sector and non-government health service 
providers. Allied health services are provided by 
the Central and North West Queensland Medicare 
Local. The Royal Flying Doctor Service also provides 
a general practice clinic once a week.

Common episodes of care include: cardiology, 
immunology and infections and neurology – in 
addition to orthopaedics, urology, respiratory, 
gynaecology and non-subspecialty surgery and 
medicine.

Mount Isa City 
Camooweal Primary 
Health Clinic

188km from Mount Isa

330km south of Burketown

2019km north west of Brisbane

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• Hosted and supported a Psych Aware Workshop 

– “Recognising and Supporting people in 
Crisis” – to promote skills for local communities 
to support each other. 

• Introduction of outreach rural pharmacist to 
provide support for audit mechanisms including 
review of stock limits. 

• Increased sexual health promotion with 
implementation of free condom vending 
machine. 

• Improved case management of chronic and 
complex conditions through increased case 
planning and conferencing, resulting in active 
management to limit episodes of acute pain. 

• High community engagement with post-acute 
home visiting program supported in home, 
where operational activity permits. 

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Further revised models of care to support 

clinic activity and satisfy relief and backfill 
opportunities. 

• Training and personal development for all staff. 
• Increased health surveillance for example, 

and subject to operational requirements 
and resources, by replicating the successful 
Camooweal school “Healthy Skin” initiative by 
establishing a similar program for the wider 
community. 

• Revised discharge protocols and information 
sharing to enhance continuity of care and 
resource planning for our patients returning 
home having received care in referral settings. 
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The community of Urandangi is located in 
the local government area of Boulia Shire. 
Located on the banks of the Georgina 
River, the community has a population of 
around 20–30 permanent residents but 
can at times build up to between 50 and 
80. Urandangi is home to the Bularnu 
Waluwarra and Wangkayujuru people who 
are the Traditional owners of the area.

The community is mainly serviced by outreach 
services provided by the Central and North West 
Queensland Medicare Local and the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service, with a health team also traveling to 
Urandangi on a fortnightly basis. 

The team also provides transport to clients who 
have been discharged from Mount Isa Hospital or 
are required to attend appointments for Deadly 
Ears, breast screening, dental, outpatient clinics 
and other specialised appointments.

Common episodes of care include:

The clinic is open for walk in appointments on a 
fortnightly basis to provide complete health checks, 
follow up referrals from the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service and other basic observations.

Boulia Shire
Urandangie  
Health Clinic

187km south west of Mount Isa

295km from Boulia

2007km north west of Brisbane
Visit to Urandangie Health Clinic, February 2015

Key achievements during 2014–2015 include:
• Delivering and promoting healthy lifestyle 

messages to school students.
• Supporting diabetic clients with medication, 

education in use of diabetes monitoring, 
blood pressure, healthy lifestyle changes and 
specialist appointments.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• A visit from the health promotion team once a 

month.
• Delivery of ‘Jimmy Germ’ program in the school, 

to promote the importance of washing hands 
and blowing noses, and Healthy Skin resources 
for parents and teachers on scabies, boils and 
head lice.

• Gather resources that are Indigenous identified 
for community members to increase knowledge 
or awareness on a range of issues, including: 
diabetes, renal failure, heart disease, eye care, 
skin care, healthy eating, getting physical, 
alcohol and drugs, and services provided by 
government agencies.

• Awareness raising on certain topics for example 
during Heart Week, Mental Health Week, and 
NAIDOC.

• Development of a community garden, to be 
maintained by local permanent residences of 
the Urandangi community, including the local 
school children. The purpose of this initiative 
is to promote the importance of fresh fruit 
and vegetables and develop local skills and 
community self-esteem.
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Telehealth is central to our aim of service 
increasing community access to a wider 
range of specialist, public and private 
health services. Originally introduced 
in 2009, service provision continues 
to go from strength to strength with all 
North West Hospital and Health Service 
facilities now connected to 24/7 medical 
and nursing support for the advice and 
management of lower acuity emergency 
department patient care.

Utilising the telehealth model, small, rural and 
remote communities are provided an increasing 
range of general and specialist services, reducing 
disparities in service provision.  By providing care 
closer to home, the expansion of telehealth as 
an alternative service delivery model therefore 
has the potential to improve patient satisfaction, 
significantly reduce the personal and financial 
burden on consumers and reduce government 
funded health care related patient travel and 
accommodation costs.  

Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
• Successfully achieving the government’s Key 

Performance Indicator target for a 10 percent 
increase in activity during 2014–2015. This 
target was achieved in March 2015 – three 
months ahead of target – with our total year  
end activity demonstrating an increase of  
35 percent.

• Generated revenue of $713,000 and achieved 
travel and accommodation cost savings of  
$1.8 million by providing care closer to the 
patient’s home.

• Introduced regular antenatal, gynaecology 
and paediatric provider clinics as well as 
ad hoc dietetics, occupational therapy and 
physiotherapy services.

• Increased administrative support within the 
Telehealth Emergency Management Support Unit 
to meet the growing demand for our services. 

Telehealth Services

• Implemented a Memorandum of Understanding 
with the Department of Education and Training 
for the provision of speech and language 
therapies to children in remote areas.  This 
agreement is in support of a trial which aims 
to evaluate three different information and 
technology solutions to deliver services, and is 
expected to run until December 2015.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Expanded service provision and increased 

support for community health, allied health, 
the Royal Flying Doctor Service, primary 
care and other agencies in order  to improve 
responsiveness to our community’s needs. 

• Improved data collection and maximise 
Medicare claims for eligible clients. 

• Continue the development of telehealth specific 
procedures and work instructions. 

• Work in partnership with the state-wide 
network of Telehealth Coordinators to improve 
support networks, sharing of information and 
benchmarking data. 

• Further investigate and promote the Nurse-Led 
Clinic model of care and a model of care for 
intensive care ward rounds via telehealth.

• Development of an integrated Emergency 
Management model of care to improve 
outcomes for acutely ill patients in rural/remote 
environments.  

• Identify gaps and consider the potential for 
telehealth to further improve service capacity 
for the health service, providing additional 
support for our staff and a better quality of 
service for clients. 

The Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services 
visiting our telehealth hub, June 2015
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Our strategic direction

The North West Hospital and Health Service 
is committed to becoming Queensland’s 
leading Hospital and Health Service, 
exceeding the government’s expectations 
by delivering excellence in rural and remote 
healthcare for the individuals, families and 
communities of the North West region and 
becoming a proud employer of choice for  
our staff.

Through alignment of the North West Hospital and 
Health Service strategic priorities with the Department 
of Health Strategic Plan 2012–2016, we will work 
together with our partners and other stakeholders to 
achieve the following objectives of the Queensland 
Government:

• Creating jobs and a diverse economy
• Delivering quality frontline services
• Building safe, caring and connected communities
• Protecting the environment

We will do this by ensuring we adopt a life course 
perspective to future health and wellbeing and focus 
on integrated service delivery models. 

Fundamental to this are early intervention and 
prevention models of care, improved health equity and 
access to healthcare for the communities we serve in 
conjunction with a number of partners, which include:

• Aboriginal Health Services such as Gidgee 
Healing, a Mount Isa Aboriginal Community 
Controlled health Service

• The Flinders Medical Centre, Cloncurry, the Central 
North West Queensland Medicare Local and, from 
1 July 2015, the Western Queensland Primary Care 
Collaborative 

• Other outreach Allied Health and medical 
service providers, including the Deadly Ears and 
Indigenous Respiratory Outreach Care (IROC) 
programs

• The Royal Flying Doctor Service, which provides 
emergency evacuations and other primary health 
care services

• Queensland Ambulance Service and the 
Queensland Police Service

• CentraCare, Headspace and other charitable or not 
for profit enterprises

• Shire Councils including McKinlay Shire (Julia 
Creek), Boulia Shire (Urandangi) and Cloncurry 
Shire (Dajarra).

• Universities and other education providers, 
including Mount Isa Centre for Rural and Remote 
Health, hosted by James Cook University.

Our staff with Gidgee Healing colleagues,  
National Closing the Gap Day, March 2015

Our 2014 Mount Isa Health Expo partners

Our strategic direction is also underpinned by 
a number of national and state agreements, 
strategies and plans which include, but are not 
restricted to: 

National Partnership Agreement on Closing the Gap 
in Indigenous Health Outcomes

Closing the gap in life expectancy between 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and 
other Queenslanders by 2033, and halving the 
Indigenous child mortality gap by 2018 are key 
priority areas under the National Indigenous Reform 
Agreement (NIRA) and Making Tracks toward 
closing the gap in health outcomes for Indigenous 
Queenslanders by 2033: policy and accountability 
frameworks.

Queensland Health Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Cultural Capability Framework 2010–2033

The framework outlines the core principles of 
cultural respect and recognition, communication, 
relationships and partnerships, and capacity 
building which underpin our approach to delivering 
culturally responsive health services.
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Strategic Priority 1:  
Safe and high-quality service 
delivery  through continuous 
improvement

Objective

The North West Hospital and Health 
Service will be recognised as delivering 
best practice in contemporary health 
care services in remote locations.

Strategies

Build an organisational culture that is driven by 
safety, quality and innovation.

Embed robust governance systems to 
maximise performance, safety, quality and risk 
management.

Develop and action a North West Hospital and 
Health Service safety and quality plan to ensure 
provision of safe, timely and appropriate care.

Embed systems to ensure achievement of 
continuing accreditation against National EQuIP 
standards and all required service delivery key 
performance indicators.

Link organisation strategy and risk management 
to ensure the focus of risk management is 
creating and protecting value.

Performance indicators

Staff reporting of clinical and occupational 
health and safety incidents evidenced by 
PRIME, and occupational health and safety 
data, reported monthly.

Regular review of governance systems achieved 
through the North West Hospital and Health 
Service committee structure, overseen by 
executive reporting and North West Hospital 
and Health Board. 

Achievement of Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards (ACHS) accreditation 
by December 2015. Further embed staff 
recognition for achievements in safety, quality 
and innovation.

Queensland Plan for Mental Health 2007–2017

This plan seeks to facilitate access to a 
comprehensive, recovery oriented mental 
health system to improve mental health for all 
Queenslanders.

Queensland Mental Health, Drug and Alcohol 
Strategic Plan

Developed by the Queensland Mental Health 
Commission, this whole of government plan sets 
the vision to further establish a more integrated, 
evidence-based, recovery-oriented mental health 
and substance misuse system.

Queensland Health Disability Services Plan  
2014–2016

Sets actions to improve access and participation of 
people with disabilities across the system, including 
Queensland Health employees, people seeking 
employment, or people accessing health services 
provided by health care facilities.

Queensland Health Clinical Services Capability 
Framework 

Which specifies minimum support services, 
staff profile, safety standards and other service 
requirements for both public and provide sector 
health care providers.

Better health for the bush 

Developed by the Statewide Rural and Remote 
Clinical Network (SRRCN) to define clearer service 
capability standards and service expectations for 
rural and remote communities.

Strategic priorities
The Financial and Performance Management 
Standard 2009 requires the development and 
periodic review of a strategic plan to identify our 
key objectives and actions to be implemented 
to achieve them. Such planning also ensures 
our actions align with the government’s broader 
objectives for the community. 

Our key strategic priorities as at 30 June 2015  
– to be delivered during the 2015–2016 financial 
year – are as follows:
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Strategic Priority 2:  
Implement priority strategies  
to recruit and retain staff

Objective

The North West Hospital and Health 
Service will be regarded as an 
employer of choice for rural and remote 
healthcare.

Strategies

Through workforce planning and development 
meet the current and future workforce needs of 
the North West Hospital and Health Service

Enable staff to access training to enhance the 
North West Hospital and Health Service capacity 
to deliver expert rural and remote healthcare.

Enhance management and leadership capability 
at all levels of the organisation. 

Implement a communication strategy to ensure 
inclusive communication with all staff.

Create an environment that promotes and 
supports the values of promoting inclusive 
behaviour and respect for diversity.

Improve the standard of housing and 
accommodation available to recruit and retain 
staff.

Performance indicators

Recruitment and retention of staff evidenced by 
monthly human resource reporting to Clinical 
and Operational Risk Governance Committee, 
Executive Management Group and North West 
Hospital and Health Board. The Board Quality 
Safety and Risk Committee to review risks and 
mitigation strategies quarterly. 

90 per cent of line managers attend Line 
Manager training during 2015, with progress 
reported to Executive Management Group.

Multi-platform workforce engagement 
activities—e.g. staff satisfaction and 
accommodation surveys, workforce leaders 
group meetings and district consultative forums, 
with feedback considered and subsequent 
implementation strategies to be determined.

Strategic Priority 3:   
Deliver coordinated, integrated 
and sustainable services in the 
North West region

Objective

Sustainable improvements in our rates 
of avoidable admissions.

Strategies

Anticipate current and future demand through 
effective business planning.

Services are aligned to community health needs 
and changing environments, and are delivered 
in the most appropriate settings.

Develop seamless models of service delivery 
across the North West Hospital and Health 
Service.

Use reliable health service data to inform and 
improve health service delivery.

Work with our partners to ensure integrated 
delivery of contemporary healthcare and reduce 
duplication of services.

Develop innovative strategies to further engage 
with at-risk and vulnerable population groups.

Improve health literacy across the North 
West Hospital and Health Service to enable 
consumers and communities to be engaged in 
their own health.

Performance indicators

Consistent monitoring and analysis of data 
reported to the North West Hospital and Health 
Board and Executive Management Group to 
allow informed decision making.

Performing at or better than benchmark key 
performance indicators, including reduction 
of potentially preventable admissions (chronic 
condition, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander), improved measures of patient 
experience and increased number of non-
admitted telehealth events.
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Strategic Priority 4:  
Implementation of state and 
national health priorities  
to enhance and produce better 
health for the individual, family 
and community

Objective

Culturally appropriate and equitable 
healthcare will be accessible for all 
individuals, families and communities 
of the North West Hospital and Health 
Service.

Strategies

Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
health service providers and communities in the 
development and delivery of all health services.

Improve access to culturally appropriate 
services for the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander population.

Manage chronic conditions to reduce avoidable 
hospital admissions which will improve health 
status and quality of life.

Engage and partner with internal and external 
primary healthcare providers to ensure a focus 
on early intervention and prevention i.e. early 
years.

Performance indicators

Community Advisory Networks to provide 
community input and direction for local health 
needs.

The North West Hospital and Health Service 
Cultural Advisor will provide leadership for the 
development and implementation of a local 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander plan.

Potentially preventable hospital admissions and 
other key performance indicators, monitored by 
North West Hospital and Health Board.

Strategic Priority 5:  
A financially accountable and 
responsible Hospital and Health 
Service

Objective

The delivery of contemporary safe, 
quality healthcare to meet the needs of 
the community in a remote location in a 
cost effective manner.

Strategies

Deliver health services that are informed 
through service level agreement negotiation.

Develop a financially sustainable organisation 
and a culture of accountability.

Review systems and develop innovative 
business practices in order to eliminate waste 
and achieve efficiencies.

Optimise current and planned infrastructure to 
ensure effective and efficient usage. Advocate 
for future infrastructure requirements to support 
business development.

North West Hospital and Health Service 
manages assets proactively through the 
development of a strategic asset and 
maintenance plan.

Performance indicators

North West Hospital and Health Service to 
deliver a balanced budget. 

Cost centre managers participate in the 
management of their budget.

Development of capital investment plan and 
strategic asset management plan. 
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Strategic risks and opportunities
The ongoing effective management of the following 
core risk areas is central to ensuring that high 
quality health services continue to be delivered to 
the people we serve across the North West Hospital 
and Health Service.

1. Recruitment and Retention
• We will continue to facilitate partnerships with 

tertiary facilities to enhance our position as 
the leader in rural generalist training across 
Medical, Nursing and Allied Health disciplines.

2. Risks to the management of the health 
status of our communities due to the 
misalignment of primary and acute 
health care funding across state and 
commonwealth responsibilities  

• We will continue to raise awareness and 
support ongoing collaboration between State 
and Commonwealth governments in the 
planning of health care service delivery across 
all spectrums of primary, aged and acute care.  
From 1 July 2015, this  will also include strong 
partnerships with the incoming Primary Health 
Network.

3. Transition of infrastructure and associated 
asset management costs

• Based on uncertainties of liabilities, a transfer 
of land and building assets without adequate 
supporting funding from the Department of 
Health to the North West Hospital and Health 
Service on 1 July 2015 places a significant 
forward financial risk which will be monitored by 
the Hospital and Health Board.

4. Meeting community expectations for care 
in remote locations with finite resources, 
including health care provision in remote 
settings, including Indigenous committees

• Ongoing community engagement with review of 
models of care to align with contemporary and 
innovative best practice for remote locations. 
For instance, we will continue to improve access 
to telehealth services and develop new models 
of care provision to ensure care is provided in 
appropriate settings closer to home.

 During the reporting period, the following 
additional issues of note relating to our day to 
day operations and partnerships also occurred:

• Following a competitive tender process, 
managed by the Commonwealth Government, 
Home and Community Care services previously 
provided to local residents by the North West 
Hospital and Health Service transitioned to local 
community providers on 1 July 2014. 

 In the lead up to this transition, Community and 
Primary Health Care staff worked closely with 
the incoming provider to ensure a seamless 
handover for clients and the dedicated staff 
involved in their care.

• In March 2015, the North West Hospital and 
Health Service, together with the neighbouring 
Central West and South West Hospital and 
Health Services, were awarded the contract 
to establish a new Primary Health Network for 
Western Queensland. Primary Health Networks 
are a new model of administering primary 
health care, introduced by the Commonwealth 
Government to take on the coordination role 
performed by Medicare Locals. 

 The collaborating services will form a separate 
company, the Western Queensland Primary 
Care Collaborative Pty Ltd, to coordinate primary 
health care across the region. 

 In May 2015, the North West Hospital and 
Health Service Chief Financial Officer, Mr Brett 
Oates, was seconded to the function of Interim 
Chief Executive of the Collaborative.

 Respective Hospital and Health Board Chairs, 
Mr Lindsay Godfrey (South West), Mr Ed Warren 
(Central West) and Mr Paul Woodhouse (North 
West) were subsequently confirmed as the 
initial and founding Board Directors. Final Board 
membership is expected to be expanded during 
financial year 2015–2016 to ensure a balanced 
skill mix of experience and clinical expertise.

Service areas and standards
A service agreement between the Department of 
Health and the North West Hospital and Health 
Service defines the health services, teaching, 
research and other services that are to be provided 
and the associated funding for the delivery of these 
services. It also defines the outcomes that are to be 
met and how its performance will be measured.

The current service agreement covers the period 
from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2016. During the 
reporting period, a number of changes relating to 
funding, activity, and key performance indicators 
were agreed with the Department of Health in July 
2014, November 2014, April 2015 and May 2015. 
Our ongoing performance against a range of key 
effectiveness and efficiency are as follows:
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Performance statement:  
North West Hospital and Health Service 2014–2015

2014–2015
Commentary

Target / Estimate Estimate / Actual

Effectiveness measures

Patients attending 
emergency departments 
seen within recommended 
timeframes1

Category 1 (2 minutes) 100% 100%

The North West Hospital and Health 
Service has achieved the required level 
of service against each of the required 
categories

Category 2 (10 minutes) 80% 97.9%

Category 3 (30 minutes) 75% 89.4%

Category 4 (60 minutes) 70% 82.7%

Category 5 (120 minutes) 70% 91.8%

Emergency department 
attendances departing within 
four hours1

90% 89.1% The North West Hospital and Health 
Service will continue to ensure patients 
are treated as quickly as possible, in 
accordance with clinical need

Median wait time for 
treatment in emergency 
departments1

20 minutes 18 minutes

Elective surgery patients 
treated within clinically 
recommended times1

Category 1 (30 days) 98% 91.1% The North West Hospital and Health 
Service will continue to ensure patients 
are treated as quickly as possible, in 
accordance with clinical need

Category 2 (90 days) 95% 92.4%

Category 3 (365 days) 95% 94.6%

Rate of healthcare 
associated Staphylococcus 
aureus (including MRSA) 
bloodstream (SAB) infections

Less than 2.0 patients per 10,000 
acute public hospital patient days

0.0
The North West Hospital and Health 
Service has achieved the required 
minimum rate

Specialist outpatients 
waiting within clinically 
recommended times2

Category 1 (30 days) 28% 44%
The North West Hospital and Health 
Service has achieved the required levels 
of service

Category 2 (90 days) 39% 81%

Category 3 (365 days) 90% 93%

Median wait time for elective 
surgery3 25 days 33 days

Further steps are being initiated during 
2015–2016 to reduce the average 
waiting time, which is currently eight 
days higher than the target for financial 
year 2015–2016

Efficiency measures

Average cost per weighted 
activity unit for Activity 
Based Funding facilities4,5

$5444 $5878

Due in part to costs attributed to 
remoteness of the Mount Isa Hospital – 
and decreased levels of admissions or 
lengths of stay, successfully achieved 
as a direct result of increased activity in 
our other facilities – the average cost is 
currently $434 higher

Total weighted activity 
units4,6 17,704 18,848

The North West Hospital and Health Service 
has achieved the required total levels of 
service, particularly in relation to acute 
inpatient, sub-acute, mental health and 
emergency department presentations

Other measures

Ambulatory mental health 
service contact duration

Minimum of 6447 hours 6293 hours

Commencement of a new mental health 
acute care service during 2014–2015 will 
support increased services to the community 
and contribute towards the target of over 
7223 service hours during financial year 
2015–2016

Source: 2015–2016 Queensland State Budget – Service Delivery Statements – North West Hospital and Health Service, July 2015
Notes:
1. Estimated/Actual figures are provided from 10 months of actual performance from 1 July 2014 to 30 April 2015. 
2. Estimated/Actual figures are provided using actual performance as at 1 April 2015. 
3. Estimated/Actual figures are provided from 11 months of actual performance from 1 July 2014 to 31 May 2015. 
4. The 2014–15 Target/Estimate published in the 2014–2015 Service Delivery Statements has been recalculated based on the ABF 

model Q18 and further updated to enable future comparison with 2015–2016 Target/Estimated figures.
5. The determination of the cost (funding) has been based on the revised Final Offers (V14) finance and activity schedules of the 

2015–2016 Service Agreements.
6. The weighted Activity Units are as per the original Final Offers (V13) finance and activity schedules of the 2015–2016 Service 

Agreements.
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Financial performance summary 
2014–2015
Total revenue received by the North West 
Hospital and Health Service for 2014–2015 
increased by $2.282 million to $148.611 
million. Final total expenditure for 2014-
2015 was $150.559 million, resulting 
in an operational loss of $1.948 million 
– equivalent to 1.3 per cent of our total 
revenue – compared to a surplus of $0.249 
million for the previous financial year.

Finances were expended largely as per expectation 
throughout the financial year. A strong result was 
demonstrated in the achievement of the activity 
targets with a projected 106.5 per cent combined 
achievement of activity in activity-based and 
block funding targets as a result of delivering an 
additional 1,144 weighted activity units during 
the reporting period. However, a negative funding 
adjustment was also applied due to the Mount Isa 
Hospital not meeting the purchased activity under 
the Activity Based Funding model.  

Expenditure is further itemised in the Financial 
Statements provided at the end of this Annual 
Report. Income derived from user charges and fees 
and other revenue increased by $3.145 million in 
comparison to the previous financial year. However 
this was partially due to the Department of Health’s 
decision to change the accounting treatment of 
funding inflows for the service, moving it into user 
charges rather than grants and other contributions 
which saw a reduction with total payments received 
decreasing by $1.075 million.

Cost pressures upon the service continue to be 
those associated with the provision of a health 
service in a large remote region, with issues of 
specialist recruitment, short term medical specialist 
placements and contracted nursing services.

Staffing and related costs, including contract 
employees, account for 51.4 per cent of total 
expenditure, with clinical positions comprising 58 
percent of the total of our 664 staff.

Proportion of total expenditure 2014–2015

51%
Employee
expenses

5% 
Depreciation 
and amortisation

Other expenses 2%
42%
Supplies
and services

Reflective of the wide spread of residents across the 
North West region, patient travel is by far the largest 
component of non-salary expenditure. This however 
has remained relatively stable, totalling almost  
25 per cent of non-salary costs. 

Other costs associated with remoteness including 
staff and patient travel, support service staff, and 
minimum staffing models in outlying areas continue 
to provide budgetary challenges. The introduction of 
full time medical employees in our remote settings, 
further innovations in service delivery models and 
greater financial rigour as a key component of the 
decision making process will see continued success 
in the management of these costs.

Non-salary expenditure 2014–2015

24%
Consultancies,
including
contract labour 

Patient travel 24%

 8% Repairs &
maintenance

5%
Pathology, blood

supplies & services

7% Operating
lease rentals 

Other 15%

4%
Other travel

4%
Clinical supplies & services 

4%
Communications

5% Drugs 

In November 2014, the Queensland Audit Office 
published Report 5: 2014–15 Results of Audit 
Hospital and Health Service Entities 2013–14. 
This report provided an overview of financial 
administration and reporting issues of the then  
17 Hospital and Health Services across Queensland.

Although no specific recommendations relating to 
the North West Hospital and Health Service were 
made, general recommendations and observations 
have been taken into account.

The Queensland Audit Office have subsequently 
delivered – for the third successive year – an 
unqualified audit of our financial statements for 
financial year 2014–2015, provided from page  
61 of this report.

Open data 
Additional annual report disclosures – relating 
to expenditure on consultancy, overseas travel, 
implementation of the Queensland Language 
Services Policy and Government Bodies – are 
published on the Queensland government’s open 
data website, available via: www.data.qld.gov.au
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Governance:  
management and structure
In accordance with the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, the North West Hospital 
and Health Board is accountable to the local community and the Minister for Health and 
Minister for Ambulance Services for the services provided by the North West Hospital and 
Health Service.

A Health Service Chief Executive is employed by and is solely accountable to the Board for ensuring patient 
safety through the effective executive leadership and day to day operational management of all local hospital 
and health services, as well as any applicable support functions.

Central to achieving and moving beyond sustainable high quality health care is efficient and effective 
governance. A key deliverable of during the reporting period was the publication of the Clinical and Operational 
Governance Framework 2015–2017 to drive behaviours – both individual and as a whole organisation – that 
lead to better patient care, the well-being of staff, the environment and also all who visit our health service.

Our organisation structure as at 30 June 2015 is as follows:

Manager, Office of the Chief Executive 
Executive Support Officers to:

• Chief Executive 
• Executive Director, People & Performance

• Chief Operating Officer
• Chief Finance Officer

Health Service Chief Executive 
North West Hospital and Health Service

North West Hospital and Health Board

Mount Isa Hospital
• Director of Nursing
• Assistant Director 

of Nursing
• Nursing staff 

within all wards 
of the Mount Isa 
Hospital

Nursing Services at
• Burketown Health 

Service
• Camooweal 

Health Service
•  Cloncurry 

Hospital
• Dajarra Health 

Service 
• Doomadgee 

Hospital
• Julia Creek 

Hospital
• Karumba Health 

Centre
• Mornington Is. 

Hospital
• Normanton 

Hospital

Nurse Educators

Nursing Research 
Officer

Discharge Planner

Diabetes Education

Programs Support 
Officer

Nursing Finance 
Officer

HR Nursing Support 
Officer

Executive Support 
Officer

Director of 
Community  
and Primary 
Health Care

Community 
Services  

provided by:
• Aged Care 

Assessment 
Team 

• Child Health
• Chronic Disease 

Coord
• Indigenous 

Child Health
• Outreach  

Dietician 
• Sexual Health
• School Based 

Youth Health 
Nursing

• Women’s Health 
Nurse

• Community 
Medicine

Services provided 
by Community 

Health Teams at:
• Mount Isa
• Burketown
• Camooweal
• Cloncurry
• Dajarra
• Doomadgee
• Mornington  

Island
• Normanton

Support Services 
provided by:

• Chronic Disease 
CNC

• Child Protection 
Unit

Manager Business 
Services

• Clinical Support 
Services

• Operational 
Services

• Travel 
Department

Manager Building 
Engineering and 

Maintenance 
Services

• HHS Wide 
Facility 
Maintenance

• Grounds person
• New Work 

management

Manager  
Asset Services

• HHS Wide Asset 
Management

• Procurement
• Management 

Staff 
Accommodation

Capital 
Infrastructure

Information 
Management

QFleet 
Management

Disaster 
Management

Administration 
Legal Services

Administration 
Contract/SLA/MoU

Director 
HR Services

• Human 
Resources

 Staff within 
the Human 
Resource 
Department 

• Occupational 
Health and 
Safety

 Staff within the 
Occupational 
Health 
and Safety 
Department 

• Learning and 
Development 
Unit

Director, 
Continuous 

Improvement & 
Innovation Unit 

(CIIU)
• Staff within the 

Continuous 
Improvement 
and Innovation 
Unit  

Patient Liaison 
Officer

North West 
Hospital and 

Health Service 
Cultural Advisor 

Finance 
Staff within 
Finance 
Department

Medical Services 
provided at  

Mt Isa Hospital
Doctors/
Directors:
• Anaesthetics
• Emergency
• Medicine:
• Obs & Gynae
• Paediatrics
• Surgery
• Palliative 

Care/ED
• Psychiatry

Medical Services 
provided at

• Cloncurry
• Doomadgee 
• Julia Creek
• Mornington 

Island
• Normanton 

Medical 
Workforce Unit
• Manager, Med 

Workforce
• Medical 

Educator
• Senior Med 

Workforce 
Officer

• Med 
Workforce 
Officer

• Executive 
Support 
Officer (EDMS)

• Librarian 

Oral Health 
Services
• Staff within 

Oral Health 
Department

Director Mental 
Health & ATODS

Director Mental 
Health & ATODS

Adult Mental 
Health Service 

• Staff within 
Mental Health 
Unit

Homeless 
Health Outreach 

Team (HHOT) 
• Staff within 

Homeless 
Health 
Outreach 
Team

Team Leader 
Child and Youth 
Mental Health

• Staff within 
Child & Youth 
Mental Health 
Unit

Alcohol, Tobacco 
and Other Drugs 

Services
• Staff within 

ATODS Unit

Support Officer 
to the Director 
of Mental Health 
& ATODS

Director Allied 
Health Services

Director of 
Physiotherapy

• Staff within 
Physiotherapy 
Department

Occupational 
Therapist

• Staff within 
Occupational 
Therapy  
Department

Podiatrist
• Staff within 

Podiatry  
Department

Speech Therapist
• Staff within 

Speech Therapy 
Department

Social Work
• Staff within 

Social Work 
Department

Dietician
• Staff within 

Dietetics 
Department

• Staff within 
Dietetics Unit

Director of 
Pharmacy

• Staff within 
Pharmacy 
Department

Support Officer 
to the Director of 

Allied Health

Executive Director of Medical Services Executive Director of Nursing
Chief  

Operating Officer
Chief  

Finance Officer

Executive Director, 
People and 

Performance
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Our Board
Under the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, the Hospital and Health Board must consist of five or more 
members appointed by the Governor in Council for a term of up to four years. 

Collectively, the Board serves to strengthen local decision-making and accountability by promoting local 
consumer, community and clinician engagemen and setting the local health system planning and coordination 
agenda, including financial management and oversight.

The North West Hospital and Health Board met on 12 occasions during the reporting period.  
As at June 30 2015, membership comprised:

Paul Woodhouse 
Chair

A primary producer, Paul has been involved with a number of local and regional bodies 
across North and North West Queensland, over several years.

After more than 12 years in Local Government, including eight years as Mayor of McKinlay 
Shire, Paul is presently serving as Chairman of Regional Development Australia for the 
Townsville and North West region.

He is also currently a Member of the Northern Australia Health Roundtable, as well as a 
Member of the CSIRO Land & Water Flagship Advisory Council.

Annie Clarke 
Deputy Chair  
(Chair Engagement 
Committee)

Annie has lived in the Gulf Country in northwest Queensland for more than 40 years. Annie 
has 18 years experience in local government, including 15 years as Mayor of Burke Shire. 

Annie has hands on experience in small business and economic development, roads and 
transport infrastructure, tourism and sports development, education and training, health 
and social issues, and disaster management. 

Annie is also currently a member of the Central and North West Queensland Medicare Local 
Board.

Dr Christopher Appleby 
Board member  
(Chair Business 
Development Committee)

Chris is co-owner and practice manager of Flinders Medical Group Pty Ltd in Cloncurry. The 
centre acts as the general practice primary healthcare facility in collaboration with the local 
council and hospital.

The practice employs seven general practitioners (GP) and has been an accredited GP 
training facility since 2006. The practice is affiliated with James Cook University and 
accommodates medical students and nursing students in collaboration with the Mount Isa 
Centre for Rural and Remote Health.

Chris has a Bachelor of Science (Honours) and a Doctor of Philosophy. He is an Adjunct 
Senior Lecturer at James Cook University and Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. Chris is currently completing a Masters of Business Administration part 
time through the University of Newcastle. 

Rowena McNally 
Board member  
(Chair Quality, Safety  
and Risk Committee)

Rowena is an experienced company director and corporate lawyer specialising in health, 
infrastructure, and corporate governance. She has previously held positions as Chair of the 
Quality and Risk Committees for Mount Olivet Hospital, St Vincent’s Hospital, and Holy Spirit 
Hospital.

Rowena is currently Chair of Mount Isa Water Board and Catholic Health Australia. She is 
National President of the Institute of Arbitrators and Mediators Australia, the country’s 
leading not-for-profit alternative dispute resolution organisation.

Previous board appointments include Chair of the Queensland Cerebral Palsy League of 
Queensland, Deputy Chair of Cerebral Palsy Australia, St Vincent’s and Holy Spirit Health 
Limited, Mount Olivet Hospital, Holy Spirit Hospital (Chermside), and St Vincent’s Hospital 
(Toowoomba).
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Richard Stevens OAM 
Board member  
(Chair Finance, Audit  
and Risk Management 
Committee)

Richard has more than 30 years experience in public sector administration across all tiers of 
government. Richard has expertise in corporate governance, natural resource management 
and economics.

Richard is currently Deputy Chair of the Australian Fisheries Management Authority 
(AFMA), an organisation responsible for the efficient and sustainable management of 
Commonwealth fish resources on behalf of the Australian community. Richard also chairs 
the New South Wales Ministerial Fishing Advisory Council, along with a number of natural 
resource management planning advisory groups around the country.

Previous board appointments include Chair of the South Australian Country Fire Service 
Board, member of the New South Wales Natural Resources Advisory Council, Board 
member of the Queensland Rural Adjustment Authority, non-executive Director of the 
Fisheries Research and Development Corporation, and Chair of the AFMA Finance and Audit 
Committee.

Karen (Kari) Arbouin 
Board member

Kari is an Associate Vice Chancellor for CQUniversity. Previously she worked for 11 years in 
senior management positions at James Cook University (JCU), including acting in the role 
of CEO for JCU’s Singapore campus. Kari was also involved in major business development 
projects for JCU including planning of the successful funding bid for the Cairns Research 
Institute.

Kari is a registered nurse and practising midwife. Whilst in the role of Director of Nursing 
at Julia Creek she led the hospital to becoming the first Australian Council on Healthcare 
Standards accredited hospital in north-west Queensland. She has also held the position 
of Director of Nursing at The Wesley Hospital in Townsville. Kari was awarded Julia Creek 
Hospital, Australia Day and Queensland Health awards for her service to the hospital and 
community.

Kari was a founding Board member for the James Cook University’s health practice, and 
Board Chair of the University’s child care facilities. She holds academic qualifications in 
health, business, law and public health. Kari is an international reviewer for universities 
in the United Kingdom and United Arab Emirates. She is also a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Management and Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Dr Don Bowley OAM 
Board Member

Don has been a medical officer with the Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS) for more than 
18 years and has been based at Mount Isa for the last 16 years. Don was a member of 
the Mount Isa District Health Community Council from 1999 to 2011. Don’s dedication, 
friendship, support and care of people living in the area’s remote townships, rural stations 
and Indigenous communities is legendary, and community members acknowledge him as 
“the best in the west”.

Don has made significant contributions to health service improvements through education, 
training and development. He has previously been Medical Student Supervisor at James 
Cook University (Mount Isa Centre for Rural and Remote Health) and Senior Lecturer 
(Professional), School of Public Health, Tropical Medicine and Rehabilitation Sciences at 
James Cook University.

Don’s community and professional contributions have been recognised over many years. 
In 2005 and 2011 Don received Mount Isa City Council Special Achievement awards for 
Outstanding Service to the City and Region. In 2009 Don received a Distinguished Service 
Award from the Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine and, in 2011, Don was the 
recipient of the Australian of the Year Queensland Local Hero Award.

Ron Page 
Board member

Ron is employed as a Recognised Entity Cultural Appropriate Officer with the Aboriginal and 
Islander Development Recreational Women Association. Ron has vast experience with the 
North West Indigenous community and a deep familiarity with the health issues affecting 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Ron previously worked as Program Manager, 
KASH Aboriginal Corporation in Mount Isa.

He also previously held the position of Chief Executive Officer at Yallambee Aboriginal 
Corporation. Ron is currently a Director of Gidgee Healing.
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Our Board Committees
The Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, and 
supporting Hospital and Health Regulation 2012, 
require Hospital and Health Boards to establish a 
range of prescribed committees relating to audit, 
safety and quality, finance and the executive 
management of the service. 

These committees do not replace or replicate 
executive management responsibilities 
and delegations, or the reporting lines and 
responsibilities of either internal audit or external 
audit functions. 

An additional Business Development Committee 
has also been established by the board to 
supplement the following three committees: 

Finance, Audit and Risk Management 
Committee 
The Finance, Audit and Risk Management 
Committee comprises the two prescribed 
committees relating to finance and audit.

The role of this combined committee is to provide 
independent assurance and assistance to the 
North West Hospital and Health Board on a range of 
matters regarding:

• Financial management of the North West 
Hospital and Health Service in accordance with 
its statutory and administrative obligations, 
including risk, control and compliance 
frameworks and other internal and external 
accountabilities. 

• Identification and implementation of 
efficiencies and innovation in the areas of 
finance, audit and risk management.

• Other relevant matters, as determined by the 
Board.

The Committee met on three occasions during the 
reporting period. 

Key activities and achievements for 2014–2015:

• Developed and made recommendations to 
the Board to adopt a financial delegations 
register relating to special purpose and trust 
funds, procurement, expenditure, contracts 
and agreements and other miscellaneous 
provisions.

• Monitored financial risks identified by the 
committee.

• Developed and implemented a new fraud 
procedure, including roll out of training to all 
staff.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, the Committee will:

• Continue monitoring expenditure against 
service agreement components, including the 
introduction of high level measures indicating 
achievement of targets, and review current 
processes for other revenue collection to ensure 
efficiency.

• Ongoing review of supporting ICT systems to 
ensure efficiency and effectiveness of financial 
and other reporting and decision making.

• Introduce enhanced strategic asset 
management processes by developing Strategic 
Asset Plan, Asset Management Plan and Capital 
Investment Plan.

Engagement Committee 
The Engagement Committee promotes effective 
relationships and communication with our 
consumers, communities and workforce across the 
North West by providing independent assurance 
and assistance to the North West Hospital and 
Health Board on a range of matters regarding:

• Continuation of effective relationships and 
partnerships with key internal and external 
stakeholders to facilitate and promote the goals 
and objectives of the North West Hospital and 
Health Service.

• Ensuring clear communication with North West 
communities.

• Development of the North West Hospital and 
Health Service Strategic Plan, organisation wide 
Engagement Plan and any other associated 
operational plans.

• Other relevant matters, as determined by the 
Board, in order to support local decision making 
and to drive innovation and flexibility to pursue 
local efficiencies.

The Committee met on five occasions during the 
reporting period. 

Key activities and achievements for 2014–2015:

• Development of effective channels for consumer 
and community engagement including delivery 
of the inaugural Mount Isa Health Expo in July 
2014 – attended by over 500 visitors over two 
days, accessing 31 exhibitors and 40 exhibits 
including interactive displays.

• Implementation of the North West Hospital 
and Health Service Workforce Leaders Group to 
embed a culture which fosters Board, Executive 
and staff circular communication, as well as 
enhancing the opportunities for improvement 
and innovation throughout the service.
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• A number of successful Board visits and local 
community engagement activity undertaken 
throughout the year, including ceremonial 
opening of the Cloncurry Multipurpose Health 
Service and aged care annexe.

• Members of the Executive Management Group 
have been delegated responsibility to ensure 
representation at local community events, 
where invited, and to serve as conduits 
between the community, the Hospital and 
Health Service and Board.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, the Committee will:

• Adopt the new Primary Health Network model 
and support effective community engagement 
with the new the Western Queensland Primary 
Care Collaborative. 

• Enhance valued advice from Indigenous 
members within our communities, with the 
assistance of a dedicated North West Hospital 
and Health Service Cultural Advisor. 

• Monitor and evaluate the effective engagement 
with the Workforce Leaders Group.

• Develop formal consumer representation and 
advisory assistance across the service.

• Building on the successes of the inaugural 
Mount Isa Health Expo, the Hospital and Health 
Service will deliver a second event in July 2015, 
rather than in 2016 as originally intended.

• We will also continue to seek further 
opportunities to ensure and promote effective 
two way engagement with our local communities 
and staff across the North West region.

Quality, Safety and Risk Committee 
The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee ensures the 
provision of effective governance frameworks across 
the North West Hospital and Health Service and 
promotes delivery of safe and quality clinical patient 
services.

The Committee also provides independent assurance 
and assistance to the North West Hospital and Health 
Board on a range of matters regarding:

• The identification and mitigation of risks 
for people receiving clinical care, including 
occupational health and safety risks for 
employees and others.

• Ensuring, in conjunction with the Board’s 
Finance, Audit and Risk Management 
Committee, that accurate and complete 
performance data is reported to the Board, 
external agencies and Government departments 
as required by the Board’s Service Agreement 
with the Queensland Government and as 
otherwise as required by legislation, funding 
instruments or benchmarking commitments. 

• Analysis and critique of the operational 
performance of our facilities with respect to 
quality, risk and safety indicators.

• Other relevant matters, as determined by 
the Board, in order to ensure a safe and 
efficient environment that continually fosters 
improvements to the wellbeing of both people 
who access our services and also our staff.

The Committee met on five occasions during the 
reporting period. 

Key activities and achievements for 2014–2015:

• Strategic Risk workshop resulting in a revised 
risk register for the service.

• North West Hospital and Health Service Clinical 
and Operational Governance Framework 
2014 – 2017 endorsed by the Board and 
communicated to all staff.

• Reviewed Committee reporting mechanisms to 
ensure increasing focus on matters relating to 
minimising preventable patient harm.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, the Committee will:

• Finalise a local Continuous Improvement 
Protocol for consideration by the Board. 

• Provide ongoing monitoring of all aspects 
of operational performance, including 
consideration of bi-annual quality improvement 
activity reports.

• Further develop governance processes for 
local research related activities and clinical 
education initiatives in relation to strategic 
direction and priorities.

Business Development Committee 
In order to optimise patient outcomes and improve 
financial sustainability, the Business Development 
Committee undertakes, from a business 
perspective, transparent and comprehensive 
assessment of the ongoing performance of our 
service divisions, in order to identify where a current 
activity may be altered to improve efficiency or 
service delivery.

The Committee met on five occasions during the 
reporting period and has worked closely with the 
North West Hospital and Health Service’s Clinical 
Operational Leadership Team (COLT) in order to 
scope and evaluate all areas of current activity 
within the service.  

Key activities and achievements for 2014–2015:

• Development of a rigorous method for the 
identification and prioritisation for a range of 
areas for review, subsequently delegated to 
the Clinical Operational Leadership Team to 
determine prioritisation and ranking of eligible 
projects for recommendation.
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Looking ahead for 2015–2016, the Committee will:

• Consider the Clinical Operational Leadership 
Team’s recommendations of projects for review.

• Working with identified staff and the Clinical 
Operational Leadership Team, prepare, progress 
and review business cases for presentation to the 
North West Hospital and Health Service Board for  
further consideration.

• Seeking input from relevant staff and service 
providers, the Committee will also continue 
to identify and consider further innovative 
opportunities that are consistent the strategic 
direction of the North West Hospital and Health 
Service.

Our Executive Management Group
The Health Service Chief Executive is responsible for 
the day to day operations of the North West Hospital 
and Health Service and oversees the Executive 
Management Group which delivers services against 
the strategic framework set by the Board. 

The Office of the Health Service Chief Executive 
provides central support, including media 
and communications advice to the Executive 
Management Group and the Hospital and Health 
Board.

To foster a culture of collaboration and cooperation 
between clinical business units, disciplines, 
divisions, and committees and ensuring consistency 
of practice and progression of organisation 
objectives where appropriate, a Clinical Operational 
Leadership Team (COLT) provides expert clinical, 
cultural and operational advice as requested by 
either the Executive Management Group or our 
Hospital and Health Board.

Representing a range of disciplines, business areas 
and facilities, the team members also serve as 
local conduits between local staff and the Business 
Development Committee.

The Executive Management Group met on 43 
occasions during the reporting period.  As at June 
30 2015, membership comprised:

Sue Belsham 
Health Service  
Chief Executive

Sue was appointed the inaugural Chief Executive Officer of the North West Hospital and 
Health Service in July 2012.  She has held chief executive positions previously in New Zealand 
including: Green Lane/National Women’s Hospital Auckland, West Coast District Health Board 
and at The Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Adelaide, South Australia.  In these roles Sue led 
major organisational change and was responsible for strategic thinking and direction setting, 
organisational development, budget realignment and cultural change.  

Sue has worked in consultancy roles with the Fijian Ministry of Health, Australian Department of 
Veteran Affairs, New South Wales Health Department, Justice Health New South Wales, Hunter 
New England Area Health Service, Queensland Health and BlueCare.  Sue has exceptionally well 
developed people skills, which, when coupled with her results-driven approach, ensures she 
delivers optimal performance outcomes.

Sue has experience in nursing and obstetric nursing roles in New Zealand. She holds a Bachelor 
of Education and has post graduate qualifications in business studies and health management. 
Sue is married with three children, seven grand-children and two boxer dogs who keep her busy 
but grounded. Sue holds:

• Bachelor of Arts (Education), Massey University, New Zealand
• Post Graduate Diploma in Business Studies (Massey University, New Zealand)
• Post Graduate Diploma in Health Management (Massey University, New Zealand)
• Registered Nurse and Obstetric Nurse (New Zealand)

Michelle Garner 
Executive Director  
of Nursing and 
Midwifery

Michelle has held the position of Executive Director of Nursing and Midwifery since 2008.

Michelle is an endorsed nurse practitioner, and has a special interest in advanced pathways for 
the nursing and midwifery professions. While in this role, Michelle has prioritised support and 
development of nurse practitioner roles in rural, remote and specialised areas of practice.

Michelle represents rural and remote nurses on state-wide committees and at strategic level 
forums. She is a member of the Department of Health’s Rural and Remote Clinical Network, and 
is a member of joint Department of Health and Queensland Nurses’ Union enterprise bargaining 
committees and working groups.

Michelle is also a member of the Queensland Nurses and Midwifery Executive Council, the 
Department of Health’s Executive Directors of Nursing and Midwifery Advisory Council and the 
Queensland Clinical Senate.

Michelle holds a Bachelor of Nursing, Graduate Diploma in Advanced Critical Care Nursing, and 
a Masters Nurse Practitioner. She is a Board Member of the Good Shepherd Catholic College in 
Mount Isa, and a Board Member of the Queensland Board of the Nursing and Midwifery Board of 
Australia.
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Associate Professor  
Alan Sandford 
Executive Director  
of Medical Services

Associate Professor Sandford, a Specialist Medical Administrator, is an experienced health 
executive and clinical consultant with over 26 years of executive health management experience. 
He commenced in the role of Executive Director of Medical Services in early 2014. Professor 
Sandford has held executive level management positions in a variety of health settings both in 
Australia and internationally.
Working with groups of senior clinicians to optimise engagement is a priority for Professor 
Sandford. In his work as a consultant he has focused on reformation of health workforce and 
medical administrative functionality within organisations. He was previously the head of Health 
Workforce for Victoria with the Department of Human Services. He also chaired  a number of 
Commonwealth committees in the area of medical workforce.
Professor Sandford has over 17 years’ experience as an Australian Council on Healthcare 
Standards (ACHS) surveyor. As an ACHS coordinating surveyor he contributed to the 
development of the current accreditation program used by the ACHS in both the public and 
private health sectors across Australia.
Professor Sandford is a Fellow of the Royal Australian College of Medical Administrators, and is 
currently the Censor in Chief. He holds postgraduate qualifications in health management. He 
is an Adjunct Associate Professor with the University of Queensland’s Rural Clinical School and 
Clinical Associate Professor with the University of Tasmania. Professor Sandford has also recently 
joined the academic programs with James Cook University and will soon be appointed Adjunct 
Associate Professor.

Barbara Davis 
Chief Operating Officer

Barb was appointed to the position of Director of Business Support in 2004 which subsequently 
became Executive Director of Corporate Services in 2007. In late 2014, the position was 
subsequently upgraded to Chief Operating Officer and Barb was successful in applying for this 
new position.  She has more than 37 years experience in nursing and administrative roles in a 
wide range of locations throughout Australia.
Barb represents the North West Hospital and Health Service on State-wide committees which 
include Chief Operating Officer Forum, Chief Information Officer Forum, and various State-wide 
specific project groups.
Barb is responsible for the dedicated team of staff who manage most non-clinical areas within 
North West Hospital and Health Service with particular emphasis on operational, administration, 
infrastructure, both maintenance and asset management and ICT. Team members are client 
focussed and provide high quality services that support health care delivery. Barb is a former 
registered nurse, neonatal intensive care nurse, and midwife. She holds a Bachelor of Health 
Science and a Masters of Health Management.

Lucy Dungavell 
Acting Chief Finance 
Officer

Lucy Dungavell was born and raised in North Queensland and has lived and worked in Mount Isa 
for the past 10 years. Whilst most of Lucy’s financial management experience comes from the 
private sector she has been working within the Finance Department of the North West Hospital 
and Health Service since 2012.
She commenced a Bachelor of Commerce straight out of high school, however she deferred her 
full time studies when she moved to Mount Isa and commenced her career managing various 
local business and continued to study part time via correspondence. 
Lucy has made Mount Isa her home and is passionate about the North West community. She 
has a family consisting of two boys. She is the treasurer of the Healy State School P & C and is a 
member of the Mount Isa Triathlon and Running Club.
She has enjoyed the opportunity to work in the role of Chief Finance Officer for the close of the 
financial year and is passionate about creating a sustainable health service for the North West.

Leigh Purvis 
Executive Director 
People and 
Performance

Leigh joined the North West Hospital and Health Service in August 2012 in the position of 
Nursing Director, Community and Primary Health Care (in an acting capacity).

She worked temporarily in the role of Executive Director Community and Primary Health Care 
and in a project role before being appointed to the position of Executive Director People and 
Performance in May 2014.

Leigh has more than 35 years experience in acute and community based health care settings 
in Queensland and South Australia. Her experience includes clinical and management roles in 
urban and rural settings. She has experience in statewide Indigenous health roles.

Leigh has particular interest in safety and quality management. Her priorities include ensuring 
health services focus on safety and quality while maintaining alignment across all domains 
including financial targets to ensure the right service is provided at the right time in the right 
place. Leigh also has specific interests in workforce development – particularly leadership 
development and ensuring sustainability of the workforce.
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The North West Hospital and Health Service 
has a responsibility, and an obligation 
to the communities we serve, to monitor 
and continually improve the quality of our 
health services. Overseen by the Health 
Service Chief Executive and relevant 
members of the Executive Management 
Group, specific internal controls ensure 
compliance with a range of statutory and 
other administrative planning, performance 
and reporting functions. 

These controls sit alongside the prescribed Hospital 
and Health Board committees and collectively 
ensure oversight of service delivery and the delivery 
of safe, efficient and effective quality of care.

A range of resources and support are available to 
service managers to ensure effective and efficient 
patient centric care can be delivered and regulatory 
standards met.

Accreditation
The North West Hospital and Health Service is 
committed to maintaining nationally recognised 
accreditation under the Australian Health Service 
Safety and Quality Accreditation Scheme. The 
service is evaluated on a continuous basis 
against ten clinical National Safety and Quality 
Health Service Standards and five EQuIP National 
Standards developed by the Australian Council 
on Healthcare Standards. Mental health services 
are assessed against both the national standards 
and the additional National Standards for Mental 
Health Services established by the Commonwealth 
government.

The North West Hospital and Health Service is 
currently fully accredited for the period 2011–2016. 
A self-assessment was initiated in March 2015 in 
advance of a full organisation wide accreditation 
survey scheduled for late November 2015. This 
review will ensure our policies, procedures and 
protocols, audits and other evidence – including 
action plans to remedy gaps identified during 
our self-assessment process of current systems – 
demonstrate our continued compliance with the 
EQuIP National Standards.

To further assist in these preparations, a mock survey 
focusing on Mount Isa, Doomadgee and Burketown 
facilities is scheduled to be held in July 2015. 
Feedback from this exercise will be incorporated into 
planning towards our formal assessment.

Safety and Quality Plan
Informed by the national quality standards, the 
North West Hospital and Health Service Safety and 
Quality Plan sets out evidence based improvement 
strategies and performance indicators that will drive 
development of an organisational culture that is 
driven by safety, quality and innovation. 

Risk management 
An integrated risk management framework has been 
promoted for implementation across all elements 
of the North West Hospital and Health Service 
operations.

Local risk management systems are incorporated 
into patient incident reporting, complaints 
management and policies, procedure development 
and Committee meetings.  Identified risks, along 
with proposed strategies to moderate any eventual 
occurrence, are rated and either managed locally or 
escalated for inclusion in the executive risk register.

Schedule of audit
A central audit schedule has been established 
to rationalise, avoid duplication and provide 
direction and oversight as to the audits that need 
to be undertaken within the North West Hospital 
and Health Service. A range of audits are currently 
registered relating to cancer care, maternity, general 
nursing, outpatients, single nurse sites and mental 
health, alcohol, tobacco and other drugs services.

Patient experience 
The North West Hospital and Health Service has a 
strong commitment to patient centred health care 
delivery and continual improvement. Knowing what 
our patients experience during their journey through 
our health services is a key component in ensuring 
we deliver high quality health care.

Feedback from people receiving services, and 
their carers, is therefore an important source from 
which we gain information about possible lapses in 
clinical care, and also to celebrate positive feedback 
of high quality performance, from a patients’ 
perspective.

During the reporting period we received 103 
complaints, identifying 203 issues, which mainly 
related to communication, access, treatment and 
facility management. 

Quality, safety and risk management 
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A total of 63 compliments were also submitted to 
the Health Service Chief Executive which broadly 
focused on matters relating to care, treatment and 
professionalism.

Both the number of complaints and compliments 
received has increased in comparison to the 2013–
2014 period. This may be due in part to increased 
active promotion of patient feedback by the service. 
It is noteworthy that whilst the total number of 
complaints increased by 48 percent in comparison 
to the previous year, the number of compliments 
received is higher, at 55 percent.

Although the total number received relates to 1.15 
percent of the total number of occasions of service 
provided to our community, we take every complaint 
seriously and seek to ensure similar issues will not 
reoccur.

For example, we continue to take steps to 
increase staff awareness of the importance of 
communication skills and effective sharing of 
information. Our staff are also encouraged to deal 
proactively with concerns as they arise so issues 
can be quickly resolved.

Patient safety 
Clinical Incident management is an essential 
component of a quality patient care system. A 
clinical incident is any event or circumstance 
which has actually, or could potentially, lead to 
unintended and/or unnecessary mental or physical 
harm to a patient. In order to ensure local and 
potentially state wide improvements to services, 
all staff are encouraged to report such incidents 
via the PRIME Clinical Incident database, including 
submitting suggestions as to how a similar issue 
might be avoided in the future.

During the reporting period, 810 clinical 
incidents were logged. Each clinical incident is 
tabled at a Weekly Incident Panel meeting which 
ensures that our clinical executive leads are 
aware of all incidents that occur. The panel also 
monitors for trends and themes in order to make 
recommendations to support line managers in the 
investigation of incidents, and ensure feedback 
loops are completed.

Of note, the North West Hospital and Health Service 
currently has a decreasing trend of logging clinical 
incidents. Additional education is being provided 
to all staff to encourage the continuing logging of 
incidents.

Ryan’s Rule 
Ryan’s Rule provides a three-step process that can 
be used by patients, families and carers to escalate 
their concerns when they feel that the patient’s 
condition is worsening or not improving. During the 
reporting period, a mandatory procedure has been 
embedded into all North West Hospital and Health 
Service facilities following a comprehensive training 
program rolled out to medical, nursing and other 
clinical staff.

A new bed side handover for all clinical domains 
has also been implemented that reflects unique 
clinical environments and patient factors which 
are tailored to fit environmental, clinical and 
client considerations. SHARED is the endorsed 
clinical handover framework for the minimum 
information requirements for clinical handover 
and communication regarding patient care. We 
are also continuing to champion Sharing and 
Caring – Yarning Circles at the Bedside, a culturally 
sensitive bedside handover project to reflect cultural 
requirements of confidential information sharing 
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients and 
families. 

Interpreter services 
To ensure our minimum expectation of effective 
communication, mandatory policies require North 
West Hospital and Health Service employees to 
engage an interpreter if the person receiving care 
is having trouble communicating or understanding 
English. 

Interpretation services, centrally provided by 
Queensland Health on a twenty four hours per day, 
seven day per week basis, also provide translation 
of any documents, follow up letters, treatment 
plans or other assistance that would enhance the 
treatment of the patient.

During the reporting period, 22 sessions of 
interpreter services were provided to 14 clients, 
with AUSLAN, Mandarin and Finnish being the most 
requested languages. 
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Infection prevention and  
control services 
A Clinical Nurse Consultant manages the North West 
Hospital and Health Service infection prevention 
and control program. Key activities include 
supporting strategies for prevention of healthcare 
associated infections, monitoring and reporting 
healthcare associated infections, coordination of 
workforce immunisation programs, and monitoring 
other key infection prevention strategies, such as 
hand hygiene compliance.

Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia (SAB) is a 
serious bloodstream infection that may be associated 
with hospital care. Hospitals aim to have as few 
cases as possible. The nationally agreed benchmark 
is no more than 2.0 SAB cases per 10,000 days of 
patient care for acute care public hospitals in each 
state and territory. During the reporting period, the 
number of healthcare associated SAB reported by the 
North West Hospital and Health Service, per 10,000 
patient days, was zero.

During the reporting period, a new Healthy Skin 
program was launched to deliver a primary care  
led community acquired Methicillin-resistant 
Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) program for 
Indigenous clients aimed at improving knowledge 
about healthy skin and reducing the incidence 
of conditions such as impetigo, pediculosis and 
scabies which can have significant mortality and 
morbidity rates among Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people.

A comprehensive immunisation program continues 
to be available to all staff of the North West Hospital 
and Health Service. Following an awareness raising 
campaign, approximately 400 staff received an 
annual vaccination against influenza, protecting 
their patients, themselves, their families and the 
community in general.

Hand hygiene compliance auditing is conducted by 
a network of ward and facility based auditors. Due 
to the environment, nature and demands of the 
work, continued awareness and reinforcement of 
the importance of the ‘five moments’ of good hand 
hygiene is challenging and the infection prevention 
team is always seeking new and innovative ways to 
improve compliance.  

As part of the implementation of a comprehensive 
hand hygiene framework, we are committed to 
assisting staff to improve compliance with the five 
moments for hand hygiene and ensuring ongoing 
improvements in the compliance rate.

Information systems and  
record keeping  
In accordance with the Information Privacy Act 
2009 all employees have specific responsibilities 
regarding security, confidentiality and management 
of records and other information accessible to them 
during the course of their work. 

Appropriately skilled staff remain responsible for 
the management of central information systems and 
record keeping. The medical records department 
is responsible for lifecycle management of clinical 
records, including audit. Staff are informed of audit 
results and involved in continuous improvement 
activities. 

Administration officers with responsibility for 
medical records complete mandatory training, 
and ongoing competency assessments continue 
to be undertaken to ensure all staff comply with 
record keeping requirements. Individual service 
areas manage non-clinical records. To assist in 
maintaining a high level of service written and 
electronic support resources are also available to 
staff at all times.

Medical records are currently tracked with the 
Hospital Based Corporate Information System 
(HBCIS) database. Clinical records are retained and 
disposed of in accordance with the Health Sector 
(Clinical Records) Retention and Disposal Schedule 
(QDAN 683) and public records in accordance with 
the Public Records Act 2002.
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Commencing March 2015, the 
health service began a roll out 
of the Communicare patient 
information software system to 
provide a more comprehensive 
electronic record for all North West 
patients. 

Following an evaluation of a range of different 
patient record software programs, the North 
West Hospital and Health Service became 
the first and largest public health service in 
Queensland to implement this application 
which will provide a single database for the 
entire patient experience, recording each 
presentation, admission, prescriptions and test 
results.

The database will also protect the privacy of 
medical information, with all our treating health 
partners requiring prior approval for access 
which will be specifically tailored for their 
clinical need.

Rollout to date for Sexual Health, Child Health 
and Chronic Disease teams over the period to 
30 June 2015 has been informative. The system 
functionality is allowing capture of new data – 
such as the transport module and health worker 
specific items. Allied Health rollout is underway 
and planning has commenced for introduction 
at Dajarra and Mornington Island with initial 
site visits planned throughout the May and June 
2015, after which Julia Creek and the single 
nurse stations will follow before progressing 
to Doomadgee, Normanton and Cloncurry 
hospitals.

As part of the progressive roll-out across the 
service, Communicare will run alongside 
multiple existing electronic and paper systems, 
but the use of separate older patient systems 
such as Medical Director, Ferret and SHIP will be 
phased out over time.

The multi-disciplinary implementation team has 
adjusted project timelines to allow for longer 
periods to customise and test at each site. This 
will minimise disruption to everyday functions 
for the new services coming on board during 
2015–2016.

Communicare
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Human resources

Our people
Commencing 1 July 2014, the North West Hospital 
and Health Service – along with seven other 
Queensland Hospital and Health Services – attained 
prescribed employer status, delegated powers from 
the Department of Health to become the direct 
employer of staff and assume legal responsibility for 
all of our employees. 

Significantly, the North West Hospital and Health 
Service was – and currently remains – the only 
rural and regional service in Queensland to achieve 
this status, which is testimony to the capacity and 
capability of our organisation and employees. 

All staff continue to be subject to relevant statewide 
enterprise bargaining agreements and awards and 
other standard Queensland Health employment 
terms and conditions. This ensures parity of working 
conditions throughout the state, prevent wage 
competition and support employment mobility 
across the state.

The transition to prescribed employer has allowed 
us to begin to develop meaningful solutions to 
better respond to our local staffing needs and 
support the operational requirements of client-
focused business units. 

The development of a Strategic Workforce Plan will 
be a key priority within the 2015–2016 financial 
year. This plan will allow the organisation to 
better quantify and visualise the service delivery 
expectations over the next five years along with 
facilitating better pro-active recruitment processes 
and further address the perennial attrition and 
external labour issues.

Scope of practice and credentialing  
of health professionals
The Mount Isa Hospital provides emergency, 
intensive care, maternity, paediatrics, surgical and 
medicine services. At the other end of the spectrum, 
Burketown Primary Health Care Centre – our most 
isolated remote centre – is managed by a single 
nurse, supported by a hospital based ambulance 
service. All facilities, and services provided, are 
staffed in accordance with the Department of 
Health’s Clinical Services Capability Framework 
which specifies minimum support services, staff 
profile, safety standards and other requirements for 
public health care providers. 

The scope of practice for all our health professionals 
continues to be established in accordance with the 
Department of Health’s credentialing and defining 
the scope of clinical practice policy. Our policies 
relating to the scope of practice and credentialing 
also remain consistent with relevant registration 
standards set by the respective National Boards 
of the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation 
Agency. 

Due to the size of the service area and the dispersed 
locations of facilities and communities we serve, 
recruitment and retention of adequately trained 
staff remains a continuing challenge. However, we 
are proud of the commitment and dedication of our 
staff, working in partnership with other providers, 
in overcoming significant daily challenges relating 
to distance, accessibility and other logistical 
obstacles.

Recognising the unique challenges such issues 
bring, significant efforts have been made to 
continue to promote the outback lifestyle, develop 
attractive training opportunities and to work with 
national bodies to gain the necessary accreditation 
to provide nationally recognised training in order to 
attract, and ultimately seek to retain, clinical staff 
across all disciplines. 

Recruitment and Retention of Senior and Junior 
Medical Officers is always a challenge. Medical 
workforce within the North West consists of 36.5 
approved Senior Medical Officer posts, 23 of which 
were recruited to as at 30 June 2015.

Additional resources have been committed to 
Medical Education and Medical Administration 
to support further accreditation, education and 
candidate care for medical officers. Continued 
steady improvements in the provision of facilities 
and training schemes have contributed to Mount Isa 
Hospital gaining accreditation to run a full medical 
intern training program, comparable with those 
in other tertiary hospitals, as well as continuing 
to fill junior doctor positions with permanent staff 
members. There are 27 approved Resident Medical 
Officer posts available in Mount Isa Hospital, all of 
which are filled for the period 2015–2016.

Mount Isa hospital also continues to host interns 
from other Queensland teaching hospitals on 
10-week rotational training placements, enabling 
access to Queensland Health’s very popular 
Queensland Rural Generalist Program.
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Medical Services
Health Services across the vast area of the North 
West of Queensland are led by an extraordinary and 
skilled medical staff comprising over 50 doctors, 
from Intern through to Senior Consultants with 
leadership provided by the Executive Director of 
Medical Services. 

Whilst the majority of medical staff are based at 
the Mount Isa Hospital, they also participate in 
regular out-reach services to ensure access to a 
broad array of medical services are available to our 
remote communities. We are also fortunate to have 
full-time Medical Superintendents leading staff at 
Mornington Island, Doomadgee and Cloncurry who 
provide important local medical leadership and are 
fully supported by specialist staff located at Mount 
Isa Hospital.

The medical services departments are supported 
by dental, allied health and other ancillary services 
and, together with our nursing staff, provide front 
line services to our patients across the North West. 
Services include:

• General Medical
• General Surgical
• Paediatrics
• Obstetrics and Gynaecology
• Anaesthetics and Intensive Care
• Emergency Medicine
• Mental Health
• Palliative Care
• Oncology and Cancer care
• Imaging Services, including Ultrasound and CT 

These services are supplemented with other regular 
visiting medical services, which include:

• Ophthalmology
• Orthopaedics
• Respiratory Medicine
• Cardiology, including paediatric cardiology
• Endocrinology
• Rheumatology
• Public Health
• Sexual health
• Ear, Nose and Throat, including “Deadly Ears”
• Renal
• Oncology
• Faciomaxillary
• Neurology
• Rehabilitation medicine, including paediatric 

rehabilitation
• Dermatology (mostly tele-dermatology)
• Gastroenterology

Paediatrics, Surgery, Medicine and Obstetrics and 
Gynaecology departments hosted at the Mount Isa 
Hospital also provide robust outreach services to 
smaller hospital and primary health centres across 
the region, in addition to telehealth support. 

Significant steps have also been taken in nursing. 
As the largest employer of nurse practitioners in 
Queensland, across a variety of clinical specialty 
areas, our remote staff enjoy increased autonomy 
and decision making responsibilities. To ensure the 
continued efficient and effective delivery of care, 
particularly in more remote locations, potential 
exists to further develop the evidence base to 
promote the contribution of nurse led services.

Code of Conduct and  
Public Sector Ethics
North West Hospital and Health Service is 
committed to upholding the values and standards 
in the Code of Conduct for the Queensland Public 
Service. All staff are required to undertake training 
related to the Code of Conduct for the Queensland 
Public Service and Public Sector Ethics and Ethical 
Decision Making. 

Code of Conduct requirements are included in the 
terms of employment in all appointment letters 
and training is provided in the central orientation 
program and via online training modules. Human 
Resource Officers are also available to provide in-
house training where requested. 

Our staff
As at 30 June 2015, 664 full time equivalent staff 
were employed by the service. Our retention rate for 
2014–2015 was 81 percent of staff. No redundancy 
packages were paid by the North West Hospital and 
Health Service during the reporting period.

Our staff are managed across five divisions which 
are overseen by our respective Executive Directors 
of Medical Services, Nursing and Midwifery, People 
and Performance and the Chief Finance Officer and 
Chief Operating Officer, all of whom are accountable 
to the Health Service Chief Executive.

Our Oral Health team
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The Medical Services Departments also comprise 
multidisciplinary teams in mental health, alcohol, 
tobacco and other drugs services, homeless 
outreach, allied health, social care and oral health 
services – in addition to medical services provided 
at each of our facilities around the North West.

As a remote location, services are also supported 
with the assistance of the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service and Medical Retrieval Services Queensland. 
All medical staff are credentialed by the North West 
Hospital and Health Service.

The Medical Workforce Unit – comprising recruitment, 
credentialing and induction  medical education, 
outreach coordination, telehealth coordination and 
Medical Administration - are all part of the team 
that operationally supports our  medical service 
departments. The maintenance and nurturing of 
our valuable staff is critical in ensuring we have a 
reliable, skilled and well-supported staff. The realities  
of living in a remote area require careful attention to 
both the professional and family/personal needs of 
our highly skilled health workforce.

Alcohol, Tobacco and Other Drug Services are also 
centrally located in Mount Isa, with permanent 
clinical nurses based in Doomadgee, Mornington 
Island and Normanton. A range of outreach services 
are also provided across Gulf location sites, 
including working with young people transitioning 
to adulthood who are experiencing substance 
misuse problems. 

The establishment and commencement of a new 
mental health acute care service has increased 
services to the community. The Homeless 
Health Outreach Team provides comprehensive 
assessment and intervention, care coordination and 
clinical interventions for homeless persons or those 
at risk of homelessness in the community who are 
experiencing mental illness or co-morbidities.

Associated with a range of issues including 
socioeconomic disadvantage, lack of water 
fluoridation and poor oral health knowledge, the 
oral health needs of our communities are relatively 
high. In accordance with the National Oral Health 
Plan we are refocusing services by increasing 
availability for routine and preventive care services 
and are achieving increased services for our 
communities.

Teaching and training provided within our region is 
second to none as we provide  rich and supported 
environments for a significant number of medical 
students at all levels, mostly from our partner James 
Cook University. 

We also host students from other disciplines 
who rotate through North West facilities gaining 
valuable experience of health service delivery in 
rural and remote Queensland, including exposing 

students from predominantly urban backgrounds 
to the unique factors of living in remote settings. 
We receive overwhelmingly positive feedback from 
students lucky enough to have been the recipients 
of our expertise and our hospitality. 

Teaching training and research takes place 
throughout our facilities but it is particularly 
assisted by the presence of our partners in Mount 
Isa Centre for Rural and Remote Health (MICRRH), a 
Commonwealth initiative and funded site located on 
campus at Mount Isa Hospital. 

Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
In addition to the range of local achievements 
delivered by our staff across each of our local 
facilities, as summarised between pages 18 to 30 of 
this report, we also delivered:

• Accreditation with Australian College Rural 
and Remote Medicine to deliver Primary Rural 
Remote Training and training in Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander Health to Registrars 
rotating to Mornington Island. 

• Accreditation for primary site intern placements 
for 2016, allowing Mount Isa to host five 
Rural Generalist Interns, with the expectation 
that several of these may convert to Resident 
Medical Officers for 2017 and beyond.

• Recruitment to Remote Hospital Senior Medical 
Officer positions at Doomadgee and Mornington 
Island. 

• Implementation of a combined Credentialing 
and Scope of Clinical Practice database, in 
collaboration with neighbouring Central West, 
South West and Torres and Cape Hospital and 
Health Services. 

• Introduction of practices to better capture 
Medicare funding and electronic patient 
records, developed by the Outreach Services 
team, in collaboration with finance, patient 
information and outlying facility staff.

• Achieving our key performance indicator 
target of a 10 percent increase of telehealth 
activity by March 2015 – three months ahead 
of expected trajectory, with all facilities having 
access to 24/7 medical and nursing support by 
May 2015.

• The establishment of a new community 
pharmacy with opiate treatment dispensing.

• Hosting education sessions with Myuma 
trainees in Camooweal, Cloncurry and 
Mornington Island Volatile Substance Misuse 
Groups.

• Introducing a new clinical liaison position, 
enabling provision of specialist alcohol and 
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drug services including screening, assessment 
and clinical support and a seamless referral 
process and continuity of care pre/post 
discharge.  

• The establishment of a new ‘Back in Control’ 
group for probation and parole clients.

• Recruitment of two permanent dieticians, 
bringing long-needed stability to the 
department, and increased networking and 
communication with dietician colleagues in 
Townsville. 

• Streamlining of Home Enteral Nutrition 
processes for better patient care in community 
settings.

• Extended physiotherapy services, including 
weekly outreach to Cloncurry, providing 
treatment of both acute inpatients and  
sub-acute outpatients at community health.

• Promotion of the role and responsibilities 
of Accommodation Liaison Officers and 
Social Work through in-service training and 
development and distribution of resources 
including brochures and business cards.

• Working in collaboration with the Ngukuthati 
Children and Family Centre, providing in a 
supportive community environment education 
and strategies on early communication 
development and support for parents with a 
child with autism. 

• Introducing a Dysphagia Screening Protocol to 
facilitate early identification and management 
of patients with, or at risk of, swallowing 
difficulties and a communication group for 
people with dysarthria, aphasia or other 
neurogenic communication difficulties. 

• Providing kitchen staff with bi-monthly relevant 
in-services, including education around texture 
modified foods and fluids, mid meal snacks 
and speech pathology modified diet and fluid 
bed signage for patients. 

• Exceeding 2014–2015 dental activity targets by  
5.3 percent, with a 33 percent increase of 
outreach services compared to 2013–2014.

We also celebrated an inaugural whole of service 
gathering recognising staff achievements and 
improvements to client services in mental health, 
alcohol, tobacco and other drugs services and the 
achievements of Dr Nicole Milham, passing primary 
examinations, with commendations, for the Royal 
Australasian College of Dental Surgeons Primary 
Fellowship Examinations. 

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Further endeavours to ensure the North West 

remains the preferred site for Rural Generalist 
training by securing further accreditation of 
training posts.  

• Recruitment to ongoing vacancies including 
surgery, medicine and Senior Medical Officer 
rural reliever posts for Normanton, Doomadgee 
and Julia Creek.

• Further improvements to payroll and other 
roster management practices. 

• Strategic scheduling/clustering of our outreach 
services to deliver improved specialist outreach 
services.

• Additional support for currently unfunded social 
work in cancer care, mental health, renal and 
other outreach services across the North West 
and neighbouring Northern Territory, South 
West Queensland and Cape regions.  

• The Hanen It takes two to talk program for 
parents of children who are late talkers. 

• A new Speech Pathology tele-practice service 
for Cloncurry, developed by a graduate speech 
pathologist funded through the Allied Health 
Rural Graduate Training Program, which will 
result in a reduction in wait list times. 

• Introduction of a new private practice MRI 
imaging service.

• Ongoing redevelopment of the Townview Dental 
Clinic, an $800,000 funding commitment by 
Commonwealth and James Cook University 
School of Dentistry.

• Utilise our knowledge and skills by seeking 
additional opportunities to contribute towards 
the further development of expertise in Tropical 
Medicine and Rural and Remote health.

We are proud of the significant and tirelessly 
provided services provided by the many 
professionals with the Medical Services portfolio, 
the commitment, patient and family focused care 
they provide and the leadership in teaching and 
training of our evolving health workforce. All this is 
echoed in our moto – “North West – the best”. 

Aunty Fran – acknowledged elder and Waanyi Ganggalida 
woman, widening the cultural circle for medical students on their 

rotation to Mount Isa
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Nursing, Midwifery and Community Primary 
Health Care Service 
The North West Hospital and Health Service 
Nursing, Midwifery and Community Primary Health 
Care Service aims to ensure delivery of safe, 
quality and efficient care responsive to consumer 
and community need and expectations, whilst 
encouraging innovation in clinical, education and 
research domains.

We are a primary and secondary whole-of-life 
service with a patient and family centred model 
of care. In addition to hospital based chronic 
disease, aged care, sexual health, nursing and 
midwifery services, the division also provides 
outpatient, outreach, hospital inpatient support, 
home visits, assessments, telehealth, school based 
programmes, health education, prevention and 
promotion services across the North West Region 
on a multi-disciplinary basis. Culturally appropriate 
community engagement and services are also 
provided to support and empower self-care whilst 
maintaining a connection with culture and country.

Overseen by the Executive Director of Nursing, key 
strategic initiatives during the reporting period 
included the implementation and ongoing roll out 
of the Communicare patient information software 
system to provide a more comprehensive electronic 
record for all North West patients.

Nursing and Midwifery Leaders have also embraced 
and supported the Nursing and Midwifery 
SPREAD the Word strategy, which utilises internal 
communications for temporary secondments. We 
also support a ‘grow our own’ philosophy, with a 
strategic vision and commitment in strengthening 
and developing our Indigenous Nursing and 
Midwifery workforce.

Such steps will build a culture of professionalism 
and excellence through developing leaders in rural 
and remote health care and also further enhance 
our position as the leader in rural generalist training 
across medical, nursing and allied health.  

Mornington Island Raiders Rugby league team

Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
In addition to the range of local achievements 
delivered by our staff across each of our local 
facilities, as summarised between pages 18 to 30  
of this report, we also delivered:

• A range of awareness raising campaigns, 
education and other health promotion events, 
including sponsorship of the Mornington 
Island Raiders Rugby league team, as a strategy 
to improve participation in sexual health 
screening, and participation in the inaugural 
Mount Isa Health Innovation Expo. 

• Successful hosting of Nurse Practitioner 
Conference, May 2015.

• One day ‘Sex in the Spinifex’ workshop, held 
in collaboration with Mount Isa Centre for 
Rural and Remote Health and the Central and 
North West Queensland Medicare Local, to 
deliver training to broader primary health care 
providers. Over 40 participants, including 
General Practitioners and remote areas nurses, 
attended this workshop which is an important 
part of our strategy to increase capacity to 
deliver sexual and reproductive health services 
across the North West.

• Commencement of Nurse Practitioner Diabetes 
Telehealth Provider Service and also a new aged 
care service, in conjunction with Townsville 
Hospital and Service, to increase utilisation and 
improve patient outcomes.  

• Antenatal classes with belly casting at the 
Ngukathati Children and Family Centre in Mount 
Isa. These flexible classes offer a mix of hands 
on activities, visits by health professionals and 
yarning circles to share pregnancy, birthing 
and parenting tips. Expectant mums can also 
make and decorate their own belly cast after 
completing the six class program.

• Hosting an Introduction to Ultrasound in Rural 
Emergency Medicine course.

• Routine syphilis testing introduced to 
Doomadgee, Normanton and Mornington 
Island following implementation of a number of 
strategies including targeted testing programs, 
community and staff involvement in testing 
approaches and increased awareness of 
sexually transmitted infection.

• Introduction of rheumatic heart disease and 
paediatric cardiology outreach services to 
Doomadgee. 

• Commencement of a new immunisation 
portfolio, held by an indigenous health worker, 
to target overdue immunisations both for 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous clients. Drop 
in and appointment sessions have commenced 
at Ngukuthati clinic to minimise wait times, 
contributing to reduced number of overdue 
Indigenous children requiring immunisations 
from 122 to 26, as at June 2015.
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Providing an immunisation, Ngukuthati Clinic

We also celebrated recognition of 10 years 
of Service for Aged Care Assessment Team 
member Corazon Whelan, NAIDOC Week Spirit of 
Reconciliation Award winner Cita Maddicks and the 
award of Puggy Hunter Scholarships to both Ayrton 
Marshall and Kirsten Gallagher – who also received 
the Migate Health Worker of the Year. In recognition 
of International Nursing and International 
Midwifery Days, Sue Maye and Mavis Hall were also 
nominated by their peers as North West Hospital 
and Health Service Nurses of the Year.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Further opportunities to develop the evidence 

base to promote the contribution of nurse led 
services.

• Complete roll out of Communicare across all 
facilities and clinical departments of the North 
West Hospital and Health Service.

• Extended paediatric cardiology and rheumatic 
heart disease outreach services to both 
Mornington Island and Normanton.

• Reduced overdue immunisation rates, and 
undertake further joint work with our sexual 
health partners to develop further collaborative 
approaches to service planning.

• Further strategies to increase Sexually 
Transmissible Infections (STIs) and Blood Borne 
Viruses (BBVs) testing, particularly for young 
people, in order to further tackle high rates of 
infection.

• New recruitment, retention and succession 
planning strategies.

• Continued efficient and effective delivery of 
care, particularly in more remote locations. 

We will also seek to secure further recurrent 
funding for our community and other outreach 
services, a large percentage of which are currently 
funded through a combination of the Department 
of Health’s state wide Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Health Investment Strategy and 
Commonwealth funding models. 

Further local initiatives will also be delivered by our 
staff across each of our facilities.

Office of the Chief Operating Officer
The position of Chief Operating Officer was originally 
established in December 2014 in recognition of the 
added responsibilities acquired by the North West 
Hospital and Health Service since establishment as 
an independent body.

The role has a prime focus on strategic asset 
management and ICT, as well as continued 
management of all things operational – 
maintenance, operational services, patient travel 
and clinical support.

The Chief Operating Officer is supported by a team 
of dedicated staff who manage most non-clinical 
areas within the North West Hospital and Health 
Service. Team members are client focussed and 
provide high quality services that support health 
care delivery.

Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
• Improved expenditure against key priorities in 

infrastructure and maintenance.

• Transition preparation for Land and Building 
Transfer, effective 1 July 2015.

• Increasing activity relating to Stage 3 
Redevelopment of the Mount Isa Hospital.

• Following the decision to transition ownership 
and management of Employee housing, working 
with the Department of Housing and Public 
Works to ensure continued quality of service 
delivery post transfer. 

• Mount Isa Hospital kiosk opening transitioned 
to a fully functioning service with many positive 
comments regarding service delivery and 
quality of product.

• Increased input and leverage to achieve a more 
focussed ICT delivery service for the North West 
Hospital and Health Service.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Management of capital assets and 

infrastructure following a transfer of land and 
buildings from the Department of Health to the 
North West Hospital and Health Service.

• The continued redevelopment of the Mount 
Isa Hospital, with works commencing on the 
paediatric ward and call for tenders for the next 
construction phase to be issued via Q Tenders. 
This project will now be managed by the Chief 
Operating Officer as Project Director following 
transition of ownership from the Department to 
the North West Hospital and Health Service.

• Continued support and assistance for our 
colleagues, to ensure the continued provision of 
high quality services for our patients.
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Our finance team

Finance department 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the 
management of revenue and expenditure of 
the North West Hospital and Health Service. For 
financial year 2014–2015, the total operating 
budget was $147.7 million.

Supported by a small team, the finance department 
ensures the financial internal controls of the service 
are operating efficiently, effectively and economically.

Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
• Our internal audit program has seen new and 

improved processes to ensure continuous 
improvement and compliance in finance and 
business performance.

• A Management Accountant position was created 
during the year and assisted with completion of 
the 2014–2015 budget and enabled an early 
start to commence on the development of the 
budget for the 2015–2016 financial year.

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Timely delivery and upload of the North West 

Hospital and Health Service’s local cost centre 
budgets into the Department of Health’s 
Decision Support System for financial year 
2015–2016.

• Ongoing financial and performance reporting 
assistance will continue throughout the year.

• A Performance and Expenditure Review 
Committee to be established to ensure that 
managers are being vigilant in spending and 
meeting the North West Hospital and Health 
Service’s Key Performance Indicators.

Our People and Performance team

People and Performance 
The People and Performance team has oversight of 
leadership of quality and safety and risk strategy and 
planning across the North West Hospital and Health 
Service.

Overseen by the Executive Director, People and 
Performance, the team comprises a People and 
Culture Division and the Continuous Improvement 
& Innovation Unit, patient safety and patient liaison 
teams and also the work of the North West Hospital 
and Health Service’s Cultural Advisor.

Good governance ensures that day to day management 
is aligned with the organisational goals and is about 
having the right policy, procedures, and structures 
in place. A key deliverable during the reporting 
period was the publication of the Clinical and 
Operational Governance Framework 2015–2017 to 
drive behaviours – both individual and as a whole 
organisation – that lead to better patient care,  

the well-being of staff, the environment and all who 
visit our health service.

People and Culture 
The People and Culture division provides support 
and assistance to our service delivery units 
and divisions. Comprising Human Resources, 
Occupational Health and Safety, Learning and 
Development portfolios, the team strives to improve 
the patient experience through a sustainable, 
innovative, safe and flexible workforce.

Staffing of appropriately skilled employees remains 
a challenge for both the team and the wider 
organisation. Within our small work units, attrition 
and delays from advertising to appointment of staff 
can have a significant operational impact in terms of 
loss of corporate knowledge and – particularly with 
respect clinical staff – additional costs and impact 
on continuity of care and patient satisfaction.
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In recognition of the North West Hospital and 
Health’s prescribed employer status, a number of 
business improvement projects have been initiated:

• Building capability from within
– Commencing an end-to-end Business 

Process Management project to better 
define and document the administrative 
needs and processes of the organisation.

– Targeted review of Line Manager training to 
address key administrative competencies 
such as recruitment, incident reporting/
management, performance appraisals, and 
workforce planning.

• Putting people at the centre of transformation
– Reducing complexity of administrative 

systems through rollout of user-friendly, 
integrated, self-service technologies to 
streamline recruitment and learning and 
development. 

• Removing silos 
– Focusing on an enterprise approach has 

resulted in new systems that support the 
organisation as a whole, while meeting 
our service delivery and accreditation 
requirements.

Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
• Preparations for the commencement of 

prescribed employer status, becoming 
the direct employer and assuming legal 
responsibility for all of our employees, effective 
1 July 2014 – the first and only rural and remote 
Hospital and Health Service to be granted such 
autonomy to date.

• Wider roll out of innovative technology to 
reduce administrative burden and address 
local business needs in novel ways. For 
example, the Springboard online recruitment 
solution is helping overcome local recruitment 
process issues, particularly given the large 
geographic distances that comprise the 
service’s catchment area. 

• We are also making better use of technology 
to test local procedural rules, speeding up gap 
analysis and developing simpler processes with 
fewer steps and improved message flows.

• Continuing to provide a range of occupational 
health and safety services including reporting 
of key issues to the North West Hospital 
and Health Board’s Quality, Safety and Risk 
Committee. 

Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• A Strategic Workforce Plan – allowing the 

organisation to better quantify and visualise 
service delivery expectations over the next five 
years and facilitate better pro-active recruitment 
processes. 

• Further supporting services, including finalising 
implementation of a new and contemporary 
learning and development administration system 
and further promoting cultural change and 
business competency among our employees by 
providing relevant and accessible line manager 
and other training.

Continuous Improvement and Innovation Unit 
Established in January 2015, the Unit provides a 
range of resources and support for service managers 
and staff to ensure effective and efficient patient 
centric care can be delivered, and regulatory 
standards are met.

The geography and demography of the North West 
region provides daily challenges that encourage 
staff to be extremely resourceful in providing quality 
care to our patients and stakeholders. The Unit 
therefore looks for smarter ways to collect, collate, 
analyse and disseminate information.  This is through 
engagement, design, facilitation and monitoring 
systems and processes that relate to governance, 
compliance, patient safety, consumer engagement, 
infection prevention and service improvement. This 
is particularly important in maintaining a high level of 
organisational knowledge and ensuring consistency 
of processes and clinical practice.

Key achievements for 2014–2015 include:
• Facilitating the North West Hospital and Health 

Service’s preparedness for accreditation, 
including completion of stages within the 
accreditation cycle required by the Australian 
Council of Healthcare Standards. 

• Re-developed a central intranet homepage hosting 
comprehensive information relating to patient 
safety, consumer feedback, infection prevention, 
innovation, mental health, audit and compliance, 
accreditation and risk management.

• Increased level of awareness of our role through 
engagement, distribution of information via 
newsletters, emails, training, site visits and 
providing timely advice as required.  Examples 
of education include: infection prevention, 
complaints management, root cause analysis 
and clinical incident reporting. 

• Development of audit processes via the 
Measurement, Analysis and Reporting System 
(MARS) that enables teams to collate, analyse 
and identify gaps that can be translated into an 
action plan.
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Looking ahead for 2015–2016, we will deliver:
• Further consumer participation and feedback 

into planning services. This is occurring through 
the recruitment of a Consumer Advisor to sit on 
high level planning groups and the development 
of a Patient Experience Survey to capture 
feedback for as many patients as possible about 
their patient journey.

• Co-ordination of the North West Hospital and 
Health Service’s Organisation Wide Survey in 
order to achieve full accreditation against the 
EQuIP National Standards for the next four year 
cycle. The Australian Council on Health Care 
Standards will conduct a service wide review of 
our facilities and service provision during the 
week of 30th November 2015.

• Ongoing review of service gaps and patient 
safety issues based on the National Standards 
audit cycle results and PRIME Clinical Incident 
data in order to monitor recommendations and 
action plans to mitigate the risks around those 
gaps.

• Further work to develop standardised baseline 
documentation and data to build on following 
the restructure of the organisation and move to 
Prescribed Employer status.

• We will also continue to work collaboratively 
with staff and our wider stakeholders to further 
promote and encourage clinical best practice and 
innovative models of care. This will also include 
the inaugural North West Hospital and Health 
Service staff and quality awards in late 2015.

North West Hospital and Health Service 
Cultural Advisor
Commencing in July 2015, a new Cultural Advisor 
role has been established to guide current and 
future strategic and operational directions of 
the North West Hospital and Health Service and 
strengthen cultural engagement to ensure we are 
best placed to progress improvements in health 
outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people.

This position will directly enable delivery of 
better clinical and community outcomes through 
developing culturally secure facilities and services 
and access to a culturally competent health 
workforce which is ultimately accountable for 
Indigenous health needs working in genuine 
partnership with people and communities.

During 2015–2016, the Cultural Advisor will also 
play a key role in developing an Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander strategic health plan.
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Glossary

Activity based funding (ABF): Funding framework 
for public health care services delivered across 
Queensland based on standardised costs of 
health care services, referred to as ‘activities’. 
The ABF framework applies to those facilities 
which are operationally large enough to support 
the framework. For the North West Hospital and 
Health Service, this currently applies to the Mount 
Isa Hospital only, with all other hospital facilities 
receiving block funding (see definition below). 

Acute care: Healthcare in which a patient is treated 
for an acute (immediate and severe) episode of 
illness; for the subsequent treatment of injuries 
related to an accident or other trauma; management 
of labour or during recovery from surgery. Acute care 
is usually provided in hospitals. Unlike chronic care 
(longer term physical conditions), acute care is often 
necessary only for a short time.

Ambulatory care: Care provided to hospital patients 
who are not admitted to the hospital, such as 
patients of emergency departments and outpatient 
clinics.

Block funding: Block funding is typically applied for 
small public hospitals where there is an absence 
of economies of scale that mean some hospitals 
may not be financially viable under Activity Based 
Funding.

Central and North West Queensland Medicare 
Local (CNWQML): An independent, locally 
operated organisation, working to create healthy 
communities in the inland parts of Queensland. A 
non-profit entity, established under Federal health 
reforms to coordinate primary health care delivery 
by connecting the local community with health 
services.

Community service: Non-admitted patient health 
services, excluding hospital outpatient services, 
typically delivered outside of hospital settings.

Day case: Treatment or procedure undertaken where 

the patient is admitted and discharged on the same 
day.

Deadly Ears: Queensland Health’s State-wide 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Ear Health 
Program for children. Middle ear disease, medically 
known as otitis media, affects up to 8 out of 10 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children living 
in remote communities and is conductive to hearing 
loss, which impacts upon health, child development 
and educational outcomes of children, their families 
and communities.

Emergency Department: Dedicated area of a 
hospital organised and administered to provide 
emergency care to those in the community who 
perceive the need for, or are in need of, acute or 
urgent care.

Government objectives for the community: Section 
10 of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 requires 
the Premier to prepare and table a statement of the 
government’s broad objectives for the community.

The Queensland Government’s Objectives for the 
Community addresses this requirement which 
broadly addresses four key domains:

• Delivering quality frontline services
• Building safe, caring and connected 

communities 
• Protecting the environment
• Creating jobs and a diverse economy

Indigenous Respiratory Outreach Care (IROC): 
Provided in partnership with Aboriginal Medical 
Services, IROC is a program that provides specialist 
respiratory (lung health) outreach clinics to 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adults and 
children in rural, remote and urban communities in 
Queensland.

Inpatient service: A service provided under a 
hospital’s formal admission process. Treatment 
and/or care is provided over a period of time and 
can occur in hospital and/or in the person’s home 
or other settings.
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National Emergency Access Target (NEAT):  
NEAT relates to the length of time patients spend in 
the emergency department and is measured as the 
percentage of patients who leave the emergency 
department, are admitted to a bed in a ward or 
transferred to another hospital within four hours of 
their arrival. 

National Elective Surgery Targets (NEST):  
A measurement to ensure that surgical patients are 
treated within their recommended clinical priority 
timeframes of either 30, 90 or 365 days, depending 
on their assessed conditions.

Outpatient: A non-admitted, non-emergency patient 
provided with a service such as an examination, 
consultation, treatment or other service.

Performance indicator: Measures the extent to 
which agencies are achieving their objectives.

Primary care: First level healthcare, including health 
promotion, advocacy and community development, 
provided by general practitioners (GPs) and a range 
of other healthcare professionals.

Primary Health Networks (PHNs): Established 
by Federal Government with the key objectives 
of increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of 
medical services for patients – particularly those 
at risk of poor health outcomes – and improving 
coordination of care to ensure patients receive the 
right care in the right place at the right time.

Public health services: Programs that prevent 
illness and injury, promote health and wellbeing, 
create healthy and safe environments, reduce 
health inequalities and address factors in those 
communities whose health status is the lowest.

Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS): A not-for-profit 
organisation, supported by the Commonwealth, 
State and Territory Governments but also relying 
heavily on fundraising and donations from the 
community to purchase and medically-equip 
its aircraft, and to finance other major capital 
initiatives. Today, the RFDS has a fleet of 63 aircraft 
operating from 21 bases located across the nation 
and provides medical assistance to over 290,000 
people every year.

Service standard: A standard of efficiency and 
effectiveness to which an agency will deliver 
services within its budget. Standards define a level 
of performance that is appropriate for the service 
and are expected to be achieved.

Strategic plan: A short, forward-looking document 
to set direction and provide local objectives 
and strategies to ensure alignment with the 
government’s objectives for the community.

Telehealth: The delivery of health services and 
information using telecommunication technology, 
including:

• Live interactive video and audio links for clinical 
consultations and education.

• Store and forward systems to enable the 
capture of digital images, video, audio and 
clinical data stored on a computer and 
forwarded to another location to be studied and 
reported on by specialists.

• Remote reporting and provision of clinical 
advice associated with diagnostic images.

• Other services and equipment for home 
monitoring of health.

GLOSSARY
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General information

North West Hospital and Health Service is a Queensland Government statutory body established 
under the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 and its registered trading name is North West 
Hospital and Health Service.

North West Hospital and Health Service is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the 
ultimate parent entity.

The head office and principal place of business of North West Hospital and Health Service is:

1 Barkly Highway
Mount Isa QLD 4825

A description of the nature of North West Hospital and Health Service's operations and its principal
activities are included in the notes to the financial statements.

For information in relation to North West Hospital and Health Service’s financial statements, 
email mt_isa_finance@health.qld.gov.au or visit the North West Hospital and Health Service
website at www.health.qld.gov.au/mt_isa.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Notes 2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Income from Continuing Operations
User charges and fees 3 144,925 141,780
Grants and other contributions 4 2,736 3,810
Other revenue 5 951 843
Total Income from Continuing Operations 148,611 146,433

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee expenses 6 76,457 909
Health Service Contracts 7 - 69,593
Supplies and services 8 63,198 65,503
Grants and subsidies 9 466 380
Depreciation and amortisation 10 7,794 7,328
Impairment losses 11 310 200
Other expenses 12 2,333 2,271
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 150,559 146,184

Operating Result from Continuing Operations (1,948) 249

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating result for the year
(Decrease) / Increase in asset revaluation surplus 21 (1,043) (2,011)

Total Other Comprehensive (Loss) / Income for the year (1,043) (2,011)

Total Comprehensive (Loss) / Income for the year (2,991) (1,762)

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2015

Notes 2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13 7,847 9,809
Trade and other receivables 14 1,938 4,202
Inventories 15 1,003 504
Other 14 2,200 28
Total current assets 12,988 14,543

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17 97,737 111,317
Total non-current assets 97,737 111,317

Total assets 110,725 125,860

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 9,421 11,499
Accrued employee benefits 19 2,519 50
Other Current Liabilities 18 559 -
Total current liabilities 12,499 11,549

Total liabilities 12,499 11,549

Net assets 98,226 114,311

Equity
Contributed equity 20 89,966 102,313
Asset revaluation surplus 21 9,567 10,610
Accumulated surplus/deficit 22 (1,307) 1,388

Total equity 98,226 114,311

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Notes Contributed Asset Accumulated Total
equity revaluation surplus/ equity

surplus (deficit)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2013 91,663 12,621 1,142 105,426

Operating result from continuing operations - - 249 249
Other comprehensive income for the period - (2,011) - (2,011)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (2,011) 249 (1,762)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Non-appropriated equity injections 1,297  -   -  1,297
Non-appropriated equity withdrawal (7,327)  -   -  (7,327)
Non-appropriated equity transfer 16,680  -   -  16,680

Balance at 30 June 2014 102,313 10,610 1,391 114,314

Balance at 1 July 2014 102,313 10,610 1,391 114,314
Accumulated surplus adjustment - - (750) (750)

102,313     10,610       641                113,564     

Operating result from continuing operations - - (1,948) (1,948)
Net loss on revaluations (Note 23) - (1,043) - (1,043)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (1,043) (1,948) (2,991)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Non-appropriated equity injections 20 1,526  -   -  1,526
Non-appropriated equity withdrawal 20 (7,794)  -   -  (7,794)
Non-appropriated equity transfer 20 (6,079)  -   -  (6,079)

Balance at 30 June 2015 89,965 9,567 (1,307) 98,226

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Notes 2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows
User charges 139,435 131,305
Grants and other contributions 3,370 4,559
GST collected from customers 237 265
GST input tax credits from ATO 4,190 3,879
Other 592 2,244

Outflows
Employee expenses (76,461) (909)
Health service employee expenses (1,842) (71,544)
GST paid to suppliers (4,258) (3,822)
GST remitted to ATO (225) (215)
Supplies and services (63,638) (60,197)
Grants and subsidies (466) (380)
Other expenditure (2,129) (2,204)

Net cash from operating activities 31 (1,195) 2,981

Cash flows from investing activities
Outflows
Payments for property, plant and equipment 17 (1,542) (851)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,542) (851)

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows
Equity injections 1,526 1,297
Outflows
Equity withdrawals (750) -

Net cash from financing activities 776 1,297

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,961) 3,427
Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning of the financial year 9,809 6,382

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 13 7,847 9,809

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 1.    Objectives and strategic activities
Note 2.    Significant accounting policies
Note 3.    User charges and fees
Note 4.    Grants and other contributions
Note 5.    Other revenue
Note 6.    Employee expenses
Note 7.    Health service employee expenses
Note 8.    Supplies and services
Note 9.    Grants and subsidies
Note 10.  Depreciation and amortisation
Note 11.  Impairment losses
Note 12.  Other expenses
Note 13.  Current assets - cash and cash equivalents
Note 14.  Current assets - trade and other receivables
Note 15.  Current assets - inventories
Note 16.  Current assets - other
Note 17.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment
Note 18.  Current liabilities - trade and other payables
Note 19.  Current liabilities - accrued employee benefits
Note 20.  Equity - contributed
Note 21.  Equity - reserves
Note 22.  Equity - retained surpluses
Note 23.  Financial instruments
Note 24.  Key management personnel disclosures
Note 25.  Remuneration of auditors
Note 26.  Contingent assets and liabilities
Note 27.  Commitments
Note 28.  Fiduciary trust transactions and balances
Note 29.  Economic dependency
Note 30.  Events after the reporting period
Note 31.  Reconciliation of surplus to net cash from operating activities
Note 32.  Associates
Note 33.  Budget vs Actual Comparison
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 1.  Objectives and strategic activities

North West Hospital and Health Service is responsible for providing public sector health services
to communities within North Western Queensland, including to the city of Mount Isa and to the
towns and areas of Burketown, Camooweal, Cloncurry, Dajarra, Doomadgee, Julia Creek,
Karumba, Normanton and Mornington Island.

North West Hospital and Health Service provides services and outcomes as defined in a Service
Agreement (a publicly available document) with the Queensland Department of Health
(Department of Health). Key services for 2014-15 include:
● community and primary health services, including aged care assessment, Aboriginal

and Torres Strait Islander health programs; 
● child and maternal health services; 
● alcohol, tobacco and other drug services; 
● home care services; 
● community health  - nursing, sexual health service, allied health, oral health and

health promotion programs;
● chronic disease management;
● mental health services; and,
● oral health services.

North West Hospital and Health Service is committed to becoming Queensland’s leading Hospital
and Health Service and has identified the following six strategic aims as necessary to achieve this
vision:
● a financially accountable and responsible Hospital and Health Service;
● a Hospital and Health wide service delivery model that provides and supports safe and

sustainable services;
● better coordinated and integrated services within and between Hospital and Health

Services and external service providers, particularly for chronic and complex conditions,
child and maternal health, mental health and sexual health;

● implementation of priority strategies in Making Tracks toward closing the gap in health 
outcomes for Indigenous Queenslanders by 2033 including maternal health, healthy 
start to life, addressing risk factors, managing illness better, effective health services
and improving data and evidence;

● implementation of priority strategies to recruit and retain staff; and
● implementation of innovative models of care and accreditation.

North West Hospital and Health Service is predominantly funded through the Service Agreement 
with the Department of Health, which comprises funding from Department of Health and the
Australian Government.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out
below.

(a)     Statement of compliance
North West Hospital and Health Service have prepared these financial statements in compliance
section 42 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009. 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared on an
accrual basis in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by
the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB').  In addition, the financial statements comply
with Queensland Treasury's Minimum Reporting Requirements for the year ending 30 June 2015, and other
authoritative pronouncements.

With respect to compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, the North West
Hospital and Health Service applied those requirements applicable to not-for-profit entities, as the North 
West Hospital and Health Service is a not-for-profit entity. Except where stated, the historical cost  
convention is used.

(b)    The reporting entity
The financial statements include the value of all revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity 
of North West Hospital and Health Service.  North West Hospital and Health Service does not have
any controlled entities. 

(c)     Administrative arrangements under the National Health Reform
On 2 August 2011, Queensland, as a member of the Council of Australian Governments signed the 
National Health Reform Agreement, committing to major changes in the way the health services in 
Australia are funded and governed.

North West Hospital and Health Service was established under the Health and Hospitals Network 
Act 2011 with effect from 1 July 2012. North West Hospital and Health Service is an independent 
statutory body and a reporting entity, which is domiciled in Australia, and is accountable to the 
local community and the Queensland Parliament.

On 17 May 2012, the Minister for Health introduced amending legislation into Parliament to expand 
the functions of Hospital and Health Services as outlined under the Health and Hospitals Network 
Act 2011. The amended legislation is known as the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2012.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Funding 
Funding is provided to North West Hospital and Health Service in accordance with the Service Agreement
(2013/2014 - 2015/2016) with the Department of Health. The Commonwealth and State contribution 
for activity based funding is pooled and allocated transparently via a National Health Funding pool.

The Commonwealth and State contribution for block funding and training, teaching and research funds
is pooled and allocated transparently via a State Managed Fund. Public Health funding is managed by the
Department of Health.

Balances transferred in on 1 July 2012
Asset, liability and equity balances were transferred from Department of Health to North West 
Hospital and Health Service with effect from 1 July 2012. This was effected by a transfer notice 
signed by the Minister of Health, designating that the transfers be recognised as a contribution by 
owners through equity. The transfer notice was approved by the Director-General Department of 
Health and the Chair of the North West Hospital and Health Service Board. Balances transferred to 
North West Hospital and Health Service materially reflected the closing balances of the North West 
Health Service District as at 30 June 2012.

Up to the date of reporting, control of land and building assets rests with the North West Hospital and Health 
Service, whilst the Department of Health retained legal ownership of all land and building assets. 
North West Hospital and Health Service has full right of use, along with managerial control of land and
buildings assets and is responsible for the maintenance. Department of Health generates no economic 
benefit from these assets. In accordance with the definition of control under Australian Accounting 
Standards, North West Hospital and Health Service recognises the value of land and buildings 
in the statement of financial position.

It is expected that legal ownership will pass to North West Hospital and Health Service during the course
of the 2015 -16 financial year.

(d)    Fiduciary trust transactions and balances
North West Hospital and Health Service acts in a fiduciary capacity in relation to patient monies 
provided to the service to safe keep in a specific patient trust bank account. As North West 
Hospital and Health Service acts only in a custodial role in respect of these transactions and 
balances, they are not recognised in the financial statements. 

Note 28 Fiduciary trust transactions and balances provides additional information on the balances 
held in patient trust accounts by North West Hospital and Health Service.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)     Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to North West 
Hospital and Health Service and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

User charges and fees
User charges and fees primarily comprises Department of Health funding, hospital fees, reimbursement
of pharmaceutical benefits and sales of goods and services.  There was a change in the recognition
of Department of Health funding from grants and other contributions in 2012-13 to user charges and fees
from year 2013-14.  Refer Note 3 User charges and fees.

User charges and fees controlled by North West Hospital and Health Service are recognised as 
revenues when the revenue has been earned and can be measured reliably with sufficient degree of 
certainty. User charges and fees are controlled by the HHS where they can be deployed for the 
achievement of North West Hospital and Health Service’s objectives.

The funding from Department of Health is provided predominantly for specific public health services
purchased by the Department from North West Hospital and Health Service in accordance with a
service agreement between the Department and North West Hospital and Health Service.  
The service agreement is reviewed periodically and updated for changes in activities and prices of 
services delivered by North West Hospital and Health Service.  Refer Note 3 for more information 
on this funding arrangement.

The funding from Department of Health is received fortnightly in advance.  At the end of the financial 
year, a financial adjustment may be required where the level of services provided is above or below 
the agreed level.  

Revenue recognition for other user charges and fees is based on either invoicing for related goods,
services and/or the recognition of accrued revenue.

Grants and other contributions
Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as 
revenue in the year in which North West Hospital and Health Service obtains control over them. 
This includes amounts received from the Australian Government for programs that have not been 
fully completed at the end of the financial year. Where grants are received that are reciprocal in 
nature, revenue is recognised over the term of the funding arrangements.

Contributed assets are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are recognised only 
when a fair value can be determined reliably and the services would be purchased if they had not 
been donated.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f)      Income tax
North West Hospital and Health Service is a State body as defined under the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1936  and it is exempt from paying income tax.

(g)   Special Payments
Special payments include ex gratia expenditure and other expenditure that the department is not
contractually or legally obligated to make to other parties. In compliance with the Financial and  
Performance  Management Standard 2009, the North West Hospital and Health Service maintains a register
setting out details of all special payments, reporting any payment greater than $5,000.  No payments were 
made under this category during the during the financial year 2014-15.

(h)    Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows, cash assets
include all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June as well as deposits at call with financial 
institutions.

Overdraft Facility
North West Hospital and Health Service has approval from Queensland Treasury and Trade to 
operate bank accounts in overdraft up to a limit of $1,500,000.

(i)    Trade and other receivables
Trade debtors are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed
purchase/contract price. Settlement of these amounts is required within 30 days from invoice date.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an on-going basis. Receivables which are known to 
be uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment
of trade receivables is raised when there is objective evidence that North West Hospital and Health 
Service will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue for trade and 
pharmacy debtors and 90 days for patient fees) are considered indicators that the trade receivable may 
be impaired.   The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is 
immaterial.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j)      Inventories
Inventories consist mainly of medical supplies held for distribution in hospitals and health clinics, 
and are provided to patients at a subsidised rate. Inventories are measured at weighted average 
cost, adjusted for obsolescence. 

In previous years inventories held across each of the holding areas were not deemed individually material
and were considered ready for use in the wards and fully expensed.  For the financial year ended
 30 June 2015, North West Hospital and Health Service held clinical inventories to the value of $537,117
and has been recognised as a current asset in the 2014-15 Financial Statements.

(k)      Investments and other financial assets
The North West Hospital and Health Service holds financial instruments in the form of cash, call deposits, 
fixed rate deposits, loans, receivables and payables.  The health service does not enter into transactions 
for speculative purposes or for hedging.  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 
Statement of financial position when the department becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument. Other disclosures relating to the measurement and financial risk management of 
other financial instruments are included in Note 23.
Financial instruments are classified and measured as follows:

·         payables - held at amortised cost;

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and North West Hospital and Health Service has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or 
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets
North West Hospital and Health Service assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there 
is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 
Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; a breach of 
contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower 
concessions due to economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes 
probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance 
of an active market for the financial asset; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease in estimated future cash flows. 

The amount of the impairment allowance for loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. If there is a reversal of impairment, the 
reversal cannot exceed the amortised cost that would have been recognised had the impairment 
not been made and is reversed to profit or loss.

·         cash and cash equivalents - held at fair value through profit or loss;
·         receivables - held at amortised cost;
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Acquisitions of Assets
Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical and intangible asset acquisitions. Cost
is determined as the value given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other
costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use, including architects' fees and engineering design fees.
However, any training costs are expensed as incurred.

Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland department (whether as a result of a
machinery of government change or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is recognised as the
gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor immediately prior to the transfer together with any 
accumulated depreciation. Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an 
involuntary transfer from another Queensland Government entity, are recognised at their fair value at date of 
acquisition in accordance with AASB116 Property, Plant and Equipment.

(m)     Property, Plant and Equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to more than the following 
thresholds and with a useful life of more than one year are recognised at acquisition. Land 
improvements undertaken by North West Hospital and Health Service are included with buildings. 
Items below these values are expensed on acquisition.

Class Threshold
Buildings  $10,000
Land  $1
Plant and equipment $5,000

Items with a  lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition.

Control of property, plant and equipment held by Department of Health for North West District was 
transferred to North West Hospital and Health Service on 1 July 2012. The property, plant and 
equipment was transferred at the carrying value of the item recorded at 30 June 2012. Department 
of Health retained legal ownership of all land and building assets up to the reporting date.

Transfer of residential property assets to the Department of Housing and Public Works

Effective 1 July 2014, all non operational employee housing assets were transferred to the Department of 
Housing and Public Works as part of a whole of government initiative.   Housing assets with a net book value 
of $6.110m as at 1 July 2014 , held by the North West Hospital and Health Service under a deed of 
lease arrangement with the Department of Health, were transferred to the  Department of Health 
and subsequently, further transferred to the Department of Housing and Public Works. See Note 17.

Initial measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at consideration plus any other costs directly 
incurred in bringing the asset ready for use. Items or components that form an integral part of an 
asset are recognised as a single (functional) asset. The cost of items acquired during the financial 
year have been judged by management to materially represent the fair value at the end of the
reporting period.

Where assets are received for no consideration from another Queensland Government department 
(whether as a result of a machinery-of-Government change or other involuntary transfer), the 
acquisition cost is recognised as the gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor 
Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an involuntary transfer from 
another Queensland Government entity, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to North West Hospital and Health Service. Ongoing
repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Revaluations of non current physical assets

Land and buildings are measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment, AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement  and Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current 
Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. These assets are reported at their revalued 
amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated 
deprecation and impairment losses where applicable.

Land is measured at fair value each year using independent revaluations, desktop 
market revaluations or indexation by the State Valuation Service within the Department of Natural 
Resources and Mines. 

North West Hospital and Health Service carries its buildings at fair value. Buildings are measured at
fair value each year utilising either independent revaluations or by interim revaluation methodology
of applying an indexation supplied by an external registered valuer. Buildings are valued based on
the observable or unobservable input data available. Buildings can be broadly categorised as:
  
Residential buildings -   Residential buildings are valued taking into consideration the size,
location and condition of the property against comparable properties that  have sold in the local
property market.

Health service delivery buildings - North West Hospital and Health Service's buildings are 
predominantly of a specialised nature and as such there is no active market for such properties. 
Management consider the advice of external valuers in conjunction with internal knowledge of
building condition when adopting fair values for these assets.

Assets under construction are measured at cost and are not revalued until at least one year after 
their commissioning date. 

Independent valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure buildings are carried at fair 
value. 

The fair values reported by North West Hospital and Health Service are based on appropriate 
valuation techniques that maximise the use of available and relevant observable inputs and
minimise the use of unobservable inputs - refer Note 2(n).
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

In the 2014-15 financial year, four of North West Hospital and Health Service's buildings and three site
improvements were comprehensively revalued. Indices  were provided by Davis Langdon for consideration 
in revaluing the remaining buildings. The comprehensive revaluations and the indexation used in the revaluation 
process have been reviewed by North West Hospital and Health Service to ensure the result is a 
valid estimation of the asset’s fair value at reporting date.

Fair value is generally considered to be market value. However, in accordance with Queensland 
Treasury’s Non Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector, where no market-based 
evidence exists to derive fair value, the fair value will be calculated using depreciated replacement 
cost.  Depreciated replacement cost is the cost of replacing the future service potential embedded 
in that asset, adjusted to reflect the condition of the asset being currently valued.  

This method is applicable to the specialised properties used for health service provision.  A 
summary of fair value methodology for North West Hospital and Health Service buildings is below:
·         Staff accommodation (Off-site) – Market Value 
·         Staff accommodation (On-site) – Depreciated replacement Cost
·         Health Service Delivery – Depreciated replacement Cost

Less than one percent of built assets are valued at market value.

In determining the depreciated replacement cost of each building, the valuers consider a number of 
factors such as age, functionality and physical condition.  A ‘Replacement Cost’ is estimated by 
creating a cost plan (cost estimate) of the asset through the measurement of key quantities such 
as:
·         Gross floor area
·         Number of floors
·         Girth of the building
·         Height of the building
·         Number of lifts and staircases

The model developed by the valuer creates an elemental cost plan using these quantities.  The 
model includes multiple building types and is based on the valuer’s experience of cost managing 
construction contracts.

The cost model is updated each year and tests are carried out to compare the model outputs on actual 
recent projects to ensure it produces a true representation of the cost of replacement. The costs 
are at Brisbane prices and published location indices are used to adjust the pricing to suit local 
market conditions. Live project costs from across the state are also assessed to inform current 
market changes that may influence the published factors.

The key assumption on the replacement cost is that the estimate is based on replacing the current 
function of the building with a building of the same form (size and shape). This assumption has a 
significant impact if an asset’s function changes. 
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The ‘Cost to Bring to Current Standards’ is the estimated cost of refurbishing the asset to bring it to 
current standards and a new condition. For each of the five condition ratings the estimate is based 
on professional opinion as well as having regard to historical project costs.

In assessing the cost to bring to current standards, a condition rating is applied based upon the 
following information:
·         Visual inspection of the asset
·         Asset condition data provided by the Department of Health 
·         Information from the asset manager
·         Previous reports and inspection photographs if available (to show the change in condition over 
       time).

The following table outlines the condition assessment rating applied to each building which assists 
the valuer in determining the current depreciated replacement cost. Each category has 
sub-categories to ensure that assets do not experience significant change in value as the condition 
rating changes.

Category    Condition Criteria
1 Very good condition. Only normal maintenance required

2 Minor defects only.  Minor maintenance required

3 Significant maintenance required to return the  building to accepted level of service
(up to 50% of capital replacement cost)

         
4 Requires renewal.  Complete renewal of the internal fit out and engineering 

services required (up to 70% of capital replacement cost)

5 Asset unserviceable.  Complete asset replacement required

These condition ratings are linked to the Cost to bring to current standards.

Estimates of remaining life are based on the assumption that the asset remains in its current 
function and will be maintained. Buildings have been revalued on the basis that there is no residual
value.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations
are materially kept up-to-date via the application of relevant indices. North West Hospital and 
Health Service ensures that the application of such indices results in a valid estimation of the
assets' fair values at reporting date.   An independent valuer has provided a Built Asset Indexation Report which
has been considered by the senior management in determining any adjustments to fair values.

The State Valuation Service (SVS) supplies the indices used for the various types of assets. Such indices 
are either publicly available, or are derived from market information available to SVS. SVS provides 
assurance of their robustness, validity and appropriateness for application to the relevant assets.
SVS has provided indices for all land assets held by the North West Hospital and Health Service.

During the reporting period, North West Hospital and Health Service reviewed all fair value
methodologies in the application of AASB 13. 

Any revaluation increment arising  on the revaluation of an asset are credited to the asset
revaluation surplus of the appropriate class, except to the extent it reverses a revaluation
decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the carrying amount
on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, in the 
revaluation surplus relating to that asset class.

On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in carrying 
amount of the asset and any change in the estimate of remaining useful life.

Materiality concepts under AASB 1031 Materiality  are considered in determining whether the 
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of an asset is material.

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, 
plant and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Buildings 30-80 years
Leasehold improvements 3-10 years
Plant and equipment 3-7 years
Plant and equipment under lease 2-5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each reporting date.
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North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leasehold improvements and plant and equipment under lease are depreciated over the unexpired 
period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the assets, whichever is shorter.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 
economic benefit to North West Hospital and Health Service. Gains and losses between the 
carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus 
reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits.

A gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference 
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

(n)    Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market 
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly derived from observable 
inputs or estimated using another valuation technique.

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued which include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land 
and general office buildings.

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are 
relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. Significant unobservable inputs 
include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments made to observable data to take account of
the characteristics of the assets and liabilities; internal records of recent construction costs 
(and/or estimates of such costs);  assets' characteristics/functionality; and, assessments of 
physical condition and remaining useful life. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that 
sufficient relevant and reliable observable  inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities.

A fair value  measurement of a non-financial  asset takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use.

All assets and liabilities of the department for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the 
financial statements are categorised within the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and 
assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals:

• Level 1 – represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in 
active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

• Level 2 – represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than 
quoted prices included within level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 – represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable 
inputs .
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

None of the North West Hospital and Health Service’s valuations of assets or liabilities are eligible
for categorisation into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.  There were no transfers of assets between fair 
value hierarchy levels during the period.

More specific fair value information about North West Hospital and Health Service’s Property, Plant 
and Equipment is provided at Note 17.

(o)      Impairment of non-current physical assets
All non-current assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis in accordance 
with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.  If an indicator of impairment exists, the North West Hospital 
and Health Service determines the asset’s recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value 
less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost).  Any amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount is considered an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation
surplus of the relevant class to the extent available.

(p)   Leases
A distinction is made in the financial statements between finance leases that effectively transfer from the
lessor to the lessee substantially all risks and benefits incidental to ownership, and operating leases, under
which the lessor retains substantially all risks and benefits.

Where a non-current physical asset is acquired by means of a finance lease, the asset is recognised at
the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The lease liability is recognised at the same amount. Lease payments are allocated between the principal
component of the lease liability and the interest expense. For the reporting period, there were no finance 
leases.

Operating lease payments are representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the leased 
assets and are expensed in the periods in which they are incurred. 

Incentives received on entering into operating leases are recognised as liabilities. Lease payments 
are allocated between rental expense and reduction of the liability. For the financial year, there were 
no lease incentives received.
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q)    Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the North West Hospital and
Health Service prior to the end of the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term 
nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(r)    Employee benefits
Pursuant to section 80 of the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 , on establishment of the North 
West Hospital and Health Service, the health service employees of the Department of Health are 
taken to be employed by the Health and Hospital Service on the same terms, conditions and 
entitlements.

Under this arrangement, up to 30 June 2014,  the health service staff remained as Department of 
Health employees, but were managed by North West Hospital and Health Service, which then reimbursed
the Department of Health for employee costs. In prior years, these reimbursement were treated as
North West Hospital and Health Service employee costs.

On 1 July 2014, North West Hospital and Health Service became the prescribed employer and as such 
employees are employed directly by North West Hospital and Health Service from that date.  North West 
Hospital and Health Service treats these payment as employee expenses  in the financial statements.

Salaries and wages due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the statement of financial 
position at the remuneration rates expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an 
employee's total remuneration package. They are not employee benefits and are recognised separately 
as employee related expenses.

Annual leave, long service leave and sick leave
Under the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central Scheme (established on 30 June 2008) 
and Long Service Leave Central Scheme (established on 1 July 1999), levies are payable by North West 
Hospital and Health Service to cover the cost of employees’ annual leave (including leave loading 
and on-costs) and long service leave. No provisions for long service leave or annual leave are 
recognised in North West Hospital and Health Service financial statements as the provisions for 
these schemes are reported on a Whole-of-Government basis pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of 
Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. These levies are expensed in the 
period in which they are paid or payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long 
service leave are claimed from the schemes quarterly in arrears. Non-vesting employee benefits 
such as sick leave are recognised as an expense when taken.
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Superannuation
Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation scheme for 
Queensland Government employees, at rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the 
State Actuary. Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable and 
North West Hospital and Health Service's obligation is limited to its contribution to QSuper. 
The QSuper scheme has defined benefit and defined contribution categories. The liability for defined 
benefits is held on a Whole-of-Government basis and reported in those financial statements 
pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Key executive management personnel and remuneration
Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are made in accordance with section 5 
of the Financial Reporting Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies issued by 
Queensland Treasury and Trade. 

These disclosures are shown under Note 24 Key executive management personnel and 
remuneration.

(s)    Insurance
Property and general losses above a $10,000 threshold are insured through the Queensland 
Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). Health litigation payments above a $20,000 threshold and 
associated legal fees are also insured through QGIF. Premiums are calculated by QGIF on a risk
assessed basis.

The Department of Health pays premiums to Work Cover Queensland on behalf of North West 
Hospital and Health Service in respect of its employee compensation. These costs are reimbursed 
on a monthly basis to the Department of Health and form part of the Health Service employee 
expenses at Note 7 Health service employee expenses.
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)     Services received free of charge or for nominal value
Contributions of services are recognised only if the services would have been purchased if they had 
not been donated and their fair value can be measured reliably. When this is the case, an equal 
amount is recognised as revenue and an expense.

North West Hospital and Health Service receives corporate services support from the Department of
Health for no cost.  Corporate services received include payroll services, accounts payable services,
finance transactional services and taxation services. As the fair value of these services is unable to 
be estimated reliably, no associated revenue and expense is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(u)     Contributed equity
Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public 
Sector entities as a result of machinery-of-Government changes are adjusted to contributed equity 
in accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities . Appropriations for equity adjustments are similarly designated.

(v)     Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes
North West Hospital and Health Service is a State body as defined under the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1936  and is exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe 
Benefits Tax (FBT) and GST.  FBT and GST are the only Commonwealth taxes accounted for by 
North West Hospital and Health Service. 

Both North West Hospital and Health Service and the Department of Health satisfy 
section 149-25(e) of the A New Tax System (Goods and Services) Act 1999 (Cth) (the GST Act) 
and were able, with other Hospital and Health Services, to form a “group” for GST purposes under 
Division 149 of the GST Act. This means that any transactions between the members of the 
"group" do not attract GST. However, all entities are responsible for the payment or receipt of any 
GST for their own transactions. As such, GST credits receivable from and payable to the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO) are recognised and accrued.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the 
cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. 

All FBT and GST reporting to the Australian Taxation Office is managed centrally by the 
Department of Health, with payments and receipts made on behalf of North West Hospital and 
Health Service reimbursed from or paid to the Department of Health on a monthly basis. 
GST credits receivable from, and GST payable to the Australian Taxation Office, are recognised 
on this basis.
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(w)      Issuance of financial statements
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chairman of North West Hospital and 
Health Service and the Chief Executive at the date of signing the Management Certificate.

(x) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements necessarily requires the determination and use of certain critical 
accounting estimates, assumptions, and management judgements that have the potential to cause a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Such estimates,
judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
 estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in future periods as relevant.

The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities are outlined in the following financial statement notes: 

Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables, refer Note 14 Current assets - trade and 
other receivables.

Valuation of land and buildings, refer Note 2(m) and Note 17 Non-current assets - property, plant 
and equipment.

(y)    Rounding and comparatives
Currency and Rounding - Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and have 
been rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, to zero, unless disclosure of the 
full amount is specifically stated.

Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the
current reporting period. 

(z) Associate Disclosure
Associates are all entities over which NWHHS has significant influence (the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee).  This is generally the case where NWHHS holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights.  Material investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are 
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise NWHHS’s share of the post-acquisition profits 
or losses of the investee in NWHHS’s operating result, and NWHHS’s share of movements in other 
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income.

Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by NWHHS.  The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for 
impairment in accordance with the policy described in note 23.

Additional details of associates are disclosed in Note 32.
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(aa)     New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted
North West Hospital and Health Service did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies 
during 2014-15. The only Australian Accounting Standard changes applicable for the first time as from 
2014-15 that have had a reporting impact on North West Hospital and Health Service's financial 
statements are those arising from AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting. 

AASB 1055 became effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. In response to
this new standard, the North West Hospital and Health Service has included in these financial statements a 
comprehensive new note 'Budget vs Actual Comparison' (Note 32). This note discloses the original 
published budgeted figures for 2014-15 compared to actual results, with explanations of major variances, in 
respect of the North West Hospital and Health Service's Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows. Note 32 also includes a comparison between the
original published budgeted figures for 2014-15 compared to actual results, and explanations of major 
variances, in respect of the Health Service's income, expenses, assets and liabilities.

Certain new accounting standads and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June
2015 reporting periods.  North West Hospital and Health Service's assessment of the impact of these new
standards are set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising
from AASB 9 (December 2014) will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018. The main impacts of these standards on the Hospital and Health Service are that they will 
change the requirements for the classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with the 
Hospital and Health Service's financial assets. AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether 
financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair value.

The classification of financial assets at the date of initial application of AASB 9 will depend on the facts
and circumstances existing at that date, the department's conclusions will not be confirmed until
closer to that time. At this stage, and assuming no change in the types of transactions the North West
Hospital and Health Service enters into, all of the service's financial assets are expected to be
required to be measured at fair value (instead of the measurement classifications presently used in Notes 
2 (n) and (17). In the case of the health service's current receivables, as they are short-term in nature, the 
carrying amount is expected to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. Changes in the fair value of 
 those assets will be reflected in the North West Hospital and Health Service's operating result.

Another impact of AASB 9 relates to calculating impairment losses for the health 's receivables. 
Assuming no substantial change in the nature of the  Health Services' receivables, the most likely ongoing
disclosure impacts are expected to  relate to the credit risk of financial assets subject to impairment. 

On initial adoption of AASB 9, the HHS  will need to determine the expected credit losses for its receivables
by comparing the credit risk at that time to the credit risk that existed when those  receivables were
initially recognised.

As the standard is not applicable until 1 January 2018,  North West Hospital and Health Service is 
yet to assess its full impact. North West Hospital and Health Service does not expect to adopt the 
new standard before its operative date. It would therefore be first applied in the financial statements 
for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2019.
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

[effective 1 July 2016] requires a range of disclosures about the remuneration of key management personnel, 
transactions with related parties/entities, and relationships between parent and controlled entities.

North West Hospital and Health Service already discloses information about the remuneration expenses for key 
management personnel (note 27) in compliance with requirements from Queensland Treasury. Therefore,
the most significant implications of AASB 124 for North West's financial statements will be the disclosures to be 
made about transactions with related parties, including transactions with key management personnel or close 
members of their families.  

The standard is not applicable until 1 July 2016 and North West does not expect to adopt the new
standard before its operative date. It would therefore be first applied in the financial statements for the 
annual reporting period ending 30 June 2017.

“AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit
 Public Sector Entities amends AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement effective from annual reporting periods
 beginning on or after 1 July 2016.  The amendments provide relief from certain disclosures about fair values 
categorised as level 3 under the fair value hierarchy (refer to note 2(n)).  Accordingly, the following 
disclosures for level 3 fair values in note 21 may no longer be required:

- the disaggregation of certain gains/losses on assets reflected in the operating result;
- quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement; and
- a description of the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in the unobservable inputs.

As the amending standard was released in early July 2015, the North West Hospital and Health Service has 
not early adopted this relief in these financial statements, as per instructions from Queensland Treasury.  
However, the North West Hospital and Health Service  will be early adopting this disclosure relief
as from the 2015-16 reporting period (also on instructions from Queensland Treasury).

AASB 2015-16 Extending Related Parties disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities 
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Note 3.  User charges and fees
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Department of Health funding
Activity based funding 69,467 64,099
Block funding 28,278 18,778
Department of Health funding 34,765 47,108
Depreciation funding 7,794 7,328
Total Department of Health funding 140,304 137,313

Other user charges
Sale of goods and services 2,242 1,546
Hospital fees 1,643 2,167
Rent 90 6
Remote Indigenous S100 arrangements (Australian Government) 646 749
Total Other user charges 4,621 4,468

Total user charges and fees 144,925 141,780

Note 4.  Grants and other contributions
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Australian Government grants and contributions
Home and community care grants - 1,075
Rural and Remote Medical Benefits Scheme 617 722
Indigenous health programs 358 439
Multi-purpose centre funding 1,044 835
Community aged care packages - 36
Total Australian Government grants and contributions 2,019 3,106

State Government grants and contributions
Home and community care grants 120 152
Other 169 120
Total State Government grants and contributions 289 272

Other grants and contributions
Other 416 404
Donations 12 28
Total other grants and contributions 428 432

Total grants and other contributions 2,736 3,810
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Note 5.  Other revenue
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Interest 27 15
Other 924 828

Total other revenue 951 843

Note 6.  Employee expenses
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits
Wages and salaries 61,682 748
Employer superannuation contributions 5,987 66
Annual leave/levy expense 6,537 65
Long service leave levy 1,296 10
Redundancies 252 -
Total employee benefits 75,754 889

Employee related expenses
Workers Compensation premium 703 -
Payroll tax - 14
Other employee related expenses - 6
Total employee related expenses 703 20

Total employee expenses 76,457 909

Number of MOHRI* Full Time Equivalent Employees (FTE) 2015 2014
North West employees                      664 -                      
Health service employees provided to North West -                                            637 

                     664                       637 

 *Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information

Employee expenses represent the cost of engaging employees directly by North West (refer note 7).

Further details in relation to employment benefits are reported in Note 24 Key management personnel 
disclosures.

Queensland Hospital and Health Services are exempt from payroll tax.
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Note 7.  Health service employee expenses
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Health service employee expenses - 69,593

On 1 July 2014 North West Hospital and Health Service became a prescribed employer and as such 
employees are employed directly by the North West HHS from this date. North West HHS treats these 
payments as employee expenses (refer note 6).

Prior to this date the provision of employee services from the Department of Health was negotiated under the
Service Agreement between North West Hospital and Health Service and the Department of Health.

Health service employee expenses represent the cost of the Department of Health employees contracted to
North West to provide public health services. As established under the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011,
the Department of Health was the employer for all health service employees.

Refer note 6 for the number of health service employees provided to North West.

Note 8.  Supplies and services
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Consultancies and other contract labour 15,293 17,780
Electricity and other energy 2,055 2,142
Patient travel 15,301 14,067
Other travel 2,335 2,166
Water 1,555 1,413
Building services 288 303
Computer services 235 547
Motor vehicles 213 149
Communications 2,613 1,933
Repairs and maintenance 4,988 6,491
Minor plant and equipment 374 439
Operating lease rentals 4,285 3,787
Drugs 3,094 2,577
Outsourced service delivery 1,953 2,330
Clinical supplies and services 2,378 3,259
Catering and domestic supplies 1,626 1,389
Pathology and blood supplies and services 3,325 3,630
Other 1,286 1,100

Total supplies and services 63,198 65,503

Note 9.  Grants and subsidies
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Public hospital support services 466 380

Total grants and subsidies 466 380



Page 28

North West Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2015

Note 10.  Depreciation and amortisation
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Buildings 6,806 6,280
Plant and equipment 988 1,048

Total depreciation and amortisation 7,794 7,328

Note 11.  Impairment losses
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Impairment losses on receivables 164 34
Bad debts written off 146 166

Total impairment losses 310 200

Note 12.  Other expenses
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

External audit fees 164 222
Other audit fees 123 71
Bank fees 6 4
Insurance 1,203 1,400
Inventory written off 42 132
Net losses from disposal of property, plant and equipment 205 23
Other legal costs 292 293
Journals and subscriptions 23 17
Advertising 85 62
Interpreter fees 1 1
Other 190 46

Total other expenses 2,333 2,271
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Note 13.  Current assets - cash and cash equivalents
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Cash at bank and on hand 7,465 9,448
Queensland Treasury Corporation cash fund 382 361

Total cash and cash equivalents 7,847 9,809

Restricted cash

other benefactors in the form of gifts, donations and bequests for specific purposes. These funds 

contribution. Restricted cash within the cash and cash equivalents balance as at 30 June 2015 
amounted to $515,925 (2014: $479,585).

Interest rates
Queensland Treasury Corporation cash fund earned interest at an average rate of 3.34%  
(2014: 3.43%).  All interest and excess restricted cash is reinvested within the Queensland 
Treasury Corporation cash fund.

Note 14.  Current assets - trade and other receivables
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Trade receivables 1,945                  4,101
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables (369) (205)
Total trade receivables 1,576 3,896

GST input tax credits receivable 413 345
GST payable (50) (38)
Net GST receivable 362 306

Total trade and other receivables 1,938 4,202

Refer to Note 23 Financial instruments (Credit Risk Exposure) for an analysis of movements in the 
allowance for impairment loss.

North West Hospital and Health Service also receives cash contributions from external entities and 

are retained in separate bank accounts and set aside for specific purposes underlying the 
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Note 15.  Current assets - inventories
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Medical supplies and equipment 1,000 490
Other 3 13
Total inventories 1,003 504

Note 16.  Current assets - other
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Payroll deposit holding 2,200 -
Other prepayment - 28
Total other current assets 2,200 28

Note 17.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Land - at independent valuation 4,284 6,452
4,284 6,452

Buildings - at independent valuation 209,141 216,088
Less: Accumulated depreciation (121,566) (116,630)

87,575 99,458

Plant and equipment - at cost 11,069 10,803
Less: Accumulated depreciation (5,956) (5,531)

5,113 5,272

Capital works in progress 765 135
765 135

Balance as at period end 97,737 111,317
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Note 17.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued)

A state government initiative to centralise the management of government employee accommodation
was made effective on 1 July 2014, resulting in the transfer to the Queensland Department of Health of 
off site employee accommodation representing a book value of $6.110 million.

Reconciliations

below:
  Plant and Capital works

Land Buildings equipment in progress Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2013 6,355 91,070 5,723 - 103,148

Additions - 120 596 135 851

Disposals - - (23) - (23)

Revaluation increments 96 - - - 96

Revaluation decrements - (2,108) - - (2,108)

Transfer of assets from 
Department of Health - 16,655 25 - 16,680

Depreciation expense - (6,279) (1,048) - (7,328)

Balance at 30 June 2014 6,451 99,458 5,273 135 111,316

Carrying amount at 1 July 2014 6,451 99,458 5,273 135 111,316

Additions - - 911 631 1,542

Disposals - (94) (108) - (202)

Revaluation decrements - (1,043) - - (1,042)
-

Transfer of assets from -
Department of Health - - 27 - 27

Transfer of assets to 
Department of Health (2,169) (3,941) - - (6,110)

Depreciation expense - (6,806) (988) - (7,794)

Balance at 30 June 2015 4,282 87,575 5,113 766 97,737

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below:
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Note 17.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued)

Valuations of land 
Land was measured at fair value using appropriate indices sourced from the State Valuation
Service. These indices are based on actual market movements for the relevant location and asset
category. The State Valuation Service advised that there were no movements in the values for land  
controlled by North West Hospital and Health Service during 2014-15.

Valuations of buildings
In 2012-13 an independent valuation of buildings was completed, representing 89 per cent of the
gross value of the building portfolio. Following the introduction of AASB 13 Davis Langdon (independent 
valuer) was engaged to assess the effects of AASB 13 on the 2012-13 valuations, and where necessary
review and reissue valuations to ensure compliance. This did not result in a material change in existing 
valuations.  In 2013-14 two buildings and one site land improvement asset, representing 19 per cent 
of the gross value of the building portfolio, were the subject of independent revaluation.

In June 2015, independent valuations were carried out by Davis Langdon Australia Pty Ltd, for four 
buildings and three site improvements.  Book values were adjusted for all  seven assets in accordance 
with the recommendations resulting in a net devaluation of $1.043 million.

For buildings not subject to independent valuations during 2014 - 15 Davis Langdon was engaged to
provide indexation rates for the North West region. The report highlighted due to a flat construction 
market there has been minimal cost escalation across Queensland in 2014-15, providing guidance of 
no increases for regional or rural mining centres and between 0.4% and 0.75% for other sites.
Due to the immateriality of the increases when the indices were applied, no revaluations were deemed
necessary for the relevant buildings.

In determining the indexation rates, Davis Langdon relies upon two key components of: 
- Cost Escalation (inflation); and,
- Changes to building design requirements for Health assets (Health Design Factors).  

Two data sources (Davis Langdon Tender Price Index and the Australian Institute of Quantity Surveyors 
 Building Cost  Index) were utilised as well as taking into consideration costs associated with Health Design 
Factors and regional influences on building costs. 
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Note 17.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy
The following table details the fair value hierarchy for Land and Buildings at 30 June 2015:

Total
$'000

Total
$'001

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
4,283              6,452            4,283       6,452                  

864                 4,712            86,711       94,746         87,575     99,458                

In respect of the abovementioned asset classes, the cost of items acquired during the financial year have
been judged  by the management of North West Hospital and Health Service to materially represent their fair 
value at the end of the reporting period. 

(b) Valuation methodology for level 2 and 3 fair values

Land (level 2)
Land valuations were assessed by the State Valuation Service as at 30 June 2015. The fair value of land 
was based on publicly available data on recent sales of similar land in nearby localities. In determining 
the values, adjustments were made to the sales data to take into account the location of the land, its size, 
street/road frontage and access, and any significant restrictions.

The State Valuation Service provides an individual factor change per property derived from the review
property derived from the review of market transactions (Observable Market Data). These market movements
are determined having regard to the review of land values undertaken for each local government area
issued by the Valuer-General Department of Natural Resources and Mines.  Investigation and research
into each factor provided for the interim land asset indexation with each subject property benchmarked
to a similar type of property

Buildings – Non-health service delivery (level 2)
Management has taken into consideration all valuations and indeces provided by the independent valuer
and has agreed that the stated fair values reflects the likely exit price in the principal market for an asset of 
this type.

Government employee housing, transferred from NWHHS to the Department of Housing and Public Works,
accounts for the significant variance from the previous year for level 2 buildings.

Buildings – Health service delivery (level 3)
Health service delivery buildings were revalued by Davis Langdon during financial years 2013-14 and 2014-15 
Due to their  specialised nature, health service delivery buildings were valued based on a depreciated
replacement cost methodology to simulate a 'market or income approach’. The methodology reflects the likely 
exit price in the principal market for an asset of this type.

(c) Change in valuation technique
The introduction of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement  requires that land and buildings are valued at an 
 ‘exit’ price in the principal market rather than an ‘entry’ price.

(d) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)
The following table details a reconciliation of level 3 movements:

Buildings Total
$’000 $’000

Carrying amount a 1 July 2014 94,746                94,746                
Transfers between levels
Transfers out (153)                    (153)                    
Total gains or losses recognised in operating result
Revaluation increment (1,043) (1,043)                 
Depreciation
Depreciation expense (6,839)                 (6,839)                 
Fair value at 30 June 2015 86,711                86,711                

Buildings

Asset Class
Level 2
$'000

Level 3
$'000

Land
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Note 17.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued)

(e) Level 3 significant valuation inputs and relationship to fair value

For further information on condition ratings refer to Note 2 (m) Property, plant and equipment. Usage  of  
alternative  quantitative  values  (higher  or  lower)  for  each unobservable input  that  are reasonable  in  the 
circumstances as at the revaluation date would not result in material changes in the reported fair value.
The condition rating of an asset is used as a mechanism to determine the cost to bring to current  standards 
and also to estimate the remaining life. There are no other direct or significant relationships between the  
unobservable inputs which materially impact fair value.

(f) Highest and Best Use
Buildings
After considering what is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible, the independent
valuer considers that the highest and best use of all fair valued assets is their current use.

Significant unobservable 
inputs

Unobservable inputs 
quantitative measures 

ranges used in 
valuations

Replacement cost 
estimates

Condition rating 1 to 5

Costs to bring to current 
standards

Health assets $ Nil 
to $6,480,000

Other buildings $ Nil to 
$2,300,000

Unobservable inputs - general 
effect on fair value measurement

The condition rating is based on the 
physical state  of  the  assets.  An  

improvement  in  the condition  
rating  (possible  high  of  1)  would 
increase the fair value of the assets.  

A decline in the condition rating 
(possible low of 5) would reduce the 

fair value of the assets.

Remaining lives estimates Nil years to 34 years

Description

Health assets $84,000
to $55,000,000

Other buildings
$11,000 to $5,140,000

The fair value of health service site buildings is computed by quantity surveyors. The methodology is known as the Depreciated
Replacement Cost valuation technique. The following table highlights the key unobservable (Level 3) inputs assessed during the
valuation process and the relationship to the estimated fair value.

Costs to bring to current standards 
are based on tender pricing and 
historical building cost data. An 

increase in the estimated costs to 
bring to current standards would 

reduce the fair value of the assets. A 
decrease in the estimated costs to 
bring to current standards would 

increase the fair value of the assets.

Buildings –
health service sites 
(fair value $83m)

The remaining useful lives are 
based on industry benchmarks.   An 
increase in the estimated remaining 
useful lives would increase the fair 
value of the assets. A decrease in 
the estimated remaining  useful  

lives  would  reduce  the  fair value 
of the assets.

Replacement cost  is  based on  
tender  pricing and historical building 

cost data.  An increase in the 
estimated replacement cost would 

increase the fair value of the assets.  
A decrease in the estimated 

replacement cost  would reduce the 
fair value of the assets.
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Note 18.  Current liabilities - trade and other payables
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Trade payables 9,421 9,656
Accrued health service employees expense - 1,842
Unearned revenue 559 -
Other payables - 1

Total trade and other payables 9,980 11,499

Refer to Note 23 for further information on financial instruments.

Note 19.  Current liabilities - accrued employee benefits
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits accrued 2,519 50

Note 20.  Equity - contributed
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 102,313              91,663                

Non-appropriated equity injections
Minor capital acquisitions 869 869
Capital acquisition plan projects 657 428

1,526 1,297
Non-appropriated equity withdrawals
Depreciation funding (7,794) (7,327)

(7,794) (7,327)

Non-appropriated equity asset transfers (6,079) -
(6,079) -

Major capital works projects - 16,680
- 16,680

Balance at the end of the financial year 89,966 102,313
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Note 21.  Equity - reserves
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Asset revaluation surplus reserve - land 1,538 1,538
Asset revaluation surplus reserve - buildings 8,029 9,072

Total equity - reserves 9,567 10,610

Land Building
revaluation revaluation Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2013 1,441 11,180 12,621

Revaluation - gross 97 (2,108) (2,011)

Balance at 1 July 2014 1,538 9,072 10,610

Revaluation - gross - (1,043) (1,043)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1,538 8,029 9,567

Revaluation surplus reserve

excluding investment properties.

Note 22.  Equity - retained surpluses
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Retained surpluses at the beginning of the financial year 1,391 1,142
Accrued Funding equity adjustment (750) -
Surplus (deficit) for the year (1,948) 249

Retained surpluses at the end of the financial year (1,307) 1,391

In finalising the accounts for 2013-14 an accrued funding journal was overstated by $750,000, the 
affect being an overstatement of retained surpluses for 2013-14.  An equity and corresponding accrued
revenue adjustment was made during the 2014 -15 year.

The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings, 
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Note 23.  Financial instruments

Categorisation of financial instruments
North West Hospital and Health Service has the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities:

2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7,847 9,809
Trade and other receivables 1,938 4,202

9,785 14,011
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (9,421) (11,499)

(9,421) (11,499)
Financial risk management
North West Hospital and Health Service is exposed to a variety of financial risks – credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk.

and Health Service policies.  North West Hospital and Health Service's policies provide written 
principles for overall risk management and aim to minimise potential adverse effects of risk events 
on the financial performance of the organisation.  

including:

Risk exposure Measurement method
Market risk Interest rate sensitivity analysis
Credit risk Ageing analysis, cash inflows at risk
Liquidity risk Monitoring of cash flows by active management of accrual accounts

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises: foreign currency risk, interest rate 
risk and other price risk.

North West Hospital and Health Service does not trade in foreign currency and is not exposed to 
commodity price changes.

North West Hospital and Health Service does not undertake any hedging in relation to interest rate 
risk. Changes in interest rates have a minimal effect on the operating result of North West Hospital 
and Health Centre.

Financial risk is managed in accordance with Queensland Government and North West Hospital 

North West Hospital and Health Service measures risk exposure using a variety of methods, 
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Note 23.  Financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential for financial loss arising from a counterparty defaulting on its obligations.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is equal to the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset, inclusive of any allowance for impairment.  The carrying amount of receivables 
represents the maximum exposure to credit risk.  

Maximum exposure to credit risk
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents 7,847 9,809
Trade and other receivables 1,938 4,202

9,785 14,011

No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate to financial assets held by 
North West Hospital and Health Service.

North West Hospital and Health Service manages credit risk through the use of a credit management 
strategy included in the Financial Management Practice Manual. This strategy aims to reduce the 
exposure to credit default by ensuring that the department invests in secure assets and monitors all funds
owed on a timely basis. Exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis.

event is where a debtor is overdue in paying a debt to North West Hospital and Health Service, according to 
the due date (normally terms of 30 days). Economic changes impacting the debtors, and relevant industry 
data, also form part of the department's documented risk analysis.

If no loss events have arisen in respect of a particular debtor or group of debtors, no allowance for 
impairment is made in respect of that debt/group of debtors. If the Service determines that an amount owing 
by such a debtor does become uncollectible (after appropriate range of debt recovery actions), that  
amount is recognised as a bad debt expense and written-off directly against receivables. In other cases 
where a debt becomes uncollectible but the uncollectible amount exceeds the amount already allowed for 
impairment of that debt, the excess is recognised directly as a bad debt expense and written off directly 
against receivables.

objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence  
includes financial difficulties of the debtor, changes in debtor credit ratings and current outstanding 
accounts over 60 days.

(2014: $166,466).
Impairment loss expense for the current year regarding the department's receivables for 2015 is $146,281

The allowance for impairment reflects the occurrence of loss events. The most readily identifiable loss

At the end of each reporting period, North West Hospital and Health Service assesses whether there is
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Note 23.  Financial instruments (continued)

Aging of past due and impaired financial assets are disclosed below:

2015 2014
$'000 $'000

0 to 60 days overdue - -
61 to 90 days overdue (21) (116)
Over 91 days overdue (348) (89)

(369) (205)

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Opening balance (205) (171)
Additional provisions recognised (310)                    (200)
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable 146 166

Closing balance (369) (205)

Past due but not impaired
Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to nil 
as at 30 June 2015 (2014: $nil).
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Note 23.  Financial instruments (continued)

No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate to financial assets held by 
North West Hospital and Health Service. 

impaired and are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that North West Hospital and Health Service will not have the resources 
required at a particular time to meet its obligations to settle its financial liabilities. 

business.  North West Hospital and Health Service aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity risk by
ensuring that sufficient funds are available to meet employee and supplier obligations at all times.  Total 
payables as per the statement of financial position represent the maximum exposure to liquidity risk. 
These amounts have a contractual maturity within one year from reporting date, and are calculated
based on undiscounted cash flows.

North West Hospital and Health Service has an approved debt facility of $1.5 million (2014: $1.5 million) 
under Whole-of-Government banking arrangements to manage any short term cash shortfalls. 

Note 24.  Key management personnel disclosures

(a)        Key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of North West Hospital and Health Service, directly or indirectly,  
including any director of North West Hospital and Health Service.

The following table lists persons considered key management personnel of North West Hospital and 
Health Service during the current financial year.  One board member, Stephanie De La Rue resigned 
from the board on 23 October 2014.

(i)         Board

Non-executive Director (from 9 November 2012)

Non-executive Director (from 1 July 2012)
Deputy Chair – Non-executive Director (from 9 November 2012)

Non-executive Director (from 17 May 2013)

Rowena McNally

Chair – Non-executive Director (from 1 July 2012)

Don Bowley OAM

Non-executive Director (from 17 May 2013)Ronald Page
Stephanie De La Rue Non-executive Director (from 1 July 2012 - 23 October 2014)

Non-executive Director (from 1 July 2012)

Karen Arbouin

Annie Clarke

Position

Richard Stevens OAM
Christopher Appleby

Non-executive Director (from 1 July 2012)

Name

No financial assets have had their terms renegotiated as to prevent them from being past due or 

North West Hospital and Health Service is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of

Paul Woodhouse
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Note 24.  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(ii)        Other key management personnel

Following a review of organisational efficiency  in 2013, the Executive Management Group of North West 
Hospital and Health Service underwent a restructure. As a result of this restructure the number of 
executives was reduced during the 2013/2014 financial year from eleven to six.

(b)        Position descriptions

Brett Oates

S24/S70
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

HES-2
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Lucy Dungavell

Chief Executive 
(from 30 July 2012)

MMOI-3
District Health Services Senior Medical Officers 

Responsible for providing strategic leadership and operational control of 
human resource and quality functions and to provide management and high 
level authoritative advice and support on all matters relating to the 
performance of the HHS.

Executive Director Medical Services

Executive Director People and Performance

Chief Finance Officer (from 
11 February 2013 to  24 
May 2015)

Name Position

Michelle Garner NRG11 
Queensland Health Nurses and Midwives Award 
2012

Susan Belsham

Executive Director Nursing Services

Responsibilities

Associate Professor Alan Sandford

Responsible for the overall management of North West Hospital and Health 
Service through functional areas to ensure the delivery of hospital and health 
service objectives.

Contract classification / 
 

Barbara Davis

Responsible for the delivery of non-clinical support services, including 
building, engineering and maintenance services, capital infrastructure and 
contract management.

Responsible for the overall financial management of North West Hospital and 
Health Service, including budgeting, activity based funding measurement and 
departmental relationship management.

Executive Director Medical 
Services 
(from 5 May 2014)

Chief Finance Officer

Chief Executive
Position

Chief Operating Officer 
(from 1 July 2012)

DOS1-1
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Leigh Purvis Executive Director People 
and Performance 
(from 7 April 2014)

DOS1-1
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

Acting Chief Finance 
Officer (from 25 May 2015)

HES-2
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2012

Responsible for the professional leadership of nursing services for the Mount 
Isa Hospital as well as the operational management of the nine outlier 
facilities and acute areas of the Mount Isa Hospital.

Responsible for the overall management and coordination of medical 
services for the Mount Isa hospital.

Executive Director Nursing 
(from 1 July 2012)

Chief Operating Officer
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Note 24.  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(c)        Compensation terms

(i)         Board

In accordance with the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 , the Governor in Council appoints Board 
members, on the recommendation of the Minister, for a period not exceeding 4 years. In appointing a Board 
member the Governor in Council must have regard to the person’s ability to make a contribution to North West 
to perform its functions effectively and efficiently. 

Pursuant to the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 , Board members’ fees are determined by the Governor
 in Council. Board members are paid an annual salary consistent with the government procedure titled 
“Remuneration procedures for Part-time Chairs and Members of Government Boards” (previously 
“Remuneration of Part-time Chairs and Board Members of Government Boards, Committees and Statutory 
Authorities")

Under the revised procedure, Hospital and Health Services were assessed as ‘Governance’ entities and 
grouped into different levels of a remuneration matrix based on a range of indicators including: revenue/budget,
net and total assets, independence, risk and complexity. The Governor in Council approves the remuneration 
arrangements for Hospital and Health Board chairs, deputy chairs and members.

Annual salaries are based on the standard categories and are calculated using the daily amounts prescribed
for special assignment for the appropriate category. They are based on a five-day per fortnight work
commitment for Chairs and three-day per fortnight work commitment for Deputy Chairs and other members,
(this projected work commitment includes time spent on Board committee work) 22 fortnights are used in the 
formula for calculating annual salaries.

North West Hospital and Health Service Board members are paid as follows:

From 18th May 2014
Sub-

committee
Fee

Chair: 
$2,500

Member: 
$2,000

A Board member may resign by giving notice in writing.

Chair: $68,243
Member 3-day fortnight

Per month: $2,921
Member: $35,055
Per month: $5,687

Annualised
Chair 5-day fortnight
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Note 24.  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

The term and expiry date of the appointment for each Board member are:

(ii) Other key management personnel

Chief Executive
The Chief Executive is appointed by the Board with the approval of the Minister in accordance with 
the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2012 . Notice of termination may be made by either party with one
month’s notice.

Health Executive Service
The appointment of key management personnel who are deemed to be “health executive service” (HES) 
as defined in the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 is subject to an individual written contract with a 
maximum term of five years. Notice of termination may be made by either party with one month’s notice.  

Other key management personnel
Other key management personnel are employed under individual employment agreements which 
incorporate their appropriate award. The contracts have no fixed term.  Notice of termination may be 
made by the employee with two weeks’ notice.  In the event of redundancy the agreement provides for
appropriate notice period to be paid. In addition, North West Hospital and Health Service is required to pay  
2 weeks’ salary for each year of service subject to a cap of 52 weeks’ salary, accrued long service leave 
and accrued annual leave.

Expiry dateTerm

Ronald Page

Paul Woodhouse

17 May 2016

17 May 2016Annie Clarke 3 years

3 years

17 May 2017
17 May 2017

Name

3 years

Don Bowley OAM

17 May 2016

Rowena McNally

17 May 2017

3 years

3 years

Karen Arbouin
Christopher Appleby

3 years
3 years

17 May 20163 years

17 May 2017

Richard Stevens OAM
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Note 24.  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

Remuneration packages for key management personnel comprise the following components:

● Short-term employee benefits which include:
- Salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year 

- Non-monetary benefits – consisting of vehicle and related fringe benefits tax paid,
electricity and accommodation where contractually stipulated.

● Long term employee expenses in respect of long service leave entitlements earned.
● Post-employment benefits include amounts expensed in respect of superannuation obligations.
●

Contracts of employment provide only for notice periods or payment in lieu on 
termination, regardless of the reason for termination.

● There were no performance bonuses paid in the 2014-15 financial year.

The term and expiry date of these agreements for each key management personnel are:

Susan Belsham 5 years 29 July 2017
3 years

Michelle Garner No fixed term

10 February 2016
N/ABarbara Davis No fixed term

Brett Oates

Term Expiry date

Leigh Purvis No fixed term N/A
Assoc. Professor Alan Sandford No fixed term N/A

N/A

or for that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified position.

Name

Termination benefits are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. 
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Note 24.  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

Details of the compensation, of each key management personnel are:
(i)         Board

1 July 2013 - 30 June 2014

Long-term Post- Termination Total
Monetary 
Expenses

Non-
monetary
 benefits

benefits employm
ent

benefits

benefits Expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
65 23 - 8 - 96
32 - - 3 - 35
32 - - 3 - 35
32 - - 3 - 35
32 - - 3 - 35
32 - - 3 - 35
32 - - 3 - 35
32 - - 3 - 35

1 July 2014 - 30 June 2015

Long-term Post- Termination Total
Monetary 
Expenses

Non-
monetary
 benefits

benefits employm
ent

benefits

benefits remuneration

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
71 14 - 7 - 92
35 - - 3 - 38
12 - - 1 - 13
39 - - 4 - 43
39 - - 4 - 43
38 - - 3 - 41
37 - - 4 - 41
35 - - 3 - 38

Christopher Appleby

Rowena McNally

Paul Woodhouse

Short-term benefits

Richard Stevens

Karen Arbouin
Ronald Page

Annie Clarke

Karen Arbouin
Ronald Page

Name

Stephanie De La Rue
Rowena McNally

Christopher Appleby
Richard Stevens

Stephanie De La Rue

Short-term benefits

Annie Clarke

Name

Paul Woodhouse
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Note 24.  Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(ii) Other key management personnel

1 July 2013 - 30 June 2014

Long-term Post- Termination Total
Monetary 
Expenses

Non-
monetary
 benefits

benefits employm
ent

benefits

benefits remuneration

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
232 52 5 20 - 309
166 32 3 18 - 219
134 47 3 15 - 199
72 1 - 4 - 77
280 42 3 23 - 348
75 3 1 5 - 84
170 49 4 18 - 241
34 7 1 4 - 46
58 37 1 7 - 103
56 22 1 7 - 86
55 7 1 7 - 70

1 July 2014 - 30 June 2015

Long-term Post- Termination Total
Monetary 
Expenses

Non-
monetary
 benefits

benefits employm
ent

benefits

benefits remuneration

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
234 11 5 21 - 271
136 25 3 13 - 177

Lucy Dungavell 19 3 - 5 - 27
118 32 2 14 - 166
572 46 11 42 - 671
164 34 3 16 - 217
141 24 3 16 - 184

Reported non monetary benefits for 2013-14 included grossed up amounts of any fringe benefit attributed
to key management personnel.  Guidance received from Queensland Audit Office is that the amounts
disclosed should not be at a grossed up value, and consequently only net values of any FBT amounts
have been included for 2014-15. As the affect of this change is not material, figures shown for 2013-14
have not been restated. 

Sandra Kennedy

Dr Ross Duncan

Assoc. Prof Alan Sandford
Barbara Davis

Susan Belsham

Susan Belsham
Brett Oates

Name

Brett Oates

Fiona McKenzie Lewis
Marek Klein

Leigh Purvis
Michelle Garner

Barbara Davis
Dr Greg Coffey 

Assoc. Prof Alan Sandford

Name Short-term benefits

Short-term benefits

Michelle Garner
Leigh Purvis
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Note 25.  Remuneration of auditors

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by 
Queensland Audit Office, the auditor of North West Hospital and Health Service:

2015 2014
$ $

Audit services - Queensland Audit Office
Audit of the financial statements 174 177

Note 26.  Contingent assets and liabilities

Litigation in process

As at 30 June 2015 the number of cases filed in the courts naming the State of Queensland acting 
through the North West Hospital and Health Service as defendant were as follows:

2015 2014
cases cases

Litigation in process
Open claims - Tribunals, Commissions and Boards 15 -

Of the current open claims being made against the North West Hospital and Health Service only one claim
has the potential of being considered material.  The amount of the potential contingency has not been 
disclosed on the grounds that it is expected to prejudice the outcome of the potential litigation. However,
health litigation is underwritten by Queensland Government Insurance Fund  (QGIF). North West Hospital and
Health  Service's liability is limited to an excess per insurance event. Refer Note 2 (s). 

All North West Hospital and Health Service indemnified claims are managed by QGIF. As at 30 June 2015, 
North West Hospital and Health Service has nine claims related to health services and six claims of a 
general nature currently managed by QGIF, some of which may never be litigated or result in payments to 
claims. Tribunals, commissions and board figures represent the matters that have been referred to QGIF
for management. The maximum exposure to Queensland Health under this policy is $20,000 for each 
health service related insurable event and $10,000 for other claims.

Native Title
The Queensland Government Native Title Work Procedures were designed to ensure that native title 
issues are considered in all of North West Hospital and Health Service's land and natural resource 
management activities.

All business pertaining to land held by or on behalf of North West Hospital and Health Service must 
take native title into account before proceeding.  Such activities include disposal, acquisition, development, 
redevelopment, clearing, fencing of real property including the granting of leases, licences or permits.  
Real Property Dealings may proceed on department owned land where native title continues to exist,
provided native title holders or claimants receive the necessary procedural rights.

North West Hospital and Health Service undertakes native title assessments over real property 
when required. The National Title Tribunal reported that one native title claims within the North 
West Hospital and Health Service district, no new native title claim  was added during the current 
reporting period.
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Note 27.  Commitments
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Lease commitments - operating 
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities payable:
Within one year 3,790 1,969
One to five years 1,287 421

5,077 2,390

From 1 July 2015 a total of 93 residential properties transferred from the North West Hospital and Health
Service, via the Department of Health to the Department of Housing and Public Works, and were 
subsequently leased back to the health service.

Operating lease commitments includes contracted amounts for various residential properties, 
warehouses, offices and plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within 1 to 5 
years with, in some cases, options to extend. The leases have various escalation clauses. On renewal, the
terms of the leases are renegotiated.

Note 28.  Fiduciary trust transactions and balances

North West Hospital and Health Service acts in a custodial role in respect of these transactions 
and balances. As such, they are not recognised in the financial statements, but are disclosed 
below for information purposes.

2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Trust receipts and payments

Receipts
Patient trust receipts 15 7
Total receipts 15 7

Payments
Patient trust related payments 27 (18)
Total payments 27 (18)

Trust assets and liabilities

Assets
Patient trust deposits 43 52
Other refundable deposits - 3
Total assets 43 55

Note 29.  Economic dependency

North West Hospital and Health Service is dependent on funding provided by the Department of 
Health under a Service Agreement pursuant to the requirements of the Hospital and Health Boards 
Act 2011.

The service agreement outlines the services that the Department of Health will purchase from North 
West Hospital and Health Service during  from the 2013-14 financial year and provides an indication of
purchased activity and funding up to and including  2015-16.  The service agreements for 
2014-15 as amended in July 2014,  provided for a total funding of $143.363 million, with indicative funding of 
$143.935 million 2015-16. 
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Note 30.  Events after the reporting period

Transfer of legal ownership of health service land and buildings

The control of health services land and buildings transferred to each Hospital and Health Service (HHS) 
at no cost to the HHS through deed of lease arrangements when HHSs were established on 1 July 2012. 
The Department of Health retained legal ownership of the health services land and buildings, however the
 intention was for legal title of the assets to eventually transfer to each HHS.  

Due to effective control of the assets transferring to HHSs, these assets are recognised within the 
financial statements of each HHSs and not within the Department of Health’s financial statements.

Legal ownership is scheduled to pass to North West Hospital and Health Service during the financial year 
2015-16. There is no material impact for the financial statements as these assets are already controlled and 
recognised by the HHS.

Senior Medical Officer and Visiting Medical Officer Transition to Certified Agreement 

Since 4 August 2014, Senior Medical Officers and Visiting Medical Officers began working under
individual employment contracts where senior doctors have a direct employment relationship with their HHS 
and employment terms and conditions are tailored to individual or medical specialty circumstances (within 
a consistent state-wide framework).

This arrangement is being drawn to a close with negotiations between Queensland Health and bodies 
representing Senior Medical Officers and Visiting Medical Officers.  At the time of preparation of these
statements, a return to a certified agreement for collective employment arrangements has not occurred.
It is not anticipated that these new arrangements will have any unfunded financial or operational impact on the 
North West Hospital and Health Service.

Other matters

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or
may significantly affect North West Hospital and Health Service’s operations, the results of those 
operations, or North West Hospital and Health Service’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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Note 31.  Reconciliation of surplus to net cash from operating activities
2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Surplus for the year (1,948) 249

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 7,794 7,328
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 206 24
Depreciation and amortisation funding (7,794) (7,328)

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in trade and other receivables 2,264 (691)
(Increase) / Decrease in inventories (500) (55)
Decrease / (Increase) in prepayments (2,172) 51
Increase in trade and other payables 954 3,402

Net cash from operating activities (1,195) 2,981

Note 32. Associates

Western Queensland Primary Care Collaborative Limited (WQ PCC) was registered in Australia as a public company limited by 
guarantee on 22 May 2015.  NWHHS is one of three founding members with Central West HHS and South West WHHS, each holding 
one voting right in the company.  The principal place of business of WQ PCC is Mount Isa, Queensland.  Each founding member is 
entitled to appoint one Director to the Board of the company.

WQ PCC’s principal purposes as a not for profit organisation are to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of health services for 
patients in Western Queensland, particularly those at risk of poor health outcomes; and improve co-ordination to facilitate improvement 
in the planning and allocation of resources enabling the providers to provide appropriate patient care in the right place at the right time.  
These purposes align with the strategic objective of NWHHS to integrate primary and acute care services to support patient wellbeing.

Each member’s liability to WQ PCC is limited to $10.  WQ PCC is legally prevented from paying dividends to the members and the 
constitution of WQ PCC also prevents the income or property of the company being transferred directly or indirectly to the members.  
This does not prevent WQ PCC from making loan repayments to NWHHS or reimbursing NWHHS for goods or services delivered to 
WQ PCC.

The financial results of WQ PCC are not material to the operating result or net assets of NWHHS.  Accordingly, the carrying amount of 
NWHHS’s investment in WQ PCC is not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

WQ PCC has not prepared financial statements for 2014–15.
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Note 33. Budget vs Actual Comparison

Statement of comprehensive income 
Original 
Budget Actual

Variance 2015 2015 Variance Var. %
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 of budget

Revenue
User charges and fees 1 137,997 144,925 6,928 -5%
Grants and other contributions 2,270 2,736 466 -21%
Interest 16 27 11 -69%
Other revenue 200 924 724 -362%
Total revenue 140,483 148,612 8,129 -6%

Expenses
Employee expenses 2 926 76,457 75,531 100%
Department of Health contract staff 2 71,524 - (71,524) -100%
Other Supplies and services 3 59,541 63,198 3,657 6%
Grants and subsidies - 466 466
Depreciation and amortisation 7,784 7,794 10 0%
Finance and Borrowing Costs - 310 310
Other Expenses 606 2,128 1,522 251%
Losses on sale/revaluation of assets 102 205 103 101%
Total expenditure 140,483 150,558 10,075 7%

Surplus for the year - (1,946) 1,946

Other comprehensive income

(Decrease)/Increase in asset revaluation surplus - (1,043) 1,043 100%

Total other comprehensive (loss)
   / income for the year - (1,043) 1,043 100%

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year - (2,989) 2,989 100%
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Note 33. Budget vs Actual Comparison (continued)

Statement of Financial Position

Original 
Variance Budget Actual

Notes 2015 2015 Variance Var. %
$'000 $'000 $'000 of budget

Cash assets 7,750 7,847 97 1%
Receivables 2,378 1,938 (440) -19%
Other financial assets .. .. .. .. 
Inventories 470 1,004 534 114%
Other 1 78 2,200 2,122 2721%
Non financial assets held for sale .. .. .. .. 

Total current assets 10,676 12,989 2,313 22%

Receivables .. .. .. .. 
Other financial assets .. .. .. .. 
Property, plant and equipment 2 125,282 97,738 (27,544) -22%
Intangibles .. - .. .. 
Other .. - .. .. 

Total non-current assets 125,282 97,738 (27,544) -22%

TOTAL ASSETS 135,958 110,727 (25,231) -19%

Payables 9,036 9,422 (386) -4%
Accrued employee benefits 3 45 2,519 (2,474) -5498%
Interest bearing liabilities and derivatives .. .. .. .. 
Provisions .. .. .. .. 
Other .. .. .. .. 

Total current liabilities 9,081 11,941 (2,860) -31%

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,081 11,941 (2,860) -31%
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 126,877 98,786 (22,371) -18%
EQUITY
TOTAL EQUITY 126,877 98,786 (22,371) -18%
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Note 33. Budget vs Actual Comparison (continued)

Cash flows from operating activities 

Original 
Variance Budget Actual
Notes 2015 2015 Variance Var. %

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Inflows: $'000 $'000 $'000 of budget

User charges and fees 137,948 139,435 1,487 1%
Grants and other contributions 2,270 3,370 1,100 48%
Interest received 16 27 11 68%
Other 4,409 4,992 583 13%

Outflows:
Employee costs 1 (926) (78,303) (77,377) 8356%
Supplies and services 1 (134,726) (69,480) 65,246 -48%
Grants and subsidies - (466) (466) 100%
Borrowing costs - - -
Other (606) (769) (163) 27%

Net cash provided by or used in operating 
activities 8,385 (1,195) (9,580) -114%

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Outflows:

Payments for non financial assets (1,183) (1,542) (359) 30%
Payments for investments .. 
Loans and advances made .. 

Net cash from investing activities (1,183) (1,542) (359) 30%

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Inflows:
Equity injections 1,183 1,526 343 29%
Outflows:
Borrowing redemptions
Finance lease payments
Equity withdrawals 2 (7,784) (750) 7,034 -90%
Net cash provided by or used in 
financing activities (6,601) 776 7,377 -112%

Net increase/(decrease) in 
cash held 601 (1,961) (2,562) -426%

Cash at the beginning of financial year 7,149 9,809 2,660 37%

Cash at the end of financial year 7,750 7,847 98 1%
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Note 33.  Budget vs Actual Comparison (cont'd)

Explanation of Major Variances

Materiality
Variations of 10 % or greater and of more than $2m are considered to be material for reporting 
purposes, other than for employee expenses where a variation of 5% is considered material.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
1. The increase is due to additional funding provided through amendments to the service agreement between
NWHHS and the Department of Health.  Additional funding is provided for increases in service activity,
enterprise bargaining agreements and depreciation revenue. 

2. The difference of $75.531 m for employee expenses, and $71.524m for contract staff from the 2014-15 
budget to the 2014-15 expenses relates to NWHHS becoming the employer of health service employees 
effective 1 July 2014. At the time of preparing the 2014-15 State Budget, this decision had not been
approved by the Minister or prescribed by regulation, hence the decision to continue to classify DoH
employee related expenditure as Supplies and Services - DoH Contract Staff.   Employee expenses have
also increased due to Enterprise Bargaining Agreements. 

3. Other supplies and services 2014-15 actuals of $3.657 m in excess of the original budget was due to an
increase in the price of services to NWHHS. Supplies and services is a broad category and the main items
NWHHS has seen an increase include electricity charges, contract labour, contract labour, patient travel, 
inter entity supplies and telecommunications.

Statement of Financial Position

1. Due to the change in arrangements for the payment of employees on becoming the prescribed  employer,
a prepayment deposit is held by the Department of Health to cover payroll costs.  This arrangement 
commenced after 1 July 2014 and was therefore not included in the original budget.

2. The original budget of $125m against a final balance of $98m in property plant and equipment is a result
of the transfer of housing assets to the Department of Housing and Public works, revaluations and disposals. 

3. Accrued employee expenses were previously budgeted against other payables due to labour costs being
 a contracted arrangement with the Department of Health.  Effective 1 July 2014, NWHHS became the
prescribed employer of health service employees, and the accrued liability is consequently recorded against 
accrued employee benefits.   

Statement of Cash Flows

1. The difference of $77m from the 2014-15 original budget to the 2014-15 actual employee costs and 
$65m against supplies and services,  relates to NWHHS becoming the employer of health service employees
effective 1 July 2014. At the time of preparing the 2014-15 State Budget, this decision had not been approved
by the Minister or prescribed by regulation, hence the decision to continue to classify DoH employee related
expenditure as Supplies and Services - DoH Contract Staff.   Employee expenses have also increased due 
to Enterprise Bargaining Agreements. 

2. An initial budget for depreciation equity withdrawals is disclosed on the SDS published 
statement of cashflows, however depreciation transactions are not provided, or recorded as, a cash item
to North West Hospital and Health Service.



North West Hospital and Health Service 
Management certificate 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to s.62{1) of the Financial 

Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), section 42 of the Financial and Performance Management 

Standard 2009 and other prescribed requirements. In accordance with s.62(1 )(b) of the Act we 

certify that in our opinion: 

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied 

within an material respects; and 

b) the statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with 

prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of the North West Hospital and Health Service 

for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and of the financial position as at the end of that year; and 

c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk 

management processes being effective, in all material respects with respect to financial reporting 

throughout the reporting period. 

Sue Belsham 

Chief Executive 

21 August 2015 

$1lnpvet/ 
Lucy Dungaverr 

Chief Finance Officer 

21 August 2015 

Chair 

21 August 2015 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of North West Hospital and Health Service 

Report on the Financial Report 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of North West Hospital and Health Service, 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, and certificates given by the Chairperson, Health Service Chief 
Executive and Chief Finance Officer. 

The Board's Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with prescribed accounting requirements identified in the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009, 
including compliance with Australian Accounting Standards. The Board's responsibility also 
includes such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on the audit. The audit 
was conducted in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards, 
which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require compliance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit is planned 
and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement · 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control, 
other than in expressing an opinion on compliance with prescribed requirements. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financiaf report including any mandatory financial reporiing requirements 
approved by the Treasurer for application in Queensland. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my audit opinion. 



Independence 

The Auditor-Genera/ Act 2009 promotes the independence of the Auditor-General and all 
authorised auditors. The Auditor-General is the auditor of all Queensland public sector entities 
and can be removed only by Parliament. 

The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate and is not 
subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be exercised. 
The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all documents and 
property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-General's opinion are 
significant. 

Opinion 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009-

(a) I have received all the information and explanations which I have required; and 

(b) in my opinion-

(i) the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping of 
accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and 

(ii) the financial report presents a true and fair view, in accordance with the 
prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of the North West Hospital 
and Health Service for the financial year 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 and of the 
financial position as at the end of that year. 

Other Matters- Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Report 

Those viewing an electronic presentation of these financial statements should note that audit 
does not provide assurance on the integrity of the information presented electronically and does 
not provide an opinion on any information which may be hyperlinked to or from the financial 
statements. If users of the financial statements are concerned with the inherent risks arising 
from electronic presentation of information, they are advised to refer to the printed copy of the 
audited financial statements to confirm the accuracy of this electronically presented information. 

D J OLIVE CPA 
as Delegate of the Auditor-General of Queensland Queensland Audit Office 

Brisbane 
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